World Journal of *Cardiology*

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 205-283





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J C World Journ Cardiology

World Journal of

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 5 May 26, 2023

MINIREVIEWS

205 Extracorporeal veno-venous ultrafiltration in congestive heart failure: What's the state of the art? A minireview

Urbani A, Pensotti F, Provera A, Galassi A, Guazzi M, Castini D

217 Acute heart failure as an adverse event of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: A review of the literature

Grillo TG, Silveira CFDSMP, Quaglio AEV, Dutra RM, Baima JP, Bazan SGZ, Sassaki LY

229 Atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease: An integrative review focusing on therapeutic implications of this relationship

Batta A, Hatwal J, Batta A, Verma S, Sharma YP

244 Current knowledge and contemporary management of non-A non-B aortic dissections

Christodoulou KC, Karangelis D, Efenti GM, Sdrevanos P, Browning JR, Konstantinou F, Georgakarakos E, Mitropoulos FA, Mikroulis D

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

253 Importance of concomitant functional mitral regurgitation on survival in severe aortic stenosis patients undergoing aortic valve replacement

Pai RG, Varadarajan P

Observational Study

262 Pharmacoepidemiologic study of association between apparent treatment resistant hypertension, cardiovascular disease and interaction effect by sex and age

Nelson JT, Liu L

META-ANALYSIS

273 Impact of erythropoietin therapy on cardiorenal syndrome: A systematic review with meta-analysis

Bhangal R, Cancarevic I, Nassar M, Umar Z



Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 5 May 26, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editor-in-Chief of World Journal of Cardiology, Dimitrios Tousoulis, FACC, MD, PhD, Full Professor, Department of Cardiology, Hippokration Hospital, Medical School of National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 11528, Greece. drtousoulis@hotmail.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Cardiology (WJC, World J Cardiol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of cardiology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WIC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of cardiology and covering a wide range of topics including acute coronary syndromes, aneurysm, angina, arrhythmias, atherosclerosis, atrial fibrillation, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart disease, coronary artery disease, heart failure, hypertension, imaging, infection, myocardial infarction, pathology, peripheral vessels, public health, Raynaud's syndrome, stroke, thrombosis, and valvular disease.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJC is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJC as 0.35. The WJC's CiteScore for 2021 is 0.9, and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Cardiology and Cardiovascular Medicine is 260/336.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Yun-Xiaojiao Wu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Cardiology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1949-8462 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInto/28/
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Ramdas G Pai, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Marco Matteo Ciccone, Pal Pacher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
May 26, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J C

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 205-216

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.205

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Extracorporeal veno-venous ultrafiltration in congestive heart failure: What's the state of the art? A mini-review

Andrea Urbani, Filippo Pensotti, Andrea Provera, Andrea Galassi, Marco Guazzi, Diego Castini

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Charach L, Israel; Sangani V, United States

Received: December 27, 2022 Peer-review started: December 27, 2022 First decision: January 9, 2023 Revised: January 19, 2023 Accepted: April 24, 2023

Article in press: April 24, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Andrea Urbani, Filippo Pensotti, Andrea Provera, Marco Guazzi, Diego Castini, Cardiology Unit, Department of Health Sciences, San Paolo Hospital, University of Milan, Milan 20142, Italy

Andrea Galassi, Nephrology Unit, Department of Health Sciences, San Paolo Hospital, University of Milan, Milan 20142, Italy

Corresponding author: Andrea Urbani, MD, Staff Physician, Cardiology Department, San Paolo Hospital, University of Milan, Via Di Rudinì 8, Milan 20142, Italy. andrea.urbani@unimi.it

Abstract

Hospitalizations for heart failure exceed 1 million per year in both the United States and Europe and more than 90% are due to symptoms and signs of fluid overload. Rates of rehospitalizations or emergency department visit at 60 days are remarkable regardless of whether loop diuretics were administered at low vs high doses or by bolus injection vs continuous infusion. Ultrafiltration (UF) has been considered a promising alternative to stepped diuretic therapy and it consists in the mechanical, adjustable removal of iso-tonic plasma water across a semipermeable membrane with the application of hydrostatic pressure gradient generated by a pump. Fluid removal with ultrafiltration presents several advantages such as elimination of higher amount of sodium with less neurohormonal activation. However, the conflicting results from UF studies highlight that patient selection and fluid removal targets are not completely understood. The best way to assess fluid status and therefore establish the fluid removal target is also still a matter of debate. Herein, we provide an up-to-date systematic review about the role of ultrafiltration among patients with fluid overload and its gaps in daily practice.

Key Words: Fluid overload; Ultrafiltration; Diuretics; Heart failure

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: This mini review aimed to evaluate the role of ultrafiltration in congestive heart failure and to compare this approach to standard therapy essentially based on diuretics. Evidences are still controversial and matter of debate, however it is clear that the use of ultrafiltration has beneficial effects on outcomes such as rehospitalization for heart failure and symptoms attenuation. This review of the literature also highlighted the pivotal role of a non-invasive multiparametric assessment of fluid overload to guide physicians through tailoring patient's decongestion.

Citation: Urbani A, Pensotti F, Provera A, Galassi A, Guazzi M, Castini D. Extracorporeal veno-venous ultrafiltration in congestive heart failure: What's the state of the art? A mini-review. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 205-216

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/205.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.205

INTRODUCTION

Hospitalizations for heart failure (HF) exceed 1 million per year in both the United States and Europe and more than 90% are due to symptoms and signs of fluid overload. In addition, up to 1 in 4 patients (24%) is readmitted within 30 d and 50% of patients are readmitted within 6 mo[1,2]. Recurrent fluid overload in HF has uniformly been associated with worse outcomes independently of age and renal function[3]. Data from the Diuretic Optimization Strategies Evaluation trial show that 42% of patients with acutely decompensated HF reached the composite end point of death, rehospitalizations or emergency department visit at 60 d regardless of whether loop diuretics were administered at low vs high doses or by bolus injection vs continuous infusion[4]. Therefore, the need for adjunctive treatment strategies to standard stepped diuretic therapy in patients presenting with fluid overload in the context of decompensated HF is critical. One promising therapy is extracorporeal veno-venous ultrafiltration (UF). Ultrafiltration consists in the mechanical, adjustable removal of iso-tonic plasma water across a semipermeable membrane with the application of hydrostatic pressure gradient generated by a pump [5].

The fluid removed from the intravascular compartment is constantly replaced by fluid from the third space configurating the so called "intra-vascular refill" phenomenon, thus allowing gradual and controlled fluid overload resolution[6]. Despite fluid removal with UF presents several advantages such as elimination of higher amount of sodium with less neurohormonal activation, results from clinical studies regarding efficacy and safety have been variable.

Herein, we provide an up-to-date systematic review about the role of UF among patients with fluid overload and its gaps in daily practice.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY AND CONSEQUENCES OF FLUID OVERLOAD

The initial trigger of fluid overload is a reduced cardiac output that results from failing myocardium. This process causes an arterial hypovolemia which triggers a cascade of events designed to increase intra-arterial blood volume. The main mechanism involved is a neurohumoral activation of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone (RAAS) axis that increases renal and sodium avidity, thereby resulting in an increase of effective blood volume. In a setting of HF, proximal sodium and water retention are so elevated that distal nephron chronically undergoes low sodium delivery, maintaining persistent RAAS activation[7]. Also, increased sympathetic tone leads to splanchnic arterial and venous constriction resulting in blood redistribution from the splanchnic capacitance vasculature to the circulatory volume. This expands the effective circulating volume by redistribution in a setting where volume expansion is already ongoing[8]. At the beginning, these changes occur as compensatory mechanisms to maintain effective circulating blood volume, over time they become harmful with the development of pathological inappropriate blood volume and interstitial fluid expansion contributing to fluid overload and organ congestion. An excessive effective circulating blood volume leads to hemodynamic congestion with increased central filling pressures[9]. Deranged hemodynamics and neurohormonal activation leading to excessive tubular reabsorption produce long-standing venous congestion. Elevation of central venous pressure is rapidly transmitted to the renal veins, causing increased interstitial and tubular hydrostatic pressure that decrease net glomerular filtration[10]. Hence, in this context, venous congestion of the kidneys rather than arterial underfilling is associated with decreased renal blood flow and an increase in creatinine[6,11]. Moreover, congestion within peripheral vascular tissues can produce endothelial activation followed by up-regulation of inflammatory cytokines, which promotes additional fluid retention [12,13]. Therefore, reducing congestion should be the foremost goal in patients with HF and fluid congestion[6].



DETECTING FLUID OVERLOAD IN HF

Historically, the gold standard to evaluate fluid overload has been pulmonary artery catheterization (PAC) that allows a direct measurement of right atrial pressure and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure (PCWP)[14]. For several years it has been widely used but then, Evaluation Study of Congestive Heart Failure and Pulmonary Artery Catheterization Effectiveness trial showed that the use of PAC to guide diuretic therapy in comparison with serial clinical assessment did not improve mortality[15]. Currently, due to its invasive nature and the lack of evidence, the use of Swan Ganz catheterization is restricted to a selected group of critically ill patients in tertiary hospitals with high level of user competence.

For what concern the non-invasive assessments of congestion, a multiparametric point of care ultrasound (POCUS) can play a key role. In the Figure 1, we make a comprehensive list of all the most used POCUS parameters.

Lung ultrasound (LUS) can be used to assess interstitial oedema and pleural effusion in patients with known or suspected HF and detects the so-called B-lines that originates from the extravascular fluid[16, 17]. B-lines are hyperechoic artefacts which appear as vertical lines originating from the pleural surface [18]. More than three B-lines in more than two intercostal spaces bilaterally are considered diagnostic of interstitial and alveolar oedema in acute HF[8,19]. In comparison to chest X-ray, lung ultrasound is more accurate for the diagnosis of interstitial oedema and HF, although B-lines can occur in other condition such as interstitial lung disease and non-cardiogenic pulmonary oedema[16,20,21]. Echocardiography can, also, be used to non-invasively and quickly estimate right and left-sided filling pressure. An appraisal of the right atrial pressure can be performed by evaluating the collapsibility and width of the inferior vena cava (IVC)[22]. Any variation in right atrial pressure is transferred backward, and modifies IVC size, in fact a significant increase in right atrial pressure, as seen in HF, would eventually result in IVC distention. Pulsed doppler and tissue Doppler are useful tools in estimating left-sided filling pressure. The E/e' ratio > 14 has high specificity for increased filling pressures, especially if Ewave deceleration time is short and A-wave velocities are low [23,24]. Furthermore, congestion and high central venous pressure lead to increased renal interstitial pressures that affects primarily renal venous flow which can be evaluated with Doppler ultrasound. Specifically, the presence of an intermittent renal venous flow rather than continuous as in healthy subjects has been strongly related with an increased central venous pressure measured invasively and has been associated with a worse prognosis in both acutely decompensated HF and among stable patients with chronic HF[25,26]. Despite diagnosis of congestion is currently made with the combination of signs and symptoms, a suggestive X-ray and the measurement of elevated natriuretic peptides (NPs), these additional non-invasive POCUS-guided approach can increase the accuracy of the diagnosis and, more importantly, can be helpful in tailoring patient's decongestion during the hospitalization (Table 1).

USE OF DIURETICS IN ACUTE HF AND DIURETIC RESISTANCE

Diuretic agents, especially loop diuretics, have been for decades the backbone of the therapy for fluid overload[30,31]. Guidelines recommend the use of intravenous loop diuretic rather than oral as first line therapy and an early as possible administration because of its association with reduced in-hospital mortality[32]. The initial diuretic regimen depends on whether the patient is diuretic naïve or not. In fact, diuretic naïve patients should receive an initial dose of at least 20-40 mg of intravenous furosemide, whereas patients already on an ambulatory diuretic regimen should receive 1-2 times the 24-h home dose intravenously. A spot urine sodium content of > 50-70 mEq/L and an hourly urine output of > 100-150 mL during the first 6 h usually identifies patients with an initial acceptable diuretic response[33,34]. If these targets are not reached, a prompt doubling of loop diuretic dose is usually required and should be repeated until maximal dose of loop diuretics is administered; as maximal dose of loop diuretic is given, an addition of another diuretic agent should be considered as increasing the loop diuretic dose does not improve natriuresis any further. Despite diuretics are highly effective in the early stages of acute HF, in a significant subset of patients loop diuretics become increasingly ineffective with disease progression due to the onset of diuretic resistance [35]. A recent definition of diuretic resistance has been proposed which implies a failure to increase fluid and sodium (Na+) output sufficiently to relieve volume overload, edema, or congestion, despite escalating doses of a loop diuretic to a ceiling level (80 mg of furosemide once or twice daily or greater in those with reduced glomerular filtration rate or HF) [36]. Diuretic resistance is the result of several factors such as impaired absorption, decreased renal blood flow, hypoalbuminemia and proteinuria, all leading to a reduced levels of active diuretics in the tubular lumen[35,37]. Unfortunately, clinical signs and symptoms are often unreliable to detect diuretic resistance. A poor diuretic response predicts mortality rate after discharge, subsequent rehospitalization, or renal complications from congestive HF[36]. Therefore, finding more effective treatments for fluid removal is an unmet need.

Table 1 Differences between ultrafiltration and diuretics

Loop diuretics	Isolated ultrafiltration
Hypotonic urine	Isotonic plasma water
Direct neurohormonal activation	No direct neurohormonal activation
Unpredictable elimination of sodium and water	Precise control of rate and amount of fluid removal
Diuretic resistance	Restoration of diuretic responsiveness
Hypokalemia and hypomagnesemia	No effect on plasma concentration of potassium and magnesium
No need for anticoagulation	Need for anticoagulation
No extracorporeal circuit	Need for extracorporeal circuit

Parameters assessed by	Echographic windows and	Pathological reference	Clinical and prognostic	Ref.
POCUS indicative of fluid	transducer positions	values	significance	
overload	• •	-	·	
B-Lines	8 chest zones measured with phased-	A cut off-value of ≥ 3 B-lines	Indicates interstitial oedema and	[27]
	array or curvilinear transducer placed	in at least two intercostal	identifies acute HF in patients with	
	in the intercostal spaces	spaces per hemithorax	dyspnea with high sensitivity	
in the second			(94%-97%) and specificity (96%-	
			97%)	
IVC size	Subcostal view with curvilinear or	An IVC smaller than 21 mm	It might detect increasing	[28]
*Dedaxe = 226 m	phased-array transducer at 1.0 to 2.0	that collapses more than	intravascular volume even prior to	
Konser schart Konser schart Tere - Götta	cm from the junction with the right	50% is considered normal	any change in symptoms or body	
	atrium		weight	
Doppler left sided filling	Apical 4-chamber view with Doppler	E/e′ ratio > 14	It indicates rising filling pressure	[23]
pressure (E/e' ratio)	imaging and tissue doppler		especially if E deceleration time is	
			short and A-wave velocities are	
40			low	
AL MARK L				
An Charles and C				
Doppler Intermittent renal	l off lateral decubitus position using a	When central venous	It is an earlier marker of	[20]
voppier Internittent renar	convoy or costor transducer aligned	proceure increases, repai	development of congestion and	[25]
venous now		pressure increases, renai	development of congestion and	
	with the lowest intercostal space	venous flow becomes firstly	suggests a poor prognosis	
	offering a longitudinal view of the	puisatile and then biphasic		
EDV 0.821 cm/s PC 0.920 L- r	right klahey			
<u>A.A.A.</u>				

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.205 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Direct and indirect non-invasive estimation of fluid overload with point of care ultrasound. IVC: Inferior vena cava; POCUS: Point-ofcare ultrasound; HF: Heart failure.

HOW DOES VENO-VENOUS UF WORK?

As briefly described in the introduction, the mechanism of action of UF is based on the use of a transmembrane pressure gradient generated by a pump, which through a semi-permeable membrane causes the removal of plasma water from whole blood. The net effect at the end of the process is the achievement of an isotonic concentration between the ultrafiltrate and the plasma water removed from the circulation[10].



UF requires a venous access to fulfill the filtration process through the hemofilter and the subsequent reintroduction of the ultrafiltered plasma into the systemic circulation[38].

Optimal anticoagulant therapy by continuous infusion of heparin is also required to preserve the function of the filter during the whole process.

The Figure 2 schematically shows the UF process; the blood, after being extracted from the patient by venous access, is transferred to the extracorporeal circuit of the UF and then reintroduced into the bloodstream.

Newer devices allow, via a double-lumen venous catheter placed in the jugular or basilic vein, a blood draw with minimal recirculation.

There are various methods by which the UF process can be achieved: isolated UF, hemofiltration and UF in combination with dialysis.

Isolated UF is only a method of fluid control, whereas all the others can simultaneously achieve a certain degree of blood purification with different mechanisms. For example hemodialysis accomplishes blood purification with solutes moving from high concentration to low concentration along the electrochemical gradient whether UF, as stated above, the substances travel due to a pressure gradient.

According to a duration-based classification, UF techniques can be classified as acute or isolated, intermittent or continuous (< 24 h) and slow continuous (> 24 h)[39].

With pure UF, an extracorporeal blood pump, either by suction applied to the ultrafiltrate compartment (negative pressure) or by resistance induced in the venous line (positive pressure) transfers the blood through the filter where the UF process is achieved.

Advantages of pure UF include the avoidance of arterial puncture, short exposure to systemic anticoagulation and, furthermore, it does not require specialized dialysis personnel[40].

Using an appropriate UF rate allows the extracellular fluid to gradually fill the removed intravascular space, thus keeping the volume constant; this effect differs UF from diuretics which remove intravascular volume without causing adequate filling from the extravascular space, the main site of congestion in patients with HF.

On the other hand, if the UF rate is too high, the rate by which the intravascular volume is removed exceeds the reabsorption of fluid from the interstitium into the vascular space, thus losing the real benefit of using UF.

Therefore, to obtain a real benefit from UF, the challenge is to find the correct rate of decongestion while maintaining an adequate circulating blood volume[41].

PROS AND CONS OF DIURETIC THERAPY VS UF

With the usage of loop diuretics, the reduction of net body water is achieved through the removal of hypotonic urine whereas UF determines the production of an iso osmotic and isonatremic diuresis. Thus, for any amount of fluid withdrawn, the net quantity of sodium removed is greater with UF than with diuretic agents.

The use of loop diuretics, moreover, causes also an inhibition of sodium chloride uptake in the macula densa thus enhancing the RAAS system activation.

On the other hand, UF through iso-osmotic and isonatremic diuresis maintains the same uptake of sodium chloride from the macula densa, avoiding RAAS system activation.

Thereby, the prolonged use of loop diuretics increases water and sodium retention in the proximal tubule with subsequent reduction of net sodium delivering in the loop of Henle decreasing the efficacy of loop diuretics to relieve the congestion.

The final goal of the ultrafiltrative process determines an euvolemic state which is obtained by withdrawing intravascular volume which is equal in size to that reabsorbed from the extracellular space [41].

Compared with standard intravenous diuretic therapy UF, by reduction of neurohormonal pathways, also improve functional capacity in patients with HF.

As explained in the study of Agostoni et al[42], UF unequivocally improved the functional performance of patients with HF. Cardiopulmonary exercise test obtained after 4 d shows higher values of peak VO2 and better VD/VT ratio in UF patients compared with standard diuretic therapy. The authors suggest that favorable influences of UF on the functional capacity are related to the protective role of vasopressin and atrial peptides during and after UF that allows a more "physiological" fluid metabolism and lung decongestion in patient with HF. The study also demonstrated that UF was a more powerful stimulus than loop diuretics on the release of norepinephrine, with much less effect on the RAAS system[42]. In Table 1 we highlighted main differences of using UF or diuretics.

EVIDENCES ABOUT THE USE OF UF IN HF FROM RCTS

The first two randomized clinical trial (RCT) in which an UF-based decongestion was compared to a diuretic-based approach have been the Relief for Acutely Fluid-Overloaded Patients With







Decompensated Congestive Heart Failure (RAPID-CHF) and the Use of Nitroprusside in Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Obstructive Aortic Valve Disease (UNLOAD) trial[43,44].

In the RAPID-CHF, authors demonstrated the feasibility and the potential beneficial effects of UF (with Aquadex system) vs usual care among patients admitted to the hospital for an acute decompensation of congestive HF (20 UF, 20 usual care). These patients received a single, 8-h course of UF with fluid removal rates determined by the attending physician (to a maximum of 500 cc/h), whereas usual care patients were treated with diuretics according to the guidelines. Weight loss after 24 h from enrollment, used as primary end-point, was greater in the UF group although did not reach a statistical significance. This trial also highlighted that at 1-d and 30-d follow-up patients had a sustained and more significant symptoms relief (dyspnea) compared to the usual care. Furthermore, there were no differences between groups in terms of hemodynamic parameters (e.g., blood pressure, heart rate) and adverse events.

However, the authors concluded that the small sample size (n = 40) reduced the significance of this study and did not allow to draw definitive conclusions about the potential beneficial role of UF in this subset of patients.

The investigators of the UNLOAD trial compared early UF strategy (at 24 h from hospitalization) vs diuretics in a population of 100 patients admitted with acutely decompensated HF in a prospective, randomized, multicenter trial. In the UF group, fluid was removed at an average fixed rate of 241 mL/h for 12 h. In the standard-care group, average daily diuretic dose of intravenous furosemide or equivalent was 181 mg during the 48 h after randomization. The study demonstrated a clear trend of each outcome in favor of UF; weight loss (primary endpoint), dyspnea improvement and net fluid loss assessed at 48 h from enrollment resulted statistically significant (P = 0.001) in the UF arm of the study as compared to diuretics arm. Furthermore, the UF group had fewer patients re-hospitalized for HF at 90 d [16 of 89 (18%) vs 28 of 87 (32%), P = 0.037].

One of the main limits of both the RAPID-CHF and UNLOAD trial was to not include a comprehensive assessment of hemodynamic parameters during the study.

Giglioli et al[45], in their ULTRADISCO trial performed a standardized evaluation of hemodynamic status obtained using Pressure Recording Analytical Method monitoring system by radial artery cannulation. Stroke volume indexed, cardiac index, cardiac power output, systemic vascular resistance was measured during hospitalization, at discharge, and at 1 and 3-mo follow-up among patients with acute decompensated HF (ADHF) treated with UF (using PRISMA system) vs conventional diuretics strategy. As a result, authors demonstrated that UF benefits can go beyond the net fluid loss and clinical improvement by significantly ameliorating hemodynamic status[45].

A different kind of population was target of the CARRESS-HF trial. In this study Bart et al[46] compared UF with a diuretic-based stepped pharmacologic therapy in patients hospitalized with ADHF with signs of congestion and worsening renal function (defined as an increase in the serum creatinine level of at least 0.3 mg per deciliter between 12 wk before and 10 d after the index admission for HF.) Ultrafiltration was performed at a fixed fluid-removal rate of 200 mL per hour. Both the primary endpoints (weight loss and serum creatinine variation) and secondary endpoints (clinical and laboratoristic) resulted statistically not significant. This trial also showed more adverse events in the UF arm such as bleeding, catheter thrombosis and advanced kidney failure. The reasons of these results remain



still unclear although it is possible that the patients involved are not the subpopulation in which UF achieve its potential beneficial effect[46].

In the CUORE trial, investigators randomized highly selected patients with severe systolic congestive HF to UF (using Dedyca system) or standard therapy. Those patients randomized to UF had a significantly lower frequency of rehospitalization for congestive HF than control subjects and this result was maintained for up to 1 year. Furthermore, the overall reduction in rehospitalizations was linked to more significant maintenance of a body weight, renal function and lower diuretic dose in the first 6 mo after discharge[47].

The AVOID-HF trial, in contrast with the CARRESS-HF trial, remains faithful to the findings of other studies mentioned above in which UF is beneficial when applied early during the episode of HF decompensation. The AVOID-HF has the largest sample size with a total of 224 patients randomized to UF arm (using Aquadex system) or standard diuretic therapy and has a predefined decongestion dose adjustment protocol. The trial was interrupted prematurely for slow enrollment rate. Despite only one third of the sample size was achieved from the investigators, this trial showed a trend toward reduction in rehospitalization for HF in the first 90-d of discharge[48].

Lastly, Hu *et al*[49], in their single center experience trial has demonstrated that early UF effectively and safely reduces volume overload in patients with ADHF. Patient were enrolled in the first 24 h of admission randomlyassigned into early UF (n = 40) or torasemide plus tolvaptan (n = 60) groups. Criteria of inclusion were acutely decompensated HF patients of age more than 18 years old and who had 1 or more sign of congestion (lung rales on auscultation, chest X ray documenting pulmonary congestion, congestive hepatomegaly and/or ascites, jugular venous pulse > 10 cm; lower limb edema, B-type NP > 400 pg/mL). Primary and secondary efficacy endpoint were increase in urine output, weight loss, reduction of dyspnea and brain natriuretic peptide; each endpoint reached statistical significance[49].

In conclusion, Table 2 summarize the different RCTs designs and outcomes.

PATIENT SELECTION CRITERIA ACCORDING TO THE LITERATURE

Given current data, it has not been yet clearly defined which subpopulation of patients suffering from acute HF refractory to diuretic therapy can benefit from UF. The conflicting results from UF studies highlight that patient selection and fluid removal targets are not completely understood.

Heterogeneity of HF patients (*e.g.*, baseline clinical characteristics, hemodynamic profile, severity of renal functional impairment), the timing and the UF protocols used in the trials contributed to these inconsistent results.

As mentioned, guidelines recommend this therapeutic option in patients with a lack of hemodynamic and laboratory response despite maximal diuretic therapy[30,31]. Unfortunately, data regarding which patients may benefit the most from this strategy are scarce.

However, despite the conflicting results of the RCTs, we can still assume some broad indications from them. According to CARRESS-HF, UF may not be useful among patients with ADHF and worsening renal function[46]. Furthermore, in contrast with all other trials, the median time from the index hospital admission (the admission qualifying the patient for enrollment in the study) to randomization was 34 h. This data reinforce the belief that a more effective UF process could be related to an earlier beginning of treatment.

From some of the trials that demonstrated an effectiveness of UF, we can suggest how continuous, or at least frequent, assessment of hemodynamic stability and fluid overload are essential prerogatives before and during the treatment[45,48].

Baseline clinical characteristics of the patient and protocol used in these trials suggest in which clinical setting UF may be used.

KNOWLEDGE GAPS, FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND ONGOING CLINICAL RESEARCH

Ultrafiltration has been principally used in decompensated HF patients as an escalation after diuretic failure or in the presence of cardiorenal syndrome. Earlier utilization of UF can expedite and maintain the compensation of acute HF by simultaneously reducing volume overload without causing intravascular volume depletion and re-establishing acid base and electrolyte balance. Despite the crucial need of alternatives to diuretics-based decongestive strategy there are still several gaps of knowledge about the correct use of UF. What clearly emerges from the literature is the lack of strong evidences able to support the routine use of UF as first and early step of treatment whereas the overall potential and beneficial effect remains clear.

To draw definitive conclusions, we need more data comings from new RCTs. At the moment, REVERSE-HF, a multicenter randomized controlled trial, is ongoing across the United States.

Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Overview of most relevant randomized controlled trials on ultrafiltration-based decongestive therapy

RCTs	Target population	UF device	Primary and secondary endpoint	Results
RAPID-CHF (2005)	ADHF, <i>n</i> = 40	Aquadex system, 8-h course	Weight loss at 24 h of treatment (Primary endpoint); Volume removal after 24 h	Weight reduction resulted not statistically significant ($P = 0.24$); Volume removal was significantly more in UF arm ($P < 0.001$)
UNLOAD (2007)	ADHF, <i>n</i> = 200	Aquadex System, Mean fluid removal rate 241 mL/h	Weight loss at 48 h; Dyspnea score at 48 h	Weight loss resulted significantly increased in UF arm ($P < 0.001$), whereas there were no differences between groups in Dyspnea score ($P = 0.588$)
ULTRADISCO (2011)	ADHF, <i>n</i> = 30	PRISMA, treatment duration 46 h	Changes in hemodynamics assessed using PRAM: SVi, CI, CPO, SVR were measured during hospital- ization, at discharge, and at 1 and 3- mo follow-up	UF arm as compare to standard care had a significant improvement of global hemodynamic status
CARRESS-HF (2012)	ADHF, <i>n</i> = 188; Recent increase in serum creatinin >/= 0.3 mg/dL	Aquadex System at a fixed rate of 200 mL/h	Bivariate changes in sCr and change in weight 96 h after randomization	
CUORE (2014)	ADHF, LVEF =40%, <i n = 56	Dedyca system	HF rehospitalization at 1 yr	UF arm has a significant lower endpoint incidence ($P = 0.002$)
AVOID-HF (2016)	ADHF <i>, n</i> = 224	Aquadex system at an ajdusted rate on a per protocol established basis	Time to first HF event (HF rehospit- alization or unscheduled outpatient or emergency treatment with intravenous loop diuretic agents or UF) within 90 days of hospital discharge	30-d HF rehospitalizations: 11 of 2876 (UF arm) vs 24 of 2882 (diuretics arm), P = 0.06
Hu et al[<mark>49]</mark> , 2021	ADHF, <i>n</i> = 100	FQ-16 type HF ultrafiltration dehydration device (Beijing Hartcare Medical Technology Co., Ltd)	Weight loss and an increase in urine output on days 4 and 8 of treatment; Secondary outcome evaluated: BNP, NYHA class, IVC collapse index, JVP	Early ultrafiltration group had a significantly greater weight loss ($P < 0.001$) than the torasemide + tolvaptan group and urine increase ($P < 0.001$); Secondary outcomes that were followed up demonstated a clear trend towards benefits of UF as compared to diuretics arm

ADHF: Acutely decompensated heart failure; BNP: Brain natriuretic peptide; CI: Cardiac index; CPO: Cardiac power output; IVC: Inferior vena cava; JVP: Jugular venous pressure; HF: Heart failure; NYHA: New York Heart association; PRAM: Pressure Recording Analytical Method; sCr: Serum creatinine; SVi: Stroke volume indexed; SVR: Systemic vascular resistance; UF: Ultrafiltration; RCT: Randomized clinical trial.

> An important target of decongestive therapies to achieve is the so-called dry weight; however, the best way to assess fluid status and dry weight is still a matter of debate.

> POCUS can, potentially, be a helpful tool for a quick and objective fluid status assessment. There are several echographic markers of the high pressures associated with congestive process, as described above, which have been proposed[50].

> However, there is still a paucity of combined POCUS scoring systems able to predict adverse outcomes of patients with clinical and laboratoristic signs of congestion. One of the proposed scoring systems is Venous Excess Ultrasound grading system of the severity of venous congestion[51].

> Bioelectrical impedance (BIA) is, also, an attractive non-invasive method for assessing the total body water. Measurements of bioimpedance vector require 2 pairs of electrodes to be placed on the wrist and ankles. This method, potentially, could help the physician to guide the reduction of patient's fluid overload as showed in some trials[52].

> Several authors have investigated if an objective tool such as BIA is better than clinical findings for guiding UF in hemodialysis patients. As a result of several RCTs, BIA-based interventions in hemodialysis patients for correction of overhydration have little to no effect on all-cause mortality, whereas BIA improved systolic blood pressure control. These results should be interpreted with caution as the size and power of the studies are low. Further studies, larger or with a longer follow-up period, should be performed to better describe the effect of BIA-based strategies on survival^[53].

> In a study by Hanna *et al*[54], they proposed that a protocol driven-UF with invasive PCWP as hemodynamic parameter can guide the physician for a safe and effective interruption of ultrafiltrative system, reaching the goal of sustained value </= 18 mmHg for more than 4 h.

> The use of biomarkers able to show acute kidney injury can help physician to assess fluid status and guide decongestion. At the state of art, serum creatinine is the sole biomarker used in daily practice to guide fluid removal. However, serum creatinine can be elevated also in the context of volume depletion without acute tubular damage. Conversely, this parameter can be normal in documented tubular injury due to the delayed achievement of detectable changes of this analyte. It is therefore evident that we need to undercover new useful biomarkers able to be more specific for kidney damage. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) attracts as a newly more specific biomarker of acute kidney



injury; NGAL is not elevated in case of volume depletion as serum creatinine. In vitro studies found other genes expressed only after brief dose of ischemia as kidney injury molecule-1, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1, and clusterin, although none of these genes were expressed after volume depletion, despite the rise in serum creatinine in both models[55].

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, ultrafiltration represents an attractive alternative to pharmacologic therapy. More longterm data about safety, incidence of rehospitalization for HF and cost-effectiveness are crucial to definitely allocate this treatment also as a main option. Furthermore, we need more comprehensive and non-invasive tools to guide physicians in the fluid status management of congested patients.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors have made contributions to conception and design of this review, engaged in preparing the article or revising it analytically for essential intellectual content, gave final approval of the version to be published; and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interest regarding this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Andrea Urbani 0000-0002-8905-0922; Filippo Pensotti 0000-0002-7608-1025; Marco Guazzi 0000-0002-8456-609X; Diego Castini 0000-0003-4537-5029.

S-Editor: Wang JL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Ambrosy AP, Fonarow GC, Butler J, Chioncel O, Greene SJ, Vaduganathan M, Nodari S, Lam CSP, Sato N, Shah AN, Gheorghiade M. The global health and economic burden of hospitalizations for heart failure: lessons learned from hospitalized heart failure registries. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 63: 1123-1133 [PMID: 24491689 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.053
- Crespo-Leiro MG, Anker SD, Maggioni AP, Coats AJ, Filippatos G, Ruschitzka F, Ferrari R, Piepoli MF, Delgado 2 Jimenez JF, Metra M, Fonseca C, Hradec J, Amir O, Logeart D, Dahlström U, Merkely B, Drozdz J, Goncalvesova E, Hassanein M, Chioncel O, Lainscak M, Seferovic PM, Tousoulis D, Kavoliuniene A, Fruhwald F, Fazlibegovic E, Temizhan A, Gatzov P, Erglis A, Laroche C, Mebazaa A; Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). European Society of Cardiology Heart Failure Long-Term Registry (ESC-HF-LT): 1-year follow-up outcomes and differences across regions. Eur J Heart Fail 2016; 18: 613-625 [PMID: 27324686 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.566]
- Setoguchi S, Stevenson LW, Schneeweiss S. Repeated hospitalizations predict mortality in the community population with 3 heart failure. Am Heart J 2007; 154: 260-266 [PMID: 17643574 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2007.01.041]
- Felker GM, Lee KL, Bull DA, Redfield MM, Stevenson LW, Goldsmith SR, LeWinter MM, Deswal A, Rouleau JL, Ofili 4 EO, Anstrom KJ, Hernandez AF, McNulty SE, Velazquez EJ, Kfoury AG, Chen HH, Givertz MM, Semigran MJ, Bart BA, Mascette AM, Braunwald E, O'Connor CM; NHLBI Heart Failure Clinical Research Network. Diuretic strategies in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 797-805 [PMID: 21366472 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1005419]
- Ronco C, Ricci Z, Bellomo R, Bedogni F. Extracorporeal ultrafiltration for the treatment of overhydration and congestive 5 heart failure. Cardiology 2001; 96: 155-168 [PMID: 11805382 DOI: 10.1159/000047399]
- Somaschini A, Casirati A, Cornara S, Demarchi A, Mandurino-Mirizzi A, Androulakis E, Lioudaki E. Extracorporeal 6 veno-venous ultrafiltration in patients with acute heart failure. Rev Cardiovasc Med 2021; 22: 1311-1322 [PMID: 34957772 DOI: 10.31083/j.rcm2204137]
- Gologorsky RC, Roy S. Ultrafiltration for management of fluid overload in patients with heart failure. Artif Organs 2020; 44: 129-139 [PMID: 31361904 DOI: 10.1111/aor.13549]
- 8 Mullens W, Damman K, Harjola VP, Mebazaa A, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Martens P, Testani JM, Tang WHW, Orso F, Rossignol P, Metra M, Filippatos G, Seferovic PM, Ruschitzka F, Coats AJ. The use of diuretics in heart failure with



congestion - a position statement from the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur J Heart Fail 2019; 21: 137-155 [PMID: 30600580 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.1369]

- Miller WL. Fluid Volume Overload and Congestion in Heart Failure: Time to Reconsider Pathophysiology and How Volume Is Assessed. Circ Heart Fail 2016; 9: e002922 [PMID: 27436837 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002922]
- Costanzo MR, Ronco C, Abraham WT, Agostoni P, Barasch J, Fonarow GC, Gottlieb SS, Jaski BE, Kazory A, Levin AP, 10 Levin HR, Marenzi G, Mullens W, Negoianu D, Redfield MM, Tang WHW, Testani JM, Voors AA. Extracorporeal Ultrafiltration for Fluid Overload in Heart Failure: Current Status and Prospects for Further Research. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 2428-2445 [PMID: 28494980 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.528]
- 11 F Gnanaraj J, von Haehling S, Anker SD, Raj DS, Radhakrishnan J. The relevance of congestion in the cardio-renal syndrome. Kidney Int 2013; 83: 384-391 [PMID: 23254894 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2012.406]
- 12 Colombo PC, Onat D, Harxhi A, Demmer RT, Hayashi Y, Jelic S, LeJemtel TH, Bucciarelli L, Kebschull M, Papapanou P, Uriel N, Schmidt AM, Sabbah HN, Jorde UP. Peripheral venous congestion causes inflammation, neurohormonal, and endothelial cell activation. Eur Heart J 2014; 35: 448-454 [PMID: 24265434 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht456]
- Ganda A, Onat D, Demmer RT, Wan E, Vittorio TJ, Sabbah HN, Colombo PC. Venous congestion and endothelial cell 13 activation in acute decompensated heart failure. Curr Heart Fail Rep 2010; 7: 66-74 [PMID: 20424989 DOI: 10.1007/s11897-010-0009-5
- Vincent JL, Rhodes A, Perel A, Martin GS, Della Rocca G, Vallet B, Pinsky MR, Hofer CK, Teboul JL, de Boode WP, 14 Scolletta S, Vieillard-Baron A, De Backer D, Walley KR, Maggiorini M, Singer M. Clinical review: Update on hemodynamic monitoring--a consensus of 16. Crit Care 2011; 15: 229 [PMID: 21884645 DOI: 10.1186/cc10291]
- Binanay C, Califf RM, Hasselblad V, O'Connor CM, Shah MR, Sopko G, Stevenson LW, Francis GS, Leier CV, Miller LW; ESCAPE Investigators and ESCAPE Study Coordinators. Evaluation study of congestive heart failure and pulmonary artery catheterization effectiveness: the ESCAPE trial. JAMA 2005; 294: 1625-1633 [PMID: 16204662 DOI: 10.1001/jama.294.13.1625
- Pellicori P, Platz E, Dauw J, Ter Maaten JM, Martens P, Pivetta E, Cleland JGF, McMurray JJV, Mullens W, Solomon 16 SD, Zannad F, Gargani L, Girerd N. Ultrasound imaging of congestion in heart failure: examinations beyond the heart. Eur J Heart Fail 2021; 23: 703-712 [PMID: 33118672 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.2032]
- Platz E, Merz AA, Jhund PS, Vazir A, Campbell R, McMurray JJ. Dynamic changes and prognostic value of pulmonary 17 congestion by lung ultrasound in acute and chronic heart failure: a systematic review. Eur J Heart Fail 2017; 19: 1154-1163 [PMID: 28557302 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.839]
- 18 Volpicelli G, Elbarbary M, Blaivas M, Lichtenstein DA, Mathis G, Kirkpatrick AW, Melniker L, Gargani L, Noble VE, Via G, Dean A, Tsung JW, Soldati G, Copetti R, Bouhemad B, Reissig A, Agricola E, Rouby JJ, Arbelot C, Liteplo A, Sargsyan A, Silva F, Hoppmann R, Breitkreutz R, Seibel A, Neri L, Storti E, Petrovic T; International Liaison Committee on Lung Ultrasound (ILC-LUS) for International Consensus Conference on Lung Ultrasound (ICC-LUS). International evidence-based recommendations for point-of-care lung ultrasound. Intensive Care Med 2012; 38: 577-591 [PMID: 22392031 DOI: 10.1007/s00134-012-2513-4]
- Martindale JL, Secko M, Kilpatrick JF, deSouza IS, Paladino L, Aherne A, Mehta N, Conigiliaro A, Sinert R. Serial 19 Sonographic Assessment of Pulmonary Edema in Patients With Hypertensive Acute Heart Failure. J Ultrasound Med 2018; 37: 337-345 [PMID: 28758715 DOI: 10.1002/jum.14336]
- Wang Y, Gargani L, Barskova T, Furst DE, Cerinic MM. Usefulness of lung ultrasound B-lines in connective tissue 20 disease-associated interstitial lung disease: a literature review. Arthritis Res Ther 2017; 19: 206 [PMID: 28923086 DOI: 10.1186/s13075-017-1409-7]
- Copetti R, Soldati G, Copetti P. Chest sonography: a useful tool to differentiate acute cardiogenic pulmonary edema from 21 acute respiratory distress syndrome. Cardiovasc Ultrasound 2008; 6: 16 [PMID: 18442425 DOI: 10.1186/1476-7120-6-16
- 22 Simonson JS, Schiller NB. Sonospirometry: a new method for noninvasive estimation of mean right atrial pressure based on two-dimensional echographic measurements of the inferior vena cava during measured inspiration. J Am Coll Cardiol 1988; 11: 557-564 [PMID: 3343458 DOI: 10.1016/0735-1097(88)91531-8]
- 23 Nagueh SF, Smiseth OA, Appleton CP, Byrd BF 3rd, Dokainish H, Edvardsen T, Flachskampf FA, Gillebert TC, Klein AL, Lancellotti P, Marino P, Oh JK, Popescu BA, Waggoner AD. Recommendations for the Evaluation of Left Ventricular Diastolic Function by Echocardiography: An Update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2016; 29: 277-314 [PMID: 27037982 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2016.01.011]
- Caballero L, Kou S, Dulgheru R, Gonjilashvili N, Athanassopoulos GD, Barone D, Baroni M, Cardim N, Gomez de 24 Diego JJ, Oliva MJ, Hagendorff A, Hristova K, Lopez T, Magne J, Martinez C, de la Morena G, Popescu BA, Penicka M, Ozyigit T, Rodrigo Carbonero JD, Salustri A, Van De Veire N, Von Bardeleben RS, Vinereanu D, Voigt JU, Zamorano JL, Bernard A, Donal E, Lang RM, Badano LP, Lancellotti P. Echocardiographic reference ranges for normal cardiac Doppler data: results from the NORRE Study. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2015; 16: 1031-1041 [PMID: 25896355 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jev083]
- lida N, Seo Y, Sai S, Machino-Ohtsuka T, Yamamoto M, Ishizu T, Kawakami Y, Aonuma K. Clinical Implications of 25 Intrarenal Hemodynamic Evaluation by Doppler Ultrasonography in Heart Failure. JACC Heart Fail 2016; 4: 674-682 [PMID: 27179835 DOI: 10.1016/j.jchf.2016.03.016]
- Puzzovivo A, Monitillo F, Guida P, Leone M, Rizzo C, Grande D, Ciccone MM, Iacoviello M. Renal Venous Pattern: A 26 New Parameter for Predicting Prognosis in Heart Failure Outpatients. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis 2018; 5 [PMID: 30400289 DOI: 10.3390/jcdd5040052]
- Pivetta E, Goffi A, Nazerian P, Castagno D, Tozzetti C, Tizzani P, Tizzani M, Porrino G, Ferreri E, Busso V, Morello F, 27 Paglieri C, Masoero M, Cassine E, Bovaro F, Grifoni S, Maule MM, Lupia E; Study Group on Lung Ultrasound from the Molinette and Careggi Hospitals. Lung ultrasound integrated with clinical assessment for the diagnosis of acute decompensated heart failure in the emergency department: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Heart Fail 2019; 21: 754-



766 [PMID: 30690825 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.1379]

- Dovancescu S, Pellicori P, Mabote T, Torabi A, Clark AL, Cleland JGF. The effects of short-term omission of daily 28 medication on the pathophysiology of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2017; 19: 643-649 [PMID: 28295907 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.748]
- Costanzo MR. Ultrafiltration in Acute Heart Failure. Card Fail Rev 2019; 5: 9-18 [PMID: 30847239 DOI: 29 10.15420/cfr.2018.29.2]
- 30 McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, Gardner RS, Baumbach A, Böhm M, Burri H, Butler J, Čelutkienė J, Chioncel O, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Crespo-Leiro MG, Farmakis D, Gilard M, Heymans S, Hoes AW, Jaarsma T, Jankowska EA, Lainscak M, Lam CSP, Lyon AR, McMurray JJV, Mebazaa A, Mindham R, Muneretto C, Francesco Piepoli M, Price S, Rosano GMC, Ruschitzka F, Kathrine Skibelund A; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 3599-3726 [PMID: 34447992 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368]
- Heidenreich PA, Bozkurt B, Aguilar D, Allen LA, Byun JJ, Colvin MM, Deswal A, Drazner MH, Dunlay SM, Evers LR, 31 Fang JC, Fedson SE, Fonarow GC, Hayek SS, Hernandez AF, Khazanie P, Kittleson MM, Lee CS, Link MS, Milano CA, Nnacheta LC, Sandhu AT, Stevenson LW, Vardeny O, Vest AR, Yancy CW. 2022 AHA/ACC/HFSA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2022; 145: e895-e1032 [PMID: 35363499 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000001063]
- 32 Matsue Y, Damman K, Voors AA, Kagiyama N, Yamaguchi T, Kuroda S, Okumura T, Kida K, Mizuno A, Oishi S, Inuzuka Y, Akiyama E, Matsukawa R, Kato K, Suzuki S, Naruke T, Yoshioka K, Miyoshi T, Baba Y, Yamamoto M, Murai K, Mizutani K, Yoshida K, Kitai T. Time-to-Furosemide Treatment and Mortality in Patients Hospitalized With Acute Heart Failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 3042-3051 [PMID: 28641794 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.04.042]
- Singh D, Shrestha K, Testani JM, Verbrugge FH, Dupont M, Mullens W, Tang WH. Insufficient natriuretic response to 33 continuous intravenous furosemide is associated with poor long-term outcomes in acute decompensated heart failure. J Card Fail 2014; 20: 392-399 [PMID: 24704538 DOI: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2014.03.006]
- Testani JM, Hanberg JS, Cheng S, Rao V, Onyebeke C, Laur O, Kula A, Chen M, Wilson FP, Darlington A, 34 Bellumkonda L, Jacoby D, Tang WH, Parikh CR. Rapid and Highly Accurate Prediction of Poor Loop Diuretic Natriuretic Response in Patients With Heart Failure. Circ Heart Fail 2016; 9: e002370 [PMID: 26721915 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002370]
- Wilcox CS, Testani JM, Pitt B. Pathophysiology of Diuretic Resistance and Its Implications for the Management of 35 Chronic Heart Failure. Hypertension 2020; 76: 1045-1054 [PMID: 32829662 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.120.15205]
- Kiernan MS, Stevens SR, Tang WHW, Butler J, Anstrom KJ, Birati EY, Grodin JL, Gupta D, Margulies KB, LaRue S, 36 Dávila-Román VG, Hernandez AF, de Las Fuentes L; NHLBI Heart Failure Clinical Trials Network Investigators. Determinants of Diuretic Responsiveness and Associated Outcomes During Acute Heart Failure Hospitalization: An Analysis From the NHLBI Heart Failure Network Clinical Trials. J Card Fail 2018; 24: 428-438 [PMID: 29482026 DOI: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2018.02.002]
- 37 Gheorghiade M, Filippatos G. Reassessing treatment of acute heart failure syndromes: the ADHERE Registry. Eur Heart J Suppl 2005; 7 suppl_B: B13-B19 [DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/sui008]
- 38 Milazzo V, Cosentino N, Marenzi G. Extracorporeal ultrafiltration for acute heart failure: patient selection and perspectives. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2017; 13: 449-456 [PMID: 29270016 DOI: 10.2147/VHRM.S128608]
- Costanzo MR. The role of ultrafiltration in the management of heart failure. Congest Heart Fail 2008; 14: 19-24 [PMID: 39 18256565 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7133.2008.05410.x]
- Costanzo MR. Ultrafiltration in the management of heart failure. Curr Opin Crit Care 2008; 14: 524-530 [PMID: 40 18787444 DOI: 10.1097/MCC.0b013e328309a481]
- 41 Neri M, Villa G, Garzotto F, Bagshaw S, Bellomo R, Cerda J, Ferrari F, Guggia S, Joannidis M, Kellum J, Kim JC, Mehta RL, Ricci Z, Trevisani A, Marafon S, Clark WR, Vincent JL, Ronco C; Nomenclature Standardization Initiative (NSI) alliance. Nomenclature for renal replacement therapy in acute kidney injury: basic principles. Crit Care 2016; 20: 318 [PMID: 27719682 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-016-1489-9]
- Agostoni P, Marenzi G, Lauri G, Perego G, Schianni M, Sganzerla P, Guazzi MD. Sustained improvement in functional 42 capacity after removal of body fluid with isolated ultrafiltration in chronic cardiac insufficiency: failure of furosemide to provide the same result. Am J Med 1994; 96: 191-199 [PMID: 8154506 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(94)90142-2]
- Bart BA, Boyle A, Bank AJ, Anand I, Olivari MT, Kraemer M, Mackedanz S, Sobotka PA, Schollmeyer M, Goldsmith 43 SR. Ultrafiltration versus usual care for hospitalized patients with heart failure: the Relief for Acutely Fluid-Overloaded Patients With Decompensated Congestive Heart Failure (RAPID-CHF) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46: 2043-2046 [PMID: 16325039 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.05.098]
- Costanzo MR, Guglin ME, Saltzberg MT, Jessup ML, Bart BA, Teerlink JR, Jaski BE, Fang JC, Feller ED, Haas GJ, 44 Anderson AS, Schollmeyer MP, Sobotka PA; UNLOAD Trial Investigators. Ultrafiltration versus intravenous diuretics for patients hospitalized for acute decompensated heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 675-683 [PMID: 17291932 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.07.073
- Giglioli C, Landi D, Cecchi E, Chiostri M, Gensini GF, Valente S, Ciaccheri M, Castelli G, Romano SM. Effects of 45 ULTRAfiltration vs. DIureticS on clinical, biohumoral and haemodynamic variables in patients with deCOmpensated heart failure: the ULTRADISCO study. Eur J Heart Fail 2011; 13: 337-346 [PMID: 21131387 DOI: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfq207]
- Bart BA, Goldsmith SR, Lee KL, Givertz MM, O'Connor CM, Bull DA, Redfield MM, Deswal A, Rouleau JL, LeWinter 46 MM, Ofili EO, Stevenson LW, Semigran MJ, Felker GM, Chen HH, Hernandez AF, Anstrom KJ, McNulty SE, Velazquez EJ, Ibarra JC, Mascette AM, Braunwald E; Heart Failure Clinical Research Network. Ultrafiltration in decompensated heart failure with cardiorenal syndrome. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 2296-2304 [PMID: 23131078 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1210357
- Marenzi G, Muratori M, Cosentino ER, Rinaldi ER, Donghi V, Milazzo V, Ferramosca E, Borghi C, Santoro A, Agostoni 47



P. Continuous ultrafiltration for congestive heart failure: the CUORE trial. J Card Fail 2014; 20: 9-17 [PMID: 24269855 DOI: 10.1016/i.cardfail.2013.11.0041

- Costanzo MR, Negoianu D, Jaski BE, Bart BA, Heywood JT, Anand IS, Smelser JM, Kaneshige AM, Chomsky DB, 48 Adler ED, Haas GJ, Watts JA, Nabut JL, Schollmeyer MP, Fonarow GC. Aquapheresis Versus Intravenous Diuretics and Hospitalizations for Heart Failure. JACC Heart Fail 2016; 4: 95-105 [PMID: 26519995 DOI: 10.1016/j.jchf.2015.08.005]
- Hu J, Wan Q, Zhang Y, Zhou J, Li M, Jiang L, Yuan F. Efficacy and safety of early ultrafiltration in patients with acute 49 decompensated heart failure with volume overload: a prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trial. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2020; 20: 447 [PMID: 33054727 DOI: 10.1186/s12872-020-01733-5]
- Beaubien-Souligny W, Bouchard J, Desjardins G, Lamarche Y, Liszkowski M, Robillard P, Denault A. Extracardiac 50 Signs of Fluid Overload in the Critically III Cardiac Patient: A Focused Evaluation Using Bedside Ultrasound. Can J Cardiol 2017; 33: 88-100 [PMID: 27887762 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2016.08.012]
- 51 Beaubien-Souligny W, Rola P, Haycock K, Bouchard J, Lamarche Y, Spiegel R, Denault AY. Quantifying systemic congestion with Point-Of-Care ultrasound: development of the venous excess ultrasound grading system. Ultrasound J 2020; 12: 16 [PMID: 32270297 DOI: 10.1186/s13089-020-00163-w]
- Onofriescu M, Mardare NG, Segall L, Voroneanu L, Cușai C, Hogaș S, Ardeleanu S, Nistor I, Prisadă OV, Sascău R, 52 Covic A. Randomized trial of bioelectrical impedance analysis versus clinical criteria for guiding ultrafiltration in hemodialysis patients: effects on blood pressure, hydration status, and arterial stiffness. Int Urol Nephrol 2012; 44: 583-591 [PMID: 21688195 DOI: 10.1007/s11255-011-0022-y]
- 53 Covic A, Ciumanghel AI, Siriopol D, Kanbay M, Dumea R, Gavrilovici C, Nistor I. Value of bioimpedance analysis estimated "dry weight" in maintenance dialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Urol Nephrol 2017; 49: 2231-2245 [PMID: 28965299 DOI: 10.1007/s11255-017-1698-4]
- 54 Hanna MA, Tang WH, Teo BW, O'Neill JO, Weinstein DM, Lau SM, Van Lente F, Starling RC, Paganini EP, Taylor DO. Extracorporeal ultrafiltration vs. conventional diuretic therapy in advanced decompensated heart failure. Congest Heart Fail 2012; 18: 54-63 [PMID: 22277179 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7133.2011.00231.x]
- Xu K, Rosenstiel P, Paragas N, Hinze C, Gao X, Huai Shen T, Werth M, Forster C, Deng R, Bruck E, Boles RW, Tornato 55 A, Gopal T, Jones M, Konig J, Stauber J, D'Agati V, Erdjument-Bromage H, Saggi S, Wagener G, Schmidt-Ott KM, Tatonetti N, Tempst P, Oliver JA, Guarnieri P, Barasch J. Unique Transcriptional Programs Identify Subtypes of AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol 2017; 28: 1729-1740 [PMID: 28028135 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2016090974]



World Journal of WJC Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 217-228

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.217

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Acute heart failure as an adverse event of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: A review of the literature

Thais Gagno Grillo, Caroline Ferreira da Silva Mazeto Pupo Silveira, Ana Elisa Valencise Quaglio, Renata de Medeiros Dutra, Julio Pinheiro Baima, Silmeia Garcia Zanati Bazan, Ligia Yukie Sassaki

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Wang LH, China; Wen XL, China; Wu SC, China

Received: January 16, 2023 Peer-review started: January 16, 2023 First decision: January 30, 2023 Revised: February 9, 2023 Accepted: April 12, 2023 Article in press: April 12, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Thais Gagno Grillo, Caroline Ferreira da Silva Mazeto Pupo Silveira, Renata de Medeiros Dutra, Julio Pinheiro Baima, Silmeia Garcia Zanati Bazan, Ligia Yukie Sassaki, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School, São Paulo State University, Botucatu, Botucatu 18618686, Brazil

Ana Elisa Valencise Quaglio, Department of Biophysics and Pharmacology, Institute of Biosciences, São Paulo State University, Botucatu, Botucatu 18618689, Brazil

Corresponding author: Ligia Yukie Sassaki, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Full Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School, São Paulo State University, Mário Rubens Guimarães Montenegro, Botucatu, Botucatu 18618686, Brazil. ligia.sassaki@unesp.br

Abstract

Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors (anti-TNFs) are widely used therapies for the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD); however, their administration is not risk-free. Heart failure (HF), although rare, is a potential adverse event related to administration of these medications. However, the exact mechanism of development of HF remains obscure. TNF α is found in both healthy and damaged hearts. Its effects are concentration- and receptor-dependent, promoting either cardio-protection or cardiomyocyte apoptosis. Experimental rat models with TNF α receptor knockout showed increased survival rates, less reactive oxygen species formation, and improved diastolic left ventricle pressure. However, clinical trials employing anti-TNF therapy to treat HF had disappointing results, suggesting abolishment of the cardioprotective properties of TNFa, making cardiomyocytes susceptible to apoptosis and oxidation. Thus, patients with IBD who have risk factors should be screened for HF before initiating anti-TNF therapy. This review aims to discuss adverse events associated with the administration of anti-TNF therapy, with a focus on HF, and propose some approaches to avoid cardiac adverse events in patients with IBD.

Key Words: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors; Inflammatory bowel disease; Heart failure; Adverse event; TNFa receptor

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors (anti-TNFs) are widely used for the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). However, heart failure, although rare, is an adverse event associated with the use of anti-TNFs in these patients. This review discusses the adverse events, especially heart failure, associated with the administration of anti-TNF therapy. We believe that our study makes a significant contribution to the literature because it discusses the current understanding in the field and proposes approaches to avoid the occurrence of adverse events due to anti-TNFs in patients with IBD.

Citation: Grillo TG, Silveira CFDSMP, Quaglio AEV, Dutra RM, Baima JP, Bazan SGZ, Sassaki LY. Acute heart failure as an adverse event of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy in inflammatory bowel disease: A review of the literature. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 217-228 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/217.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.217

INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), including Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), presents with chronic and progressive intestinal inflammation with periods of remission and activity, affecting mainly young people, with a peak of incidence between the third and fourth decades of life[1]. The etiopathology of IBD is poorly established, but it is believed to be related to an inappropriate inflammatory response to gut microbes in predisposed individuals^[2]. There is still no curative therapy for IBD. Thus, treatment aims to alleviate symptoms, restore quality of life, and delay the progression and development of complications[3]. The choice of therapy depends on the location, activity, and severity of the disease, along with previous response to therapy and presence of complications. Evaluation of individual patient characteristics and the cost/benefit ratio of medications are also considered[4]. The therapeutic arsenal currently includes aminosalicylates (mesalazine and sulfasalazine); local and systemic corticosteroids (budesonide, prednisone, methylprednisolone, and hydrocortisone); immunosuppressants (azathioprine and 6-mercaptopurine); JAK inhibitors (tofacitinib); and biological therapies such as tumor necrosis factor inhibitors (anti-TNFs; infliximab, adalimumab, certolizumab pegol, and golimumab), anti-integrin antibody (vedolizumab), and anti-IL-12/23 antibody (ustekinumab)[4]. As anti-TNFs are widely used therapies, their adverse effects should be recognized in a timely manner to avoid patient morbidity and mortality. They are administered for the induction and maintenance of therapy in patients who fail to respond to conventional therapy. Infliximab, adalimumab, and certolizumab pegol are approved for use in CD. and infliximab, adalimumab, and golimumab, in UC[4]. Contraindications to their use include active infection, demyelinating disease, cancer, and heart failure (HF) [absolute in the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional classification III-IV][5]. This review aims to discuss adverse events due to the use of anti-TNF therapy, with a focus on HF. Additionally, we performed a literature review on cases of HF secondary to the use of anti-TNFs in patients with IBD.

ADVERSE EVENTS WITH USE OF ANTI-TNF THERAPY

Infliximab is a human-mouse chimeric monoclonal antibody administered intravenously. Adalimumab and golimumab are fully humanized monoclonal antibodies that are injected subcutaneously. Certolizumab pegol is a conjugated Fab antibody fragment administered subcutaneously. In CD, anti-TNFs (infliximab, adalimumab, and certolizumab pegol) are indicated for inducing remission in moderate-tosevere disease with inadequate response or intolerance to conventional therapy (steroids and/or thiopurines). They are effective in patients who are biological therapy-naive and biological therapyrefractive. Patients who achieved remission with anti-TNF agents need to continue the maintenance treatment. The effects of suspending anti-TNF therapy after long-term remission are not established; therefore, the decision must be individualized. In cases of complex perianal fistulas, the use of infliximab or adalimumab is recommended for induction and maintenance^[4]. In UC, anti-TNFs are recommended in cases of moderate-to-severe active colitis, along with adalimumab, golimumab, or infliximab for inducing remission[6]. These drugs are recommended as maintenance therapy with or without thiopurines in patients who attained remission. In severe acute colitis refractory to intravenous steroids, infliximab may be a therapeutic rescue therapy[6,7]. Hypersensitivity reactions are among the most common adverse events with administration of anti-TNFs; they are either acute (during or within 24 h of the infusion) or delayed (24 h to 14 d after the infusion)[8]. The acute reactions are rapid in approximately 2% of the reactions, but < 1% lead to a severe reaction[9]. The presence of antibodies against infliximab increases the risk of infusion reactions[10], and case studies suggest that hypersensitivity to adalimumab is also due to the presence of anti-drug antibodies[11].



Neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and anemia are also observed. Neutropenia may occur due to a blockade of TNF α (regulates proinflammatory factors involved in the differentiation and maturation of hematopoietic progenitor cells) that may mediate marrow failure due to inhibition of stem cell differentiation[12,13]. Isolated thrombocytopenia after administration of anti-TNF therapy has been reported by Salar *et al*[14] in 2007 and Casanova *et al*[15] in 2012, respectively; however, the cause/effect mechanism remains unclear. It may be related to autoimmune platelet destruction secondary to antiplatelet antibodies, immune complexes, or an idiosyncratic reaction. Anemia related to the use of anti-TNF remains debatable. Some studies have reported aplastic anemia due to administration of infliximab in rheumatoid arthritis[16] and infliximab-induced autoimmune hemolytic anemia[17].

Further, dermatological manifestations, such as eczema, psoriasis, infections, acne, dermatitis, and other erythema, are also reported. Psoriasis is a common adverse effect of anti-TNF therapy, occurring in approximately 1.5%–5% of the patients, mostly women, within an average of 2–6 mo after starting the therapy[18,19]. Autoimmune disorders, such as lupus-like syndrome, vasculitis, antiphospholipid syndrome, sarcoidosis, interstitial lung disease, optic neuritis, inflammatory eye disease, central nervous system demyelination, and peripheral neuropathies, are also reported[20]. Demyelination may occur, but it is unclear whether there is a causal relationship[21]. As anti-TNFs are immunosuppressive agents, they can increase the risk of infections of bacterial, viral, or fungal origin. Uncommon infections, such as listeriosis, have also been linked to the administration of anti-TNF therapy, with a higher risk in the first year of therapy[22,23]. Anti-TNFs can reactivate latent tuberculosis in immunocompromised individuals, emphasizing the importance of screening with clinical history, chest X-rays, and tuberculin tests before initiation of the therapy [24,25]. A high risk of infection with varicella zoster virus is observed in patients with IBD, and those receiving anti-TNF have a high risk of herpes zoster[26]. However, screening for a herpes virus infection is not required before the initiation of therapy[25]. Hepatitis B virus reactivation can also occur during anti-TNF therapy or after its withdrawal[27]. In the case of hepatitis C, biological agents do not present with a contraindication during concomitant infection and have a good safety profile; however, they are contraindicated in acute infections[28]. In patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, the risk/benefit of administering anti-TNFs should be weighed due to the increased risk of opportunistic infections[29]. Screening for hepatitis B and C viruses and HIV with serological tests is also recommended[25]. The possibility of cytomegalovirus infection recurrence by reactivation of latent infection is low after the use of biological therapy in most cases[8]. Screening before therapy is not required[25]. Fungal infections related to anti-TNF use are also reported, particularly in those with risk factors, such as opioid use, leukopenia, advanced age, and more severe disease [30]. The blocking of TNF α possibly alters the cytotoxic immune response to fungal infections[31]. Warris et al[32] reported a case of pulmonary aspergillosis in a patient with CD receiving infliximab. Histoplasmosis was also reported in a case series by Lee et al[33] after infliximab infusions in immunocompromised patients.

Malignancies (mainly non-melanoma skin cancer, melanoma, and lymphomas) are reported in patients with IBD due to chronic intestinal inflammation and the carcinogenic effects of immunosuppressive drugs[8,34,35]. TNF can trigger apoptosis by activating caspases, and its inhibition can lead to growth and/or metastases and tumor recurrence[36]. However, whether the use of anti-TNF monotherapy increases the overall risk of cancer in patients with IBD remains unclear[37]. Studies conducted by Biancone *et al*[38,39], Caspersen *et al*[40], and Fidder *et al*[41] failed to observe an increased risk of lymphoma, leukemia, or other hematologic malignancies with the use of anti-TNF monotherapy. Cardiovascular effects have also been reported, including HF, as discussed below.

HEART FAILURE

HF is a clinical syndrome secondary to the inability of the heart to pump sufficient blood to supply peripheral metabolic demands or to do so under increased filling pressures. Acute HF (AHF) has been increasingly described as a condition with unique pathophysiology, distinct from that of chronic heart failure, and is among the most common causes of hospitalization in the elderly[42]. The patients can be categorized into new-onset (de novo) HF and worsening chronic HF. The latter accounts for the greater number of hospitalizations. Patients with de novo HF may have no prior risk factors, such as in myocarditis, but more commonly have preexisting conditions that favor the development of HF, or present with structural heart diseases without overt symptoms. Those with chronic HF may have precipitating factors for decompensation, including infections, poor adherence to treatment, and medications for other comorbidities[42,43]. Data on pathophysiology of AHF suggests that, apart from the architectural changes in the left ventricle due to increasing filling pressure and activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, the inflammatory activation plays a pathogenic role in the progression of HF due to association with increasing stiffness of the vessels that leads to HF decompensation[42-48]. Several conditions may be classified as risk factors for HF, including ischemic heart disease, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, smoking, hypertensive heart disease, valvular heart disease, Chagas disease, congenital heart disease, and deposit diseases[49].

HF is diagnosed after thorough anamnesis, investigation of personal risk factors, family history, and current symptoms, such as dyspnea, edema of the lower extremities, orthopnea, paroxysmal night dyspnea, and palpitations^[42]. The general clinical examination may indicate an increase in the respiratory rate and a decrease in oxygenation levels, edema, cachexia, and signs of poor perfusion, such as altered mental status. A detailed examination may indicate an increased jugular pulse, reflecting the increased left ventricle filling pressure, auscultation of the S3 and S4, along with mitral regurgitation murmur due to dilation of the left ventricle. The signs of pulmonary congestion include crackling sound on inspiration and dullness of the lung bases on percussion due to pleural effusion. The abdominal examination may show hepatomegaly due to an increase in central venous pressure, along with ascites due to right HF[50-52]. Patients should also be assessed using complementary tests, including renal function, levels of N-terminal-pro hormone B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-pro BNP), and electrolytes. The imaging examinations include electrocardiogram, chest radiography, and echocardiogram[53-56]. The treatment for AHF depends on whether the patient presents with congestion, low output, or both. Four hemodynamical profiles have been postulated for better organization of the medications employed in the early management of AHF, as demonstrated below and summarized in Figure 1[57,58].

It is also important to assess patient's prognosis on admission to determine the requirement of advanced HF therapy, such as implantable cardiac devices or heart transplant[59]. Patients are considered to have worst prognosis if they are aged > 65 years; have a history of multiple hospitalizations; fail to adhere to treatment; present with functional classification NYHA III or IV; and have cachexia, syncope, sleep apnea, type II diabetes, or depression. Other factors include having had a reversed cardiac arrest; having pulmonary disease or cognitive dysfunction; having poor perfusion, congestion, tachycardia, persistent hypotension or low tolerance to exercise; having altered electrolyte levels, such as sodium < 130; having elevated BNP, troponin, or cytokines; having hemoglobin < 11 g/ dL, creatine > 2.75 mg/dL, or urea 92 mg/dL; and showing atrial fibrillation in electrocardiogram, complete left bundle block, alternating T wave, long QT, low heart rate variability, progressive left ventricle dilatation, ejection fraction < 30%, right ventricle dysfunction, mitral or tricuspid regurgitation, restrictive pattern or decreased cardiac output, increase in pulmonary pressures, and peripheral vascular resistance[59].

HEART FAILURE AS AN ADVERSE EVENT OF ANTI-TNF USE

 $TNF\alpha$ is found in both healthy and damaged hearts. Thus, it is challenging to understand its mechanisms of action. It binds to two different receptors: TNFα receptor-1 (TNFR1) and -2 (TNFR2) that are generally expressed on the heart cells [60,61]. In HF, TNF α induces β -adrenergic receptor uncoupling, increases oxidation and formation of nitric oxide, increases levels of inflammatory cytokines, and downregulates levels of contractile proteins, thus contributing to myocardial dysfunction. Long-term TNFα signaling leads to alterations in the heart geometry due to hypertrophy, apoptosis, and fibrosis [62]. The role of $TNF\alpha$ in HF pathophysiology is complex. Its effects are concentration-dependent and function via two different pathways: Survivor activating factor enhancement (SAFE) pathway functioning under low TNFα concentrations, and death-promoting pathway functioning in high TNFα concentrations. The SAFE pathway involves stimulation of other cytokines, such as cardiotrophin-1, that act on glycoprotein 130 receptor, leading to eccentric hypertrophy due to sarcomere organization in series. This pathway is observed in athletes with left ventricle hypertrophy[63-65]. In addition to the concentration of $TNF\alpha$, its repercussion on the cardiac muscle depends on the receptor that it binds to as binding to TNFR1 may be cardio-damaging and binding to TNFR2 may be cardioprotective[60,66,67]. The mechanisms of HF caused by the use of anti-TNF are summarized in Figure 2.

Studies with animal models have suggested that TNFR1 Levels are upregulated after myocardial infarction without change in TNFR2 Levels. Other studies showed an absence of cardio-protection in acute ischemic models of TNFR1- and TNFR2-knockout rats, suggesting the involvement of both the receptors for maintaining a healthy heart[68,69]. In another knockout model study, Hamid et al[70] explored the left ventricle remodeling after myocardial infarction; the study indicated that TNFR1 knockout improved the left ventricle ejection fraction, reduced left ventricle dilatation through cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and apoptosis, and also decreased fibrosis and inflammation. In contrast, knockout of TNFR2 reversed the effects, suggesting a strong protective role of TNFR2. However, knockout of both the receptors increased survival rates, reduced reactive oxygen species formation, and improved diastolic left ventricle pressure; thus, this indicated the ambivalence of role of TNFRs on the heart health[68-70]. Further, Cacciapaglia et al[5] developed an in vitro model for TNFα preconditioning, exposing the cardiac cells to a lower dose of TNFa. The results suggested that the cells developed more resistance to subsequent TNFa toxic dose exposure and conferred more protection against oxidation and apoptosis.

From animal models to human randomized control trials, the concept of cardiac detrimental effects of TNFRs inspired the studies ATTACH, RECOVER, and RENAISSANCE (the last two are combined as RENEWAL) that were designed to understand the effects of infliximab and etanercept on HF with optimized clinical treatment. The ATTACH study failed to observe improvement and, surprisingly,



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.217 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Clinical profiles of acute heart failure. Patients with acute heart failure present differently at admission depending on the degree of congestion and hypoperfusion of the tissues. Such profile differentiation provides guided treatment with better outcomes.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.217 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Mechanisms of heart failure caused by the use of anti-tumor necrosis factor agents. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a is found in both healthy and damaged hearts and its effects are concentration dependent via two pathways: The survivor activating factor enhancement pathway working at low concentrations and the death-promoting pathway working at high concentrations. In addition to the concentration, its repercussion in the muscle depends on the receptor to which TNFα-1 (TNFR1) and -2 (TNFR2) binds, with the latter being cardioprotective. Thus, it is suggested that the development/worsening of heart failure in patients using anti-TNF is due to a suppression of the cardioprotective concentration of TNFa, making cardiomyocytes susceptible to apoptosis and oxidation or also to selective cytotoxicity.

> indicated worsening of HF after therapy discontinuation. The RENAISSANCE study also showed an increased hazard ratio for the worsening of HF in the treatment group than that in the control group [71]. The disappointing clinical results, along with evidence from experimental models, suggest that the current rationale for the worsening of HF while administering anti-TNF α is that the dose employed in the randomized controlled trials abolishes the cardioprotective concentration of $TNF\alpha$, therefore making the cardiomyocytes susceptible to apoptosis and oxidation[5]. A consensus is lacking on whether TNFa functions as a parallel phenomenon to, and not the cause for, HF, along with a possible selective cytotoxicity of anti-TNF α on cardiomyocytes in HF[62]. A study by Chung *et al*[72] evaluated the safety of infliximab in patients (*n* = 150) with moderate-to-severe HF (NYHA III or IV). The patients randomly received placebo, infliximab 5 mg/kg, and infliximab 10 mg/kg at 0, 2 and 6 wk and were followed for 28 wk. There was no improvement in the clinical status of patients who received infliximab at 14 wk, and after 28 wk, there were more hospitalizations in the infliximab 10 mg/kg group (n = 20) due to worsening of the HF condition, along with adverse clinical events persisting for up to 5 mo after discontinuation of therapy. Abedin et al^[73] reported a case of acute coronary syndrome after infliximab infusion in a patient without previous heart disease. The patient was a 49-year-old Hispanic woman with rheumatoid arthritis and previously well-controlled hypertension. She presented to the emergency department 10 min after the start of infliximab infusion (20 mg had been infused). The patient had no other risk factors and no family history of coronary artery disease.

> Kwon et al [74] followed patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, and CD who were treated with an anti-TNF agent (etanercept or infliximab). A total of 47 patients developed HF; of these, 81% had no previous symptoms and 19% had worsening of preexisting symptoms. Among those who



developed HF, 50% had no risk factors. The median interval between the first infusion of anti-TNF and diagnosis of HF was 3.5 mo (24 h to 24 mo). Keating et al [75] reported a case of anti-TNF-induced AHF. The 32-year-old patient had hypothyroidism and a bicuspid aortic valve and presented with Turner syndrome and CD. Biological therapy with adalimumab was initiated due to no response to budesonide. Examination indicated a transthoracic echocardiogram with normal ejection classification (> 55%). Eighteen weeks after administering adalimumab, the patient was admitted to the emergency department with edema and dyspnea. Further, we reported a case of AHF 6 mo after administering infliximab in a 50-year-old woman with CD and diabetes and a previous history of arterial hypertension. The patient presented with cardiac symptoms after optimization of the infliximab dose (10 mg/ kg)[76]. The standard treatment is administered after diagnosis of HF due to anti-TNF α therapy. The current guidelines show evidence of the best prognosis for therapy for HF with low ejection fraction, while specific treatment for preserved ejection HF is unavailable. Treatment for low ejection fraction HF includes angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, beta-blockers, aldosterone inhibitor, and, more recently, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors. Symptomatic medication includes diuretics, vasodilators, and digoxin. AHF may require intravenous administration of inotropes and vasopressors[77]. Studies have suggested that the use of anti-TNFs should be discontinued, and a new class of medication should be selected for treatment of the primary disease; these studies also highlighted a lack of specific guidelines for the management of cardiovascular disease in patients with IBD[8,78,79]. Some therapeutic options for the treatment of IBD in case of adverse reactions to anti-TNFs include Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors (tofacitinib), anti-IL-12/ 23 antibody (ustekinumab), and anti-integrin antibody (vedolizumab).

Tofacitinib can be used in patients with moderate-to-severe UC who are intolerant or refractory to treatment with anti-TNFs. Despite its ease of rapid onset of action, oral administration, and low immunogenicity, it is also having risks such as venous thromboembolism and hyperlipidemia[80]. However, long-term data on adverse cardiovascular events with tofacitinib are lacking in patients with IBD, and it remains unclear whether the risk of venous thromboembolism is disease- or drug-related [79]. Ustekinumab, a monoclonal antibody, is an option in patients with CD and with moderate-tosevere UC intolerant or refractory to anti-TNFs. In IBD, the relationship of cardiovascular events in these patients is unclear [81,82]. Vedolizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody, is also an option in patients with CD and with moderate-to-severe UC refractory or intolerant to anti-TNFs, with better outcomes in patients not treated with anti-TNFs[83,84]. Randomized and observational studies have not reported an increase in cardiovascular events in patients with IBD[85-88]; however, an increase in cerebrovascular events, such as stroke and cerebral hemorrhage, is reported^[79]. The selection of the most appropriate medication in this scenario is challenging. The clinicians should carefully analyze the different medication classes available, with their safety and efficacy profiles, to define a personalized treatment strategy for each patient, considering risk factors inherent to the patient and the proposed medication, while aiming for the best outcome.

CONCLUSION

The recommendations for HF screening prior to IBD treatment with anti-TNF α drugs are lacking. Some guidelines suggest screening, while others only mention avoidance of biological drugs when a patient presents with class III/IV HF. The European Crohn's and Colitis Organization (ECCO) reports that patients with IBD have a modest increase in the risk of ischemic heart disease, especially in women; however, they have not mentioned requirement of screening tests for cardiovascular diseases before administration of biological therapy [1,4,7,89,90]. The guidelines of the American College of Gastroenterology and the Brazilian Consensus on Inflammatory Bowel Diseases have also not provided recommendations for screening these patients[6,91,92]. The guidelines of the British Society of Gastroenterology recommend that the use of anti-TNFs be contraindicated in cases of congestive HF and that screening be performed before starting treatment; however, they have no suggestions on the best strategies for screening[93]. Considering the indication of anti-TNF α drugs for other immune mediated diseases, although with a very low certainty, guidelines on rheumatoid arthritis recommend the following strategies: Inclusion of a non-TNF inhibitor in place of a TNF inhibitor for patients with NYHA class III or IV HF and also switching to a non-TNF inhibitor instead of a TNF inhibitor for patients who develop HF[94]. The stratification of patients with HF should not be challenging as a simple clinical examination is sufficient to identify patients with NYHA classes III and IV disease. However, issues arise when the patients present with severe HF and are oligosymptomatic, especially if they are not accustomed to exerting themselves on a regular basis. As patients may develop HF after pregnancy, viral infections, or alcohol abuse, yet not present with any symptoms consistent with NYHA III or IV, this makes them susceptible to underdiagnosis. Taken together, in the absence of evidence supporting heart disease screening prior to initiating anti-TNFa drugs, and considering the current availability of a low-cost, radiation-free test that can easily assess the patient's heart function, such as echocardiogram, we recommend that an initial cardiac evaluation be a part of the patients' routine care. We suggest increasing employment of an echocardiogram for diagnosing HF prior to initiating



treatment. This strategy may prevent the incidence of adverse events in patients receiving this treatment. We hope that this review highlights this topic and would encourage future studies to clarify the benefits of using HF screening tools in patients with IBD prior to the use of anti-TNF medications to control inflammatory processes and restore quality of life, without causing further damage to the patients. It is reinforced that anti-TNF therapy has changed the course of treatment for IBD and other immune-mediated diseases in recent decades, altering its progressive and disabling course. Due to the more frequent use of these therapies, concerns about safety arise, and this article reinforces the importance of studying the subject in greater depth, including investigating the role of cardiac receptors and their relationship with the appearance of adverse events in these patients. Another point worth mentioning is the need for new algorithms and protocols, especially for populations at risk, in order to avoid the unwanted effects of the prescribed therapy.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Grillo TG, Silveira CFDSMP, Quaglio AEV, Dutra RM, Baima JP, and Bazan SGZ undertook the majority of the writing; Sassaki LY designed the outline and coordinated the writing of the paper; all authors revised the manuscript for important intellectual content and approved the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Brazil

ORCID number: Thais Gagno Grillo 0000-0002-4351-5034; Caroline Ferreira da Silva Mazeto Pupo Silveira 0000-0001-7132-2654; Ana Elisa Valencise Quaglio 0000-0002-5998-2382; Renata de Medeiros Dutra 0000-0002-0060-6155; Julio Pinheiro Baima 0000-0002-4035-3113; Silmeia Garcia Zanati Bazan 0000-0002-0607-8189; Ligia Yukie Sassaki 0000-0002-7319-8906.

S-Editor: Xing YX L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Magro F, Gionchetti P, Eliakim R, Ardizzone S, Armuzzi A, Barreiro-de Acosta M, Burisch J, Geese KB, Hart AL, Hindryckx P, Langner C, Limdi JK, Pellino G, Zagórowicz E, Raine T, Harbord M, Rieder F. European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation [ECCO]. Third European Evidence-based Consensus on Diagnosis and Management of Ulcerative Colitis. Part 1: Definitions, Diagnosis, Extra-intestinal Manifestations, Pregnancy, Cancer Surveillance, Surgery, and Ileoanal Pouch Disorders. J Crohns Colitis 2017; 11: 649-670 [PMID: 28158501 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx008]
- Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. 2 Gastroenterology 2011; 140: 1785-1794 [PMID: 21530745 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.055]
- Sairenji T, Collins KL, Evans DV. An Update on Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Prim Care 2017; 44: 673-692 [PMID: 3 29132528 DOI: 10.1016/j.pop.2017.07.010]
- Torres J, Bonovas S, Doherty G, Kucharzik T, Gisbert JP, Raine T, Adamina M, Armuzzi A, Bachmann O, Bager P, 4 Biancone L, Bokemeyer B, Bossuyt P, Burisch J, Collins P, El-Hussuna A, Ellul P, Frei-Lanter C, Furfaro F, Gingert C, Gionchetti P, Gomollon F, González-Lorenzo M, Gordon H, Hlavaty T, Juillerat P, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, Krustins E, Lytras T, Maaser C, Magro F, Marshall JK, Myrelid P, Pellino G, Rosa I, Sabino J, Savarino E, Spinelli A, Stassen L, Uzzan M, Vavricka S, Verstockt B, Warusavitarne J, Zmora O, Fiorino G. ECCO Guidelines on Therapeutics in Crohn's Disease: Medical Treatment. J Crohns Colitis 2020; 14: 4-22 [PMID: 31711158 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz180]
- Cacciapaglia F, Navarini L, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, Minotti G, Afeltra A. Cardiovascular safety of anti-TNF-alpha 5 therapies: facts and unsettled issues. Autoimmun Rev 2011; 10: 631-635 [PMID: 21539939 DOI: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.04.014]
- Rubin DT, Ananthakrishnan AN, Siegel CA, Sauer BG, Long MD. ACG Clinical Guideline: Ulcerative Colitis in Adults. 6 Am J Gastroenterol 2019; 114: 384-413 [PMID: 30840605 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000152]
- Harbord M, Eliakim R, Bettenworth D, Karmiris K, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, Kucharzik T, Molnár T, Raine T, Sebastian S, de Sousa HT, Dignass A, Carbonnel F; European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation [ECCO]. Third European Evidencebased Consensus on Diagnosis and Management of Ulcerative Colitis. Part 2: Current Management. J Crohns Colitis 2017; 11: 769-784 [PMID: 28513805 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx009]
- Shivaji UN, Sharratt CL, Thomas T, Smith SCL, Iacucci M, Moran GW, Ghosh S, Bhala N. Review article: managing the 8 adverse events caused by anti-TNF therapy in inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019; 49: 664-680



[PMID: 30735257 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15097]

- Cheifetz A, Smedley M, Martin S, Reiter M, Leone G, Mayer L, Plevy S. The incidence and management of infusion 9 reactions to infliximab: a large center experience. Am J Gastroenterol 2003; 98: 1315-1324 [PMID: 12818276 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003.07457.x
- Ricart E, Panaccione R, Loftus EV, Tremaine WJ, Sandborn WJ. Infliximab for Crohn's disease in clinical practice at the 10 Mayo Clinic: the first 100 patients. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 722-729 [PMID: 11280541 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2001.03612.x]
- Steenholdt C, Svenson M, Bendtzen K, Thomsen OØ, Brynskov J, Ainsworth MA. Acute and delayed hypersensitivity 11 reactions to infliximab and adalimumab in a patient with Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis 2012; 6: 108-111 [PMID: 22261535 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2011.08.001]
- Beutler BA. The role of tumor necrosis factor in health and disease. J Rheumatol Suppl 1999; 57: 16-21 [PMID: 12 103281381
- Keystone EC. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 13 2001; 27: 427-443 [PMID: 11396102 DOI: 10.1016/s0889-857x(05)70211-8]
- Salar A, Bessa X, Muñiz E, Monfort D, Besses C, Andreu M. Infliximab and adalimumab-induced thrombocytopenia in a 14 woman with colonic Crohn's disease. Gut 2007; 56: 1169-1170 [PMID: 17344276 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.123547]
- Casanova MJ, Chaparro M, Martínez S, Vicuña I, Gisbert JP. Severe adalimumab-induced thrombocytopenia in a patient 15 with Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis 2012; 6: 1034-1037 [PMID: 22534313 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2012.04.001]
- Bessissow T, Renard M, Hoffman I, Vermeire S, Rutgeerts P, Van Assche G. Review article: non-malignant 16 haematological complications of anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2012; 36: 312-323 [PMID: 22725726 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.05189.x]
- Vermeire S, Noman M, Van Assche G, Baert F, Van Steen K, Esters N, Joossens S, Bossuyt X, Rutgeerts P. Autoimmunity associated with anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha treatment in Crohn's disease: a prospective cohort study. Gastroenterology 2003; 125: 32-39 [PMID: 12851868 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5085(03)00701-7]
- 18 Iborra M, Beltrán B, Bastida G, Aguas M, Nos P. Infliximab and adalimumab-induced psoriasis in Crohn's disease: a paradoxical side effect. J Crohns Colitis 2011; 5: 157-161 [PMID: 21453886 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2010.11.001]
- Moran GW, Lim AW, Bailey JL, Dubeau MF, Leung Y, Devlin SM, Novak K, Kaplan GG, Iacucci M, Seow C, Martin 19 L, Panaccione R, Ghosh S. Review article: dermatological complications of immunosuppressive and anti-TNF therapy in inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2013; 8: 1002-1024 [PMID: 24099467 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12491]
- Prinz JC. Autoimmune-like syndromes during TNF blockade: does infection have a role? Nat Rev Rheumatol 2011; 7: 20 429-434 [PMID: 21448162 DOI: 10.1038/nrrheum.2011.35]
- Deepak P, Stobaugh DJ, Sherid M, Sifuentes H, Ehrenpreis ED. Neurological events with tumour necrosis factor alpha 21 inhibitors reported to the Food and Drug Administration Adverse Event Reporting System. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2013; 38: 388-396 [PMID: 23802849 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12385]
- Dixon WG, Symmons DP, Lunt M, Watson KD, Hyrich KL; British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register Control 22 Centre Consortium; Silman AJ; British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register. Serious infection following antitumor necrosis factor alpha therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: lessons from interpreting data from observational studies. Arthritis Rheum 2007; 56: 2896-2904 [PMID: 17763441 DOI: 10.1002/art.22808]
- Bodro M, Paterson DL. Listeriosis in patients receiving biologic therapies. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2013; 32: 23 1225-1230 [PMID: 23568606 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-013-1873-1]
- British Thoracic Society Standards of Care Committee. BTS recommendations for assessing risk and for managing 24 Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection and disease in patients due to start anti-TNF-alpha treatment. Thorax 2005; 60: 800-805 [PMID: 16055611 DOI: 10.1136/thx.2005.046797]
- Rahier JF, Magro F, Abreu C, Armuzzi A, Ben-Horin S, Chowers Y, Cottone M, de Ridder L, Doherty G, Ehehalt R, 25 Esteve M, Katsanos K, Lees CW, Macmahon E, Moreels T, Reinisch W, Tilg H, Tremblay L, Veereman-Wauters G, Viget N, Yazdanpanah Y, Eliakim R, Colombel JF. European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation (ECCO). Second European evidence-based consensus on the prevention, diagnosis and management of opportunistic infections in inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis 2014; 8: 443-468 [PMID: 24613021 DOI: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.12.013]
- Long MD, Martin C, Sandler RS, Kappelman MD. Increased risk of herpes zoster among 108 604 patients with 26 inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2013; 37: 420-429 [PMID: 23240738 DOI: 10.1111/apt.12182]
- Wendling D, Auge B, Bettinger D, Lohse A, Le Huede G, Bresson-Hadni S, Toussirot E, Miguet JP, Herbein G, Di 27 Martino V. Reactivation of a latent precore mutant hepatitis B virus related chronic hepatitis during infliximab treatment for severe spondyloarthropathy. Ann Rheum Dis 2005; 64: 788-789 [PMID: 15834064 DOI: 10.1136/ard.2004.031187]
- Nathan DM, Angus PW, Gibson PR. Hepatitis B and C virus infections and anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha therapy: 28 guidelines for clinical approach. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 21: 1366-1371 [PMID: 16911678 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2006.04559.x]
- Toruner M, Loftus EV Jr, Harmsen WS, Zinsmeister AR, Orenstein R, Sandborn WJ, Colombel JF, Egan LJ. Risk factors 29 for opportunistic infections in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 929-936 [PMID: 18294633 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.01.012]
- Stamatiades GA, Ioannou P, Petrikkos G, Tsioutis C. Fungal infections in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: A 30 systematic review. Mycoses 2018; 61: 366-376 [PMID: 29453860 DOI: 10.1111/myc.12753]
- Roilides E, Dimitriadou-Georgiadou A, Sein T, Kadiltsoglou I, Walsh TJ. Tumor necrosis factor alpha enhances 31 antifungal activities of polymorphonuclear and mononuclear phagocytes against Aspergillus fumigatus. Infect Immun 1998; 66: 5999-6003 [PMID: 9826384 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.66.12.5999-6003.1998]
- 32 Warris A, Bjørneklett A, Gaustad P. Invasive pulmonary aspergillosis associated with infliximab therapy. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 1099-1100 [PMID: 11291675]
- Lee JH, Slifman NR, Gershon SK, Edwards ET, Schwieterman WD, Siegel JN, Wise RP, Brown SL, Udall JN Jr, Braun 33 MM. Life-threatening histoplasmosis complicating immunotherapy with tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonists infliximab and etanercept. Arthritis Rheum 2002; 46: 2565-2570 [PMID: 12384912 DOI: 10.1002/art.10583]



- Beaugerie L. Inflammatory bowel disease therapies and cancer risk: where are we and where are we going? Gut 2012; 61: 34 476-483 [PMID: 22157331 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301133]
- Beaugerie L, Itzkowitz SH. Cancers complicating inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 1441-1452 35 [PMID: 25853748 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1403718]
- Danial NN, Korsmeyer SJ. Cell death: critical control points. Cell 2004; 116: 205-219 [PMID: 14744432 DOI: 36 10.1016/s0092-8674(04)00046-7]
- Nyboe Andersen N, Pasternak B, Basit S, Andersson M, Svanström H, Caspersen S, Munkholm P, Hviid A, Jess T. 37 Association between tumor necrosis factor-a antagonists and risk of cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. JAMA 2014; 311: 2406-2413 [PMID: 24938563 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.5613]
- Biancone L, Orlando A, Kohn A, Colombo E, Sostegni R, Angelucci E, Rizzello F, Castiglione F, Benazzato L, Papi C, 38 Meucci G, Riegler G, Petruzziello C, Mocciaro F, Geremia A, Calabrese E, Cottone M, Pallone F. Infliximab and newly diagnosed neoplasia in Crohn's disease: a multicentre matched pair study. Gut 2006; 55: 228-233 [PMID: 16120759 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2005.075937]
- Biancone L, Petruzziello C, Orlando A, Kohn A, Ardizzone S, Daperno M, Angelucci E, Castiglione F, D'Incà R, Zorzi F, 39 Papi C, Meucci G, Riegler G, Sica G, Rizzello F, Mocciaro F, Onali S, Calabrese E, Cottone M, Pallone F. Cancer in Crohn's Disease patients treated with infliximab: a long-term multicenter matched pair study. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2011; 17: 758-766 [PMID: 20684009 DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21416]
- Caspersen S, Elkjaer M, Riis L, Pedersen N, Mortensen C, Jess T, Sarto P, Hansen TS, Wewer V, Bendtsen F, Moesgaard 40 F, Munkholm P; Danish Crohn Colitis Database. Infliximab for inflammatory bowel disease in Denmark 1999-2005: clinical outcome and follow-up evaluation of malignancy and mortality. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 6: 1212-1217 [PMID: 18848503 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2008.05.010]
- Fidder H, Schnitzler F, Ferrante M, Noman M, Katsanos K, Segaert S, Henckaerts L, Van Assche G, Vermeire S, 41 Rutgeerts P. Long-term safety of infliximab for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: a single-centre cohort study. Gut 2009; 58: 501-508 [PMID: 18832524 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2008.163642]
- 42 Hunt SA, Abraham WT, Chin MH, Feldman AM, Francis GS, Ganiats TG, Jessup M, Konstam MA, Mancini DM, Michl K, Oates JA, Rahko PS, Silver MA, Stevenson LW, Yancy CW, Antman EM, Smith SC Jr, Adams CD, Anderson JL, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Halperin JL, Hiratzka LF, Jacobs AK, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B; American College of Cardiology; American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines; American College of Chest Physicians; International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation; Heart Rhythm Society. ACC/AHA 2005 Guideline Update for the Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Heart Failure in the Adult: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Update the 2001 Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure): developed in collaboration with the American College of Chest Physicians and the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: endorsed by the Heart Rhythm Society. Circulation 2005; 112: e154-235 [PMID: 16160202 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.167586]
- Yancy CW, Lopatin M, Stevenson LW, De Marco T, Fonarow GC; ADHERE Scientific Advisory Committee and 43 Investigators. Clinical presentation, management, and in-hospital outcomes of patients admitted with acute decompensated heart failure with preserved systolic function: a report from the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE) Database. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47: 76-84 [PMID: 16386668 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.09.022]
- 44 Bozkurt B, Mann DL, Deswal A. Biomarkers of inflammation in heart failure. Heart Fail Rev 2010; 15: 331-341 [PMID: 19363700 DOI: 10.1007/s10741-009-9140-31
- Janssen SP, Gayan-Ramirez G, Van den Bergh A, Herijgers P, Maes K, Verbeken E, Decramer M. Interleukin-6 causes 45 myocardial failure and skeletal muscle atrophy in rats. Circulation 2005; 111: 996-1005 [PMID: 15710765 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000156469.96135.0D]
- Pagani FD, Baker LS, Hsi C, Knox M, Fink MP, Visner MS. Left ventricular systolic and diastolic dysfunction after 46 infusion of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in conscious dogs. J Clin Invest 1992; 90: 389-398 [PMID: 1644912 DOI: 10.1172/JCI115873]
- 47 Vlachopoulos C, Dima I, Aznaouridis K, Vasiliadou C, Ioakeimidis N, Aggeli C, Toutouza M, Stefanadis C. Acute systemic inflammation increases arterial stiffness and decreases wave reflections in healthy individuals. Circulation 2005; 112: 2193-2200 [PMID: 16186422 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.535435]
- Milo O, Cotter G, Kaluski E, Brill A, Blatt A, Krakover R, Vered Z, Hershkoviz R. Comparison of inflammatory and 48 neurohormonal activation in cardiogenic pulmonary edema secondary to ischemic versus nonischemic causes. Am J Cardiol 2003; 92: 222-226 [PMID: 12860231 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9149(03)00545-9]
- Ziaeian B, Fonarow GC. Epidemiology and aetiology of heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol 2016; 13: 368-378 [PMID: 49 26935038 DOI: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.25]
- Mebazaa A, Pang PS, Tavares M, Collins SP, Storrow AB, Laribi S, Andre S, Mark Courtney D, Hasa J, Spinar J, Masip 50 J, Frank Peacock W, Sliwa K, Gayat E, Filippatos G, Cleland JG, Gheorghiade M. The impact of early standard therapy on dyspnoea in patients with acute heart failure: the URGENT-dyspnoea study. Eur Heart J 2010; 31: 832-841 [PMID: 19906690 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp458]
- Aronson D, Burger AJ. Relation between pulse pressure and survival in patients with decompensated heart failure. Am J Cardiol 2004; 93: 785-788 [PMID: 15019896 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2003.12.011]
- 52 Fonarow GC, Albert NM, Curtis AB, Stough WG, Gheorghiade M, Heywood JT, McBride ML, Inge PJ, Mehra MR, O'Connor CM, Reynolds D, Walsh MN, Yancy CW. Improving evidence-based care for heart failure in outpatient cardiology practices: primary results of the Registry to Improve the Use of Evidence-Based Heart Failure Therapies in the Outpatient Setting (IMPROVE HF). Circulation 2010; 122: 585-596 [PMID: 20660805 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.934471
- Wang NC, Maggioni AP, Konstam MA, Zannad F, Krasa HB, Burnett JC Jr, Grinfeld L, Swedberg K, Udelson JE, Cook 53 T, Traver B, Zimmer C, Orlandi C, Gheorghiade M; Efficacy of Vasopressin Antagonism in Heart Failure Outcome Study With Tolvaptan (EVEREST) Investigators. Clinical implications of QRS duration in patients hospitalized with worsening heart failure and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction. JAMA 2008; 299: 2656-2666 [PMID: 18544725 DOI:



10.1001/jama.299.22.2656

- 54 Collins SP, Lindsell CJ, Storrow AB, Abraham WT; ADHERE Scientific Advisory Committee, Investigators and Study Group. Prevalence of negative chest radiography results in the emergency department patient with decompensated heart failure. Ann Emerg Med 2006; 47: 13-18 [PMID: 16387212 DOI: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2005.04.003]
- Seghatol FF, Shah DJ, Diluzio S, Bello D, Johnson MR, Cotts WG, O'Donohue JA, Bonow RO, Gheorghiade M, Rigolin 55 VH. Relation between contractile reserve and improvement in left ventricular function with beta-blocker therapy in patients with heart failure secondary to ischemic or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 2004; 93: 854-859 [PMID: 15050488 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2003.12.023]
- Tavazzi L, Maggioni AP, Lucci D, Cacciatore G, Ansalone G, Oliva F, Porcu M; Italian survey on Acute Heart Failure 56 Investigators. Nationwide survey on acute heart failure in cardiology ward services in Italy. Eur Heart J 2006; 27: 1207-1215 [PMID: 16603579 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi845]
- 57 Forrester JS, Diamond G, Chatterjee K, Swan HJ. Medical therapy of acute myocardial infarction by application of hemodynamic subsets (second of two parts). N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 1404-1413 [PMID: 790194 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM197612162952505
- Nohria A, Lewis E, Stevenson LW. Medical management of advanced heart failure. JAMA 2002; 287: 628-640 [PMID: 11829703 DOI: 10.1001/jama.287.5.628]
- Comitê Coordenador da Diretriz de Insuficiência Cardíaca; Rohde LEP, Montera MW, Bocchi EA, Clausell NO, 59 Albuquerque DC, Rassi S, Colafranceschi AS, Freitas AF Junior, Ferraz AS, Biolo A, Barretto ACP, Ribeiro ALP, Polanczyk CA, Gualandro DM, Almeida DR, Silva ERR, Figueiredo EL, Mesquita ET, Marcondes-Braga FG, Cruz FDD, Ramires FJA, Atik FA, Bacal F, Souza GEC, Almeida GLG Junior, Ribeiro GCA, Villacorta H Junior, Vieira JL, Souza JD Neto, Rossi JM Neto, Figueiredo JA Neto, Moura LAZ, Goldraich LA, Beck-da-Silva L, Danzmann LC, Canesin MF, Bittencourt MI, Garcia MI, Bonatto MG, Simões MV, Moreira MCV, Silva MMF, Olivera MT Junior, Silvestre OM, Schwartzmann PV, Bestetti RB, Rocha RM, Simões R, Pereira SB, Mangini S, Alves SMM, Ferreira SMA, Issa VS, Barzilai VS, Martins WA. Diretriz Brasileira de Insuficiência Cardíaca Crônica e Aguda. Arq Bras Cardiol 2018; 111: 436-539 [PMID: 30379264 DOI: 10.5935/abc.20180190]
- Schulz R. TNFalpha in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion: damage vs. protection. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2008; 45: 712-714 60 [PMID: 18851974 DOI: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.09.119]
- Kadokami T, McTiernan CF, Kubota T, Frye CS, Feldman AM. Sex-related survival differences in murine 61 cardiomyopathy are associated with differences in TNF-receptor expression. J Clin Invest 2000; 106: 589-597 [PMID: 10953034 DOI: 10.1172/JCI9307]
- Sinagra E, Perricone G, Romano C, Cottone M. Heart failure and anti tumor necrosis factor-alpha in systemic chronic 62 inflammatory diseases. Eur J Intern Med 2013; 24: 385-392 [PMID: 23333028 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2012.12.015]
- 63 Opie LH, Commerford PJ, Gersh BJ, Pfeffer MA. Controversies in ventricular remodelling. Lancet 2006; 367: 356-367 [PMID: 16443044 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68074-4]
- Lacerda L, Somers S, Opie LH, Lecour S. Ischaemic postconditioning protects against reperfusion injury via the SAFE 64 pathway. Cardiovasc Res 2009; 84: 201-208 [PMID: 19666677 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvp274]
- Sopontammarak S, Aliharoob A, Ocampo C, Arcilla RA, Gupta MP, Gupta M. Mitogen-activated protein kinases (p38 65 and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase) are differentially regulated during cardiac volume and pressure overload hypertrophy. Cell Biochem Biophys 2005; 43: 61-76 [PMID: 16043884 DOI: 10.1385/CBB:43:1:061]
- Monden Y, Kubota T, Inoue T, Tsutsumi T, Kawano S, Ide T, Tsutsui H, Sunagawa K. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha is toxic via receptor 1 and protective via receptor 2 in a murine model of myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2007; 293: H743-53 [PMID: 17416608 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00166.2007]
- Schulz R, Heusch G. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and its receptors 1 and 2: Yin and Yang in myocardial infarction? 67 Circulation 2009; 119: 1355-1357 [PMID: 19255338 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.846105]
- Irwin MW, Mak S, Mann DL, Qu R, Penninger JM, Yan A, Dawood F, Wen WH, Shou Z, Liu P. Tissue expression and 68 immunolocalization of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in postinfarction dysfunctional myocardium. Circulation 1999; 99: 1492-1498 [PMID: 10086975 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.99.11.1492]
- Flaherty MP, Guo Y, Tiwari S, Rezazadeh A, Hunt G, Sanganalmath SK, Tang XL, Bolli R, Dawn B. The role of TNF-69 alpha receptors p55 and p75 in acute myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury and late preconditioning. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2008; 45: 735-741 [PMID: 18824172 DOI: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.08.014]
- Hamid T, Gu Y, Ortines RV, Bhattacharya C, Wang G, Xuan YT, Prabhu SD. Divergent tumor necrosis factor receptor-70 related remodeling responses in heart failure: role of nuclear factor-kappaB and inflammatory activation. Circulation 2009; 119: 1386-1397 [PMID: 19255345 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.802918]
- Coletta AP, Clark AL, Banarjee P, Cleland JG. Clinical trials update: RENEWAL (RENAISSANCE and RECOVER) and 71 ATTACH. Eur J Heart Fail 2002; 4: 559-561 [PMID: 12167397 DOI: 10.1016/s1388-9842(02)00121-6]
- Chung ES, Packer M, Lo KH, Fasanmade AA, Willerson JT; Anti-TNF Therapy Against Congestive Heart Failure 72 Investigators. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in patients with moderate-to-severe heart failure: results of the anti-TNF Therapy Against Congestive Heart Failure (ATTACH) trial. Circulation 2003; 107: 3133-3140 [PMID: 12796126 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000077913.60364.D2
- Abedin M, Scheurich D, Reimold SC, Reimold AM. Acute coronary syndrome after infliximab infusion. Cardiology in 73 Review 2006; 14: 50-52 [PMID: 16371767 DOI: 10.1097/01.crd.0000178320.51474.ac]
- Kwon HJ, Coté TR, Cuffe MS, Kramer JM, Braun MM. Case reports of heart failure after therapy with a tumor necrosis factor antagonist. Ann Intern Med 2003; 138: 807-811 [PMID: 12755552 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-138-10-200305200-00008
- Keating E, Kelleher TB, Lahiff C. De novo Anti-TNF-a-induced Congestive Heart Failure in a Patient With Turner 75 Syndrome and Crohn's Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2020; 26: e161-e162 [PMID: 32619005 DOI: 10.1093/ibd/izaa176]
- Grillo TG, Almeida LR, Beraldo RF, Marcondes MB, Queiróz DAR, da Silva DL, Quera R, Baima JP, Saad-Hossne R, 76 Sassaki LY. Heart failure as an adverse effect of infliximab for Crohn's disease: A case report and review of the literature.



World J Clin Cases 2021; 9: 10382-10391 [PMID: 34904114 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v9.i33.10382]

- McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, Gardner RS, Baumbach A, Böhm M, Burri H, Butler J, Čelutkienė J, Chioncel O, 77 Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Crespo-Leiro MG, Farmakis D, Gilard M, Heymans S, Hoes AW, Jaarsma T, Jankowska EA, Lainscak M, Lam CSP, Lyon AR, McMurray JJV, Mebazaa A, Mindham R, Muneretto C, Francesco Piepoli M, Price S, Rosano GMC, Ruschitzka F, Kathrine Skibelund A; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 3599-3726 [PMID: 34447992 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368]
- 78 Khanna D, McMahon M, Furst DE. Anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy and heart failure: what have we learned and where do we go from here? Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50: 1040-1050 [PMID: 15077286 DOI: 10.1002/art.20164]
- 79 Sinh P, Cross R. Cardiovascular Risk Assessment and Impact of Medications on Cardiovascular Disease in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2021; 27: 1107-1115 [PMID: 32978937 DOI: 10.1093/ibd/izaa258]
- 80 FDA Drug Safety Communication. FDA Approves Boxed Warning About Increased Risk of Blood Clots and Death with Higher Dose of Arthritis and Ulcerative Colitis Medicine Tofacitinib (Xeljanz, Xeljanz XR) 2019. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-and-availability/fda-approves-boxed-warning-about-increased-risk-blood-clotsand-death-higher-dose-arthritis-and
- Adedokun OJ, Xu Z, Marano C, O'Brien C, Szapary P, Zhang H, Johanns J, Leong RW, Hisamatsu T, Van Assche G, 81 Danese S, Abreu MT, Sands BE, Sandborn WJ. Ustekinumab Pharmacokinetics and Exposure Response in a Phase 3 Randomized Trial of Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 2244-2255.e9 [PMID: 31816446 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2019.11.059]
- Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, Gasink C, Jacobstein D, Zou B, Johanns J, Sands BE, Hanauer SB, Targan S, Ghosh S, de 82 Villiers WJS, Colombel JF, Feagan BG. Long-term efficacy and safety of ustekinumab for Crohn's disease through the second year of therapy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 65-77 [PMID: 29797519 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14794]
- Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Sands BE, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Van Assche G, Axler J, Kim HJ, Danese S, 83 Fox I, Milch C, Sankoh S, Wyant T, Xu J, Parikh A; GEMINI 1 Study Group. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 699-710 [PMID: 23964932 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215734]
- Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sands BE, Lukas M, Fedorak RN, Lee S, Bressler B, 84 Fox I, Rosario M, Sankoh S, Xu J, Stephens K, Milch C, Parikh A; GEMINI 2 Study Group. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 711-721 [PMID: 23964933 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215739]
- Narula N, Peerani F, Meserve J, Kochhar G, Chaudrey K, Hartke J, Chilukuri P, Koliani-Pace J, Winters A, Katta L, 85 Shmidt E, Hirten R, Faleck D, Parikh MP, Whitehead D, Boland BS, Singh S, Sagi SV, Fischer M, Chang S, Barocas M, Luo M, Lasch K, Bohm M, Lukin D, Sultan K, Swaminath A, Hudesman D, Gupta N, Shen B, Kane S, Loftus EV, Siegel CA, Sands BE, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Dulai PS. Vedolizumab for Ulcerative Colitis: Treatment Outcomes from the VICTORY Consortium. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 1345 [PMID: 29946178 DOI: 10.1038/s41395-018-0162-0]
- Chaparro M, Garre A, Ricart E, Iborra M, Mesonero F, Vera I, Riestra S, García-Sánchez V, Luisa De Castro M, Martin-86 Cardona A, Aldeguer X, Mínguez M, de-Acosta MB, Rivero M, Muñoz F, Andreu M, Bargalló A, González-Muñoza C, Pérez Calle JL, García-Sepulcre MF, Bermejo F, Huguet JM, Cabriada JL, Gutiérrez A, Mañosa M, Villoria A, Carbajo AY, Lorente R, García-López S, Piqueras M, Hinojosa E, Arajol C, Sicilia B, Conesa AM, Sainz E, Almela P, Llaó J, Roncero O, Camo P, Taxonera C, Domselaar MV, Pajares R, Legido J, Madrigal R, Lucendo AJ, Alcaín G, Doménech E, Gisbert JP; GETECCU study group. Short and long-term effectiveness and safety of vedolizumab in inflammatory bowel disease: results from the ENEIDA registry. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2018; 48: 839-851 [PMID: 30281832 DOI: 10.1111/apt.14930]
- Loftus EV Jr, Colombel JF, Feagan BG, Vermeire S, Sandborn WJ, Sands BE, Danese S, D'Haens GR, Kaser A, 87 Panaccione R, Rubin DT, Shafran I, McAuliffe M, Kaviya A, Sankoh S, Mody R, Abhyankar B, Smyth M. Long-term Efficacy of Vedolizumab for Ulcerative Colitis. J Crohns Colitis 2017; 11: 400-411 [PMID: 27683800 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw177]
- Meserve J, Aniwan S, Koliani-Pace JL, Shashi P, Weiss A, Faleck D, Winters A, Chablaney S, Kochhar G, Boland BS, 88 Singh S, Hirten R, Shmidt E, Hartke JG, Chilukuri P, Bohm M, Sagi SV, Fischer M, Lukin D, Hudesman D, Chang S, Gao Y, Sultan K, Swaminath A, Gupta N, Kane S, Loftus EV Jr, Shen B, Sands BE, Colombel JF, Siegel CA, Sandborn WJ, Dulai PS. Retrospective Analysis of Safety of Vedolizumab in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 17: 1533-1540.e2 [PMID: 30268561 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2018.09.035]
- 89 Gomollón F, Dignass A, Annese V, Tilg H, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Cullen GJ, Daperno M, Kucharzik T, Rieder F, Almer S, Armuzzi A, Harbord M, Langhorst J, Sans M, Chowers Y, Fiorino G, Juillerat P, Mantzaris GJ, Rizzello F, Vavricka S, Gionchetti P; ECCO. 3rd European Evidence-based Consensus on the Diagnosis and Management of Crohn's Disease 2016: Part 1: Diagnosis and Medical Management. J Crohns Colitis 2017; 11: 3-25 [PMID: 27660341 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw168]
- Harbord M, Annese V, Vavricka SR, Allez M, Barreiro-de Acosta M, Boberg KM, Burisch J, De Vos M, De Vries AM, 90 Dick AD, Juillerat P, Karlsen TH, Koutroubakis I, Lakatos PL, Orchard T, Papay P, Raine T, Reinshagen M, Thaci D, Tilg H. Carbonnel F: European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation. The First European Evidence-based Consensus on Extraintestinal Manifestations in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis 2016; 10: 239-254 [PMID: 26614685 DOI: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv213]
- Lichtenstein GR, Loftus EV, Isaacs KL, Regueiro MD, Gerson LB, Sands BE. ACG Clinical Guideline: Management of 91 Crohn's Disease in Adults. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113: 481-517 [PMID: 29610508 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2018.27]
- Brazilian Study Group of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Consensus guidelines for the management of inflammatory 92 bowel disease. Arg Gastroenterol 2010; 47: 313-325 [PMID: 21140096 DOI: 10.1590/s0004-28032010000300019]
- Lamb CA, Kennedy NA, Raine T, Hendy PA, Smith PJ, Limdi JK, Hayee B, Lomer MCE, Parkes GC, Selinger C, Barrett 93 KJ, Davies RJ, Bennett C, Gittens S, Dunlop MG, Faiz O, Fraser A, Garrick V, Johnston PD, Parkes M, Sanderson J, Terry H; IBD guidelines eDelphi consensus group; Gaya DR, Iqbal TH, Taylor SA, Smith M, Brookes M, Hansen R, Hawthorne AB. British Society of Gastroenterology consensus guidelines on the management of inflammatory bowel



Grillo TG et al. Acute heart failure and anti-TNF therapy

disease in adults. Gut 2019; 68: s1-s106 [PMID: 31562236 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-318484]

Fraenkel L, Bathon JM, England BR, St Clair EW, Arayssi T, Carandang K, Deane KD, Genovese M, Huston KK, Kerr 94 G, Kremer J, Nakamura MC, Russell LA, Singh JA, Smith BJ, Sparks JA, Venkatachalam S, Weinblatt ME, Al-Gibbawi M, Baker JF, Barbour KE, Barton JL, Cappelli L, Chamseddine F, George M, Johnson SR, Kahale L, Karam BS, Khamis AM, Navarro-Millán I, Mirza R, Schwab P, Singh N, Turgunbaev M, Turner AS, Yaacoub S, Akl EA. 2021 American College of Rheumatology Guideline for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2021; 73: 924-939 [PMID: 34101387 DOI: 10.1002/acr.24596]



W J C

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 229-243

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.229

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease: An integrative review focusing on therapeutic implications of this relationship

Akash Batta, Juniali Hatwal, Akshey Batta, Samman Verma, Yash Paul Sharma

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Berezin AE, Ukraine; Patoulias D, Greece

Received: February 4, 2023 Peer-review started: February 4, 2023 First decision: February 20, 2023 Revised: March 5, 2023 Accepted: May 6, 2023 Article in press: May 6, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Akash Batta, Department of Cardiology, Dayanand Medical College and Hospital, Ludhiana 141001, Punjab, India

Juniali Hatwal, Department of Internal Medicine, Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education & Research, Chandigarh 160012, India

Akshey Batta, Department of Medicine and Surgery, Sohana Multi Super Specialty Hospital, Mohali 160062, Punjab, India

Samman Verma, Yash Paul Sharma, Department of Cardiology, Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education & Research, Chandigarh 160012, India

Corresponding author: Akash Batta, Doctor, FACC, MBBS, MD, Assistant Professor, Department of Cardiology, Dayanand Medical College and Hospital, Tagore Nagar, Civil Lines, Ludhiana 141001, Punjab, India. akashbatta02@gmail.com

Abstract

The incidence of both atrial fibrillation (AF) and coronary artery disease (CAD) increases with advancing age. They share common risk factors and very often coexist. Evidence points to an intricate relationship between atrial tissue excitability and neuronal remodeling with ischemia at the microcirculatory level. In this review, we delineated this complex relationship, identified a common theme between the two, and discussed how the knowledge of this relationship translates into a positive and meaningful impact in patient management. Recent research indicates a high prevalence of CAD among AF patients undergoing coronary angiography. Further, the incidence of AF is much higher in those suffering from CAD compared to age-matched adults without CAD underlying this reciprocal relationship. CAD adversely affects AF by promoting progression via re-entry and increasing excitability of atrial tissue as a result of ischemia and electrical inhomogeneity. AF in turn accelerates atherosclerosis via endothelial dysfunctional and inflammation and together with enhanced thrombogenicity and hypercoagulability contribute to micro and macrothrombi throughout cardiovascular system. In a nutshell, the two form a vicious cycle wherein one disease promotes the other. Most AF recommendations focuses on rate/rhythm control and prevention of thromboembolism. Very few studies have discussed the importance of unmasking coexistent CAD and how the treatment of underlying ischemia will impact the burden of AF in these patients. Inflammation and endothelial dysfunction remain central to both disease processes and form a handsome therapeutic target in the management of the two diseases. The



relationship between AF and CAD is complex and much more than mere coincidence. The two diseases share common risk factor and pathophysiology. Hence, it is impractical to treat them in isolation. Accordingly, we share the implications of managing underlying ischemia and inflammation to positively impact and improve quality of life among AF patients.

Key Words: Atrial fibrillation; Coronary artery disease; Antithrombotic therapy; Ischemia; Early rhythm control; Endothelial dysfunction

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Evidence points to an intricate relationship between atrial tissue excitability and neuronal remodeling with ischemia at the microcirculatory level. In this review, we delineated this complex relationship, identified a common theme between the two, and discussed how the knowledge of this relationship translates into a positive and meaningful impact on patient management.

Citation: Batta A, Hatwal J, Batta A, Verma S, Sharma YP. Atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease: An integrative review focusing on therapeutic implications of this relationship. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 229-243 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/229.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.229

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases including coronary artery disease (CAD) and atrial fibrillation (AF) along with other cardiovascular diseases remain the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide[1]. The prevalence of both CAD and AF increases with advancing age and they often coexist[2-5]. However, this relationship is not a mere coincidence and recent evidence points to the intricate relationship between the two. Dedicated studies have demonstrated a high prevalence of CAD among nonvalvular AF patients, with majority of AF (> 50%) patients having underlying CAD as identified by invasive or computed tomography coronary angiography [5-7]. This is significantly higher than the prevalence of CAD in the general population, which is estimated to be about 12%-14%. Furthermore, there is abundant evidence that AF is an independent risk factor for CAD and incident acute coronary syndromes [4,8,9]. The interrelationship of the two is further highlighted by the fact that the people with coexistent AF and CAD have a more severe CAD and higher SYNTAX scores compared to those without AF[8,10]. Also, the morbidity and mortality is significantly higher when CAD is associated with paroxysmal or persistent AF with increased odds for developing heart failure, ventricular arrythmias, and major adverse cardio-cerebro vascular events (MACCEs)[4,8-10]. However, despite the obvious association, this relationship is also influenced by a number of confounding risk factors such as diabetes, hypertension, age, and obesity which are common to both CAD and AF. Hence, this leads to confusion in establishing causality and reverse causality solely based on the results from registries and observational studies.

A recent mendelian randomization study by Yan et al[4] shed important light on this relationship and concluded beyond doubt that CAD is an independent risk factor for AF after removing all bias. Furthermore, they made an argument that treatment and prevention of AF is crucial to prevent MACCE among CAD patients[4]. Hence, the two might be more closely related than thought, and logically the therapeutic strategies are expected to be similar as well.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL BASIS OF THE RELATIONSHIP

The basic pathology in CAD is the formation and progression of atherosclerotic plaques in coronary arteries leading to narrowing and resultant myocardial ischemia. Indeed, this process is identical in other vascular beds involved by atherosclerotic process and manifests as variable clinical presentation depending on the vasculature involved. In the heart, the same can manifest as acute coronary syndrome (ACS) or chronic coronary syndrome (CCS) depending upon the progression and stability of the atherosclerotic plaques. The major pathophysiological pathways involved in initiation and progression of AF include re-entry and focal ectopic activity. The re-entry is in turn promoted by the short refractoriness, slowed conduction, and atrial remodeling as a result of atrial dilatation. The enhanced automaticity of the atrial tissue stems from the enhanced early afterdepolarizations (EADs) and delayed afterdepolarizations (DADs)[9,11].



Common risk factors

The two diseases share identical risk factors, which trigger varied pathophysiological responses culminating in either or both of the two diseases. Diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension, advancing age, dyslipidemia, obesity, smoking, and decreased physical activity are the major risk factors for CAD as per abundant evidence in the scientific literature. Indeed, these very same risk factors remain the most commonly implicated factors responsible for the initiation and progression of AF[8,9,11,12]. The interplay of the various risk factors and their role in the pathogenesis of AF and CAD have been demonstrated in Figure 1.

DM particularly in the setting of poorly controlled blood sugars is a major risk factor for initiation of AF. Research has shown a consistent positive correlation between increasing hemoglobin A1C and AF burden. The most popular hypothesis for this association is the structural alteration and fibrosis in atrial myocardium as a result of inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, formation of reactive oxygen intermediates, and deposition of advanced glycation end products [13,14]. All of these to a large extent result in microvascular dysfunction and atrial tissue hypoxemia. Prolonged action potential duration secondary to ischemia pave the way for EADs and DADs. Often there is coexistent autonomic neuropathy and dysfunction in DM, which together with altered calcium (Ca²⁺) and I_{na} homeostasis contributes to the progression of AF[15].

Hypertension remains the most common risk factor for both AF and CAD. It increases the risk of development of AF by more than 30% for any given age[16]. Left ventricular hypertrophy and subsequent diastolic dysfunction in longstanding hypertension contributes to atrial dilatation and dysfunction. Furthermore, alterations in the renin angiotensin aldosterone system along with the increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines induce atrial fibrosis[17,18]. The net result of these pathogenic mechanisms is the development of focal aberrant ectopic firing due to altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis and the development of re-entry circuits along clinical or subclinical fibrosis in atrial myocardium[19].

Obesity is often associated with other cardiovascular comorbidities, which contribute to enhanced overall MACCE risk. In addition, many advocate that obesity is an inflammatory disease process characterized by increased expression of various pro-inflammatory cytokines and resultant endothelial dysfunction. This often correlates with increased left atrial volume and fibrosis, which have a pathogenic role in the development of AF[20]. According to certain estimates, the risk of AF increases in a linear fashion with increasing body mass index (BMI) and roughly a 1 kg/m² increase in BMI confers a 4% increased risk of developing AF[9,21].

Positive feedback cycle

Besides sharing common risk factors, CAD and AF by themselves have a direct relationship with each other. A positive feedback mechanism between the two, culminates in a vicious cycle resulting in increased the burden of the two diseases. CAD comprising both macrovascular and microvascular disease leads to ischemia of the atrial tissue which precedes local inflammation and culminates in fibrosis and prolonged conduction times, all of which trigger the three principle mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of AF which are focal ectopy, re-entry and neural alteration. In addition, there is heterogeneity in the electrical conduction, altered Ca²⁺ and sodium currents, and autonomic system dysregulation, all of which promote the progression and persistence of AF[4,8,9,11,12,22,23] (Figure 2).

On the other end, AF by itself can induce the two key pathogenic mechanisms involved in CAD, namely endothelial dysfunction and inflammation. Decreased release of nitric oxide coupled with increased expression of von Willebrand factor is the key pathogenic process in endothelial dysfunction [9,11,17]. AF also triggers systemic and myocardial inflammation by virtue of enhancing expression of protease-activated receptors and inflammatory cytokines, which not only initiate atherosclerotic process but also contribute to plaque instability and resultant ACS. Besides this, the beat-beat variability resulting in inefficient contractility and reduced cardiac output also contribute to reduced coronary blood flow and resultant ischemia independent of atherosclerotic CAD. Coagulation system activation coupled with enhanced platelet activity due to increased expression of p-selectin and cluster of differentiation 63 (CD63) on endothelial cells leads to micro and macro thrombi, which not only increases the risk of cerebrovascular accident but also ACS[24-26] (Figure 3).

The two more often than not coexist and together they confer worse outcomes than when the two occur in isolation. When AF complicates pre-existing CCS or ACS, it leads on to higher MACCE events including stroke, heart failure, and cardiogenic shock and also doubles overall cardiovascular mortality [8,9,11,27]. Further, it complicates clinical decision making and predisposes an individual to not only increased thrombotic events but also to major bleeding events secondary to aggressive antithrombotic therapy, which is often indicated. As a result, there is a need for a comprehensive assessment and management of the two diseases in conjunction and not as separate disease entities. The two diseases more often than not are linked in their etiopathogenesis and warrant kindred treatment to break the links which propagate the two diseases.

Differences in pathogenesis of AF in CAD patients compared to those without CAD

The vast majority of patients suffering from AF (> 85%) have underlying CAD or cardiovascular risk



Batta A et al. Atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.229 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Interplay of various common risk factors in the pathogenesis of coronary artery disease and atrial fibrillation. Variable genetic expression manifests as varied clinical phenotype in the form of either or both atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease in an individual. AF: Atrial fibrillation; CAD: Coronary artery disease; EAD: Early after depolarization; DAD: Delayed after depolarization; HSPs: Heat shock proteins; IL: Interleukin; MPO: Myeloperoxidase; NO: Nitric oxide; PGs: Prostaglandins; ROS: Reactive oxygen species; TGF-B: Transforming growth factor beta.



Figure 2 Pathogenic mechanism that predisposes an individual suffering from coronary artery disease to develop atrial fibrillation. AF: Atrial fibrillation; CAD: Coronary artery disease; NCX: Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger; EAD: Early after depolarization; DAD: Delayed after depolarization.

> factors including hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and dyslipidemia. In less than 15% of all AF patients, none of these risk factors are present [28,29]. Most of them are relatively younger and commonly labeled as lone AF. Familial AF also contributes to a fraction of lone AF patients with well-defined chromosomal abnormalities most notably 10q22-q24[9,29]. The basic difference in the pathophysiology of AF in individuals having underlying cardiovascular risk factors and CAD predominantly is that they have structural alterations in the atrial tissue, which predispose them to develop electrical remodeling or directly lead to re-entry and ectopy culminating in AF. On the other hand, AF occurring in younger individuals without any risk factors is often attributable to the electrical remodeling as a result of



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.229 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.



abnormal Ca2+ homeostasis, dysregulated ryanodine receptors, altered action potential durations, and reduced atrial refractory period. All of these culminate in changes in ion channel function, enhanced automaticity and atrial ectopy, which is a precursor to AF[28-30]. Whatever may be the initial insult, the pathways soon converge and either of the structural or the electrical remodeling ultimately aggravates the other resulting in a vicious cycle of AF initiation and progression (Figure 4). Another important difference is in the clinical presentation and outcomes. Patients with underlying cardiovascular risk factors and CAD have less symptoms related to AF, but rather commonly present with complications related to AF including heart failure or stroke. By contrast, the risk of thromboembolism is relatively lesser in the lone AF/familial AF patients, who very often present to outpatient clinics with symptoms related to AF such as recurrent palpitations or dyspnea[28,30]. Given the aggressive disease course with accelerated atherosclerosis and thromboembolism in those with underlying cardiovascular risk factors, there is a need for the aggressive control of risk factors and institution of effective antithrombotic therapies to prevent complications.

IMPLICATION ON CHA2DS2VASC SCORE AND STROKE RISK

A consistent pool of evidence points towards the increased burden of AF in those having coexistent CAD compared to those without CAD[8,11,27]. Furthermore, this increased duration and burden of AF translates into increased MACCE events in patients with coexistent CAD compared to those without CAD. Therefore, it makes sense that people with AF and coexistent CAD need better risk factor modification, pharmacological therapy for CAD, and more aggressive antithrombotic therapy to prevent adverse outcomes[6,31].

Among the components of the CHA₂DS₂VASc score, the symbol 'V' stands for vascular disease. The widely accepted determinants of this vascular disease as per the guidelines are prior myocardial infarction, peripheral artery disease, or the presence of an aortic plaque. Most of the current guidelines and online medical calculators thus do not account for CAD as a determinant of 'V' while calculating the CHA₂DS₂VASc score[32,33]. Therefore, this gives an impression that underlying CAD status (excluding past myocardial infarction) has no bearing on stroke risk as determined by the CHA₂DS₂ VASc score.

However, in a recent, large, prospective study by Steensig et al[6], underlying CAD not only was very frequent among AF patients, but more importantly CAD was strongly associated with elevated thromboembolic risk beyond the usual components of the CHA₂DS₂VASc score[6]. Hence, the study made a strong case for inclusion of significant angiographically proven CAD in the 'V' component of the CHA₂DS₂VASc score to more comprehensively account for the thromboembolic risk in a given individual with AF. Indeed, this made a turning point in the approach to managing AF patients and the same was reflected in the European Society of Cardiology 2020 AF guidelines. For the first time, angiographically proven CAD was included as a determinant of in the 'V' in the CHA2DS2VASc score [34]. Since then, the inclusion of significant CAD has gained acceptance among practicing cardiologists as evidenced by a recent survey by the European Heart Rhythm Association, wherein 79% of the



Batta A et al. Atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.229 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Key differences in the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation in patients with underlying coronary artery disease or risk factors compared to those without underlying cardiovascular risk factors. AF: Atrial fibrillation; APD: Action potential duration; ARP: Absolute refractory period; CAD: Coronary artery disease; DAD: Delayed after depolarization; EAD: Early after depolarization; LA: Left atrium; LVEDP: Left ventricular end-diastolic pressure; RyR: Ryanodine receptor.

> respondents were aware of the inclusion of significant CAD and employed the same in their practice [35]

> A recent study by Shi et al[36] shed new insights into the stroke risk in AF patients. They concluded that among AF patients with coexistent CAD, the stroke risk was not dependent on AF but on the atherosclerotic risk factors and the presence of CAD. They made a strong case for aggressive risk factor modification in particularly underlying CAD for stroke reduction in AF patients[36].

CLINICAL IMPACT OF UNDERLYING CAD ON AF

Recent evidence supports the close association of AF and CAD. Not only does underlying CAD increase the odds of developing AF but it also has significant therapeutic and clinical implications. Consistent literature points towards increased MACCE in AF patients, who have underlying CAD compared to those without underlying CAD. Furthermore, complexity in administering appropriate antithrombotic regimen is a challenge and it predisposes an individual to increased minor and major bleeding events. Hence, given the significant therapeutic and prognostic implications of CAD on AF, a more holistic and balanced approach is needed while managing the two diseases, as it is impractical to treat either one in isolation. Table 1 highlights the prominent studies over the last three decades, which have analyzed the clinical impact of underlying CAD in AF patients[6,36-44]. Consistently, underlying CAD in AF patients has been shown to correlate positively with worse overall outcomes.

"COMBINED APPROACH" TO REDUCING THE BURDEN OF THE TWO DISEASES

A recent article by Fanaroff *et al*^[27] and the accompanying editorial nicely summarize the impact of coexistent AF and CAD on various clinical endpoints [27,45]. The main theme of the paper was the heightened thrombogenicity when the two occur together and authors concluded that the downstream risk of recurrent ACS and percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) was extremely high in these group of patients compared to when they occurred in isolation. While they focused on only one and a very important aspect of this relationship, others have gone beyond the antithrombotic therapy. Another very relevant aspect is the enhanced atherogenicity throughout the systemic vasculature, which has been well documented in literature and elaborated upon in this review. The coexistence of the two sets in motion a vicious cycle that culminates in accelerated atherosclerosis and its various clinical manifest-



Table 1 Prominent studies over the last three decades highlighting the clinical impact of underlying coronary artery disease in patients suffering from atrial fibrillation

Ref.	Year	Type of study	Number of patients	Principal findings and comment
Petersen <i>et al</i> [37]	1990	Double blind RCT	516	Active angina was the only independent predictor of stroke on multivariate analysis [OR of 3.3 (95%CI: 1.3-8.9, $P = 0.02$)]
Ezekowitz et al[38]	1995	RCT	516	Active angina was an independent predictor of silent brain infarctions (15% vs 5% in those without angina; P = 0.02)
Van Walraven <i>et al</i> [<mark>39</mark>]	2003	Metanalysis of 6 RCTs	2501	Observed rate of stroke or TIAs was 3-fold higher in group with history of angina (5.6 vs 1.4 events/100 patient years; $P = 0.002$)
Goto <i>et al</i> [40]	2008	Observational cohort study	63589	MACCE events were consistently higher at 12 mo in AF patients with concomitant CAD compared to those without CAD (19.70 vs 14.52; $P < 0.05$)
Olesen et al[41]	2012	Registry based cohort study	87202	Stroke risk significantly higher in AF patients who had underlying CAD or past history of MI [HR of 1.14 (1.03-1.27)]
Rasmussen <i>et al</i> [42]	2011	Observational cohort study	3315	Risk of stroke or death significantly higher among those with underlying CAD [HR of 1.99 (1.46-2.72)]
Anandasundaram <i>et</i> al[43]	2013	Systematic review of 19 observational studies	6465	Atherosclerotic vascular disease was a significant independent predictor of stroke, thromboembolism and mortality in AF patients ($P < 0.05$)
Steensig <i>et al</i> [44]	2018	Prospective cohort study	12690	CAD was independently associated with increased risk of ischemic stroke in AF patients. Concomitant CAD increased stroke risk by 29% compared to AF patients without CAD [crude IRR of 1.62; (1.41-1.87)]
Steensig <i>et al</i> [6]	2018	Observational cohort study	96430	CAD was an independent predictor of composite endpoints [adjusted IRR, 1.25; (1.06-1.47)] over and above the usual components of vascular disease in CHA_2DS_2 VASC score
Shi et al <mark>[36</mark>]	2021	Observational cohort study	2335	Risk of stroke was more dependent on underlying a therosclerotic risk factors than AF per say ($P < 0.001)$

AF: Atrial fibrillation; CAD: Coronary artery disease; CI: Confidence interval; HR: Hazard ratio; IRR: Incidence rate ratio; MACCE: Major adverse cardiocerebro vascular event; MI: Myocardial infarction; OR: Odds ratio; RCT: Randomized control trial; TIA: Transient ischemic attack.

> ations[9,28,30]. Besides the increased thrombogenicity and atherogenicity conferred as a result of the coexistence of the two diseases, there is a direct relationship of one with the other disease. Such that, one disease can directly lead to the other and vice versa (Figures 2 and 3). Hence, targeting and breaking the common links between the two makes sense and should be considered in any individual suffering from either of the two diseases (Figure 5).

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES FOR DISRUPTING THE VICIOUS CYCLE

Similar to all cardiovascular diseases, the prevention starts with risk factor control and modification right at the primary care level. Controlling the most commonly implicated risk factors including physical activity, obesity, dietary modifications with reduced intake of sweetened foods and salt, smoking cessation, blood pressure control, and management of dyslipidemia and blood sugars when altered leads to a reduction of both CAD and AF[9,11]. The optimal control of these risk factors markedly reduces ones odds of developing CAD and AF by inhibiting common initiating pathways and weakening the links between them two (Figure 5).

When one of the two diseases is diagnosed in a given individual, every attempt should be made to unmask the other disease as very often the two are associated. Coexistent CAD has been reported in more than half of AF patients in various studies [5-7,46]. Thus, diagnosing the concomitant CAD by invasive or noninvasive seems logical. This translates into optimal management of not only the masked CAD and in reducing the burden of AF but also predicts an individual's thromboembolic risk and guides optimal antithrombotic regimen [6,27]. Similarly, in those with CAD and other risk factors, the occurrence of MACCE events including stroke and heart failure should be followed by active surveillance for paroxysmal or persistent AF by appropriate rhythm monitoring tools. Unmasking paroxysmal AF guides institution of oral anticoagulants which leads to significant reduction of not only thromboembolic risk but also myocardial infarction among CAD patients.

Besides primary prevention, in those with established CAD and/or AF, the key to improve outcomes is simultaneous and optimal control of both the disease. Accordingly, given the intricate relationship between the two, it is impractical to treat the two in isolation. Most therapies that reduce the burden of either of these diseases, invariably also modifies and reduces the burden of the other disease. For



Batta A et al. Atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease



Figure 5 Vicious cycle between coronary artery disease and atrial fibrillation that culminates in a positive feedback as a result of the connections as highlighted in the orange boxes. Strategies to break this cycle are also depicted in the green ovals. AF: Atrial fibrillation; BP: Blood pressure; CAD: Coronary artery disease; HR: Heart rate.

example, statins that are used in CAD, have been shown to reduce the incidence and burden of AF[47]. Also, therapies aimed at reducing the burden of CAD including PCI or bypass graft surgery, have shown to significantly reduce the burden of concomitant AF and improve morbidity and mortality. Likewise, therapies such as rate control in AF patients using beta blockers or calcium channel blockers also significantly reduce coronary ischemia and myocardial oxygen uptake[48].

SPECIFIC THERAPIES

Antithrombotic agents

Antithrombotic agents encompass both antiplatelet and oral anticoagulants. Both CAD and AF are characterized by heightened thrombogenicity in the blood and resultant ischemic events. This is logarithmical increase in this thrombogenicity when the two coexist. To further complicate clinical decision making, there is an increased risk of bleeding as well attributable to these antithrombotic drugs. Balancing ischemic and bleeding risk in a given patient remains the top priority and necessitates adherence to clinical practicing guidelines.

The choice of antithrombotic agents in coexistent CAD and AF depends upon the clinical status of the underlying CAD. In patients suffering from CCS and AF, the consensus is towards the use of oral anticoagulants alone, preferably using the newer oral anticoagulants (NOACs). Recent research has shown that NOACs alone fair comparably to the combination of NOACs and aspirin but with the advantage of significantly lower risk of bleeding.

The decision making in AF patients with ACS and those undergoing PCI and stenting is however complex. In patients with ACS the recommendations are combining a P2Y₁₂ antiplatelet agent with an oral anticoagulant (preferably NOAC over vitamin K analogues) for at least 6-12 mo after ACS and then continuing only oral anticoagulant beyond 1 year. In those undergoing PCI, the guidelines recommend triple antithrombotic therapy including aspirin, P2Y₁₂ agent and a NOAC for the 1st month following PCI, followed by dual therapy with a P2Y₁₂ agent and NOAC for 6-12 mo and continuing only a NOAC in most patients beyond the 1st year. However, despite the evidence and clear guidelines only a minority of AF and CAD patients receive optimal antithrombotic therapy largely attributable to the gaps in knowledge, fear of bleeding or physician preference rendering these patients at high risk of recurrent ischemic events[27,49,50].

Statins

Statins have emerged as one of the most important and first-line therapy for prevention and treatment of CAD. Besides its lipid-lowering effects, it has pleiotropic effects on the form of reduction in inflammation in the atherosclerotic plaques and improving plaque stability. Recent studies have shown that the early initiation of statin therapy in ACS patients help in reducing the incidence of atrial and ventricular arrythmias[47,51]. These beneficial actions are in part attributable to the improved autonomic control and improved myocardial stability. A large recent metanalysis has shown that prior statin use markedly reduced the incidence of new-onset AF after admission for ACS[47]. Hence, early statin use and adequate lipid control are essential for reducing AF burden among CAD patients.

Rate controlling and antianginal agents

Tachycardia in AF predisposes patients with underlying CAD to recurrent myocardial ischemia due to increased myocardial oxygen consumption and reduced diastolic coronary perfusion at higher heart rates. This not only translates into worse symptoms but roughly doubles the risk of ACS in this population. Hence, rate control is the initial and most crucial step in managing people with both CAD and AF. Beta blockers and nondihydropyridine calcium channel blockers are the preferred agents in this regard and the resting target heart rate is less than 110/min[9,48]. Ivabradine is ineffective in controlling heart rates in AF patients and on the contrary may even aggravate AF as was seen in the SIGNIFY trial and a recent meta-analysis[52,53]. Hence, it should be avoided in AF. Digoxin, although an effective drug in controlling the heart rates in AF patients especially those with left ventricular dysfunction, is best avoided in patients with CAD for the fear of predisposition to arrythmias and worsening myocardial ischemia due to increased myocardial oxygen consumption[48].

Among the choice of antianginal agents in patients symptomatic despite adequate rate control, ranolazine is preferred among the second-line drugs, as it prevents the automaticity in atrial tissue by suppressing diastolic depolarization and atrial tissue excitability in addition to suppressing the early and delayed after depolarizations. All of this results in the increased initiation and progression of AF. Moreover ranolazine use is tied to better rhythm control in AF patients in a recent meta-analysis[54,55]. Trimetazidine is a second-line antianginal used especially in those with underlying left ventricular dysfunction. It largely has a neutral effect on underlying AF and can be used as an add-on therapy in those with ischemic cardiomyopathy and AF. Limited data have suggested that favorable effects on P-wave duration and dispersion may help reduce the incidence of AF in these subgroup of patients[56]. The use of nitrate and nicorandil in AF should be avoided as these have been tied with increased incidence and aggravation of underlying AF in CAD patients[48].

Early rhythm control strategy

Early rhythm control strategy preferably with catheter ablation has been increasingly realized as an effective means of reducing the overall MACCE events in patients suffering from AF[57-59]. The benefit is most in those with high comorbidly burden and in those with a recent diagnosis of AF. There has been a clear trend in the superiority of rhythm control compared to rate control in recent years largely attributable to the incremental benefit of early rhythm over rate control alone in terms of improved overall symptoms and quality of life scores and reduced heart failure hospitalizations, stroke, dementia, and overall cardiovascular death[57,58]. This has reflected in increasing recommendations for catheter ablations in multiple subsets of patients including those with underlying CAD. Since AF is common in patients with underlying CAD and high comorbidity burden, all attempts should be made to diagnose it early and accordingly if symptoms are not controlled despite initial medical therapy and rate control, catheter ablation should be considered.

Targeting endothelial dysfunction

Robust evidence points towards the central role of endothelial dysfunction in CAD initiation and progression. Further, endothelial dysfunction now is increasingly realized as an important mediator in AF pathogenesis as well[60]. Often it coexists with other cardiovascular comorbidity such as diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and obesity. Decreased expression of nitric oxide, inflammation, increased oxidate stress, increased apoptosis, and vascular remodeling all contribute to endothelial dysfunction at the cellular level. Endothelial dysfunction as diagnosed by flow-mediated vasodilation often correlates with increased systemic vascular complications and poor outcomes[61]. Endothelial dysfunction is a dynamic thing and is reversible to large extent with appropriate intervention. At present, the only therapy to improve endothelial dysfunction includes aggressive risk factor modification including smoking cessation, appropriate blood pressure and blood glucose control, weight reduction, and exercise. Pharmacological therapies including antithrombotic therapies and statins also have shown incremental benefit in addition to lifestyle intervention. Other pharmacological agents including calcium channel blockers, angiotensin inhibitors, antioxidant agents, betablockers, phosphodiesterase inhibitors, nicorandil, ivabradine, and l-arginine have also shown some benefit in small studies but it is yet early stages to comment on the role of these agents in improving endothelial dysfunction in clinical practice[9,60,61].

Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com
Table 2 Impact of various antidiabetic agents on the burden of atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease and their surrogate endpoints					
Antidiabetic drug class	Impact on AF burden/ surrogate end points	Impact on CAD burden/ surrogate end points			
Insulin[71]	Increased (†)	Neutral or increased $(-/\uparrow)$			
Metformin[72]	Reduced (↓)	Reduced (↓)			
Sulfonylureas[71]	Neutral (-/↑)	Increased (↑↑)			
Thiazolidinediones[73]	Reduced or neutral $(-/\downarrow)$	Increased $(\uparrow\uparrow)$			
DPP-4 inhibitors[74]	Reduced (-/↓)	Reduced (↓)			
GLP-1 receptor agonists[75]	Neutral or slightly increased $(-/\uparrow)$	Reduced (↓↓)			
SGLT-2 inhibitors[76]	Reduced $(\downarrow\downarrow)$	Reduced $(\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow)$			

AF: Atrial fibrillation; CAD: Coronary artery disease; DPP-4: Dipeptidyl peptidase-4; GLP-1: Glucagon-like peptide 1; SGLT-2: Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2.

Therapies targeting inflammation

Inflammation is implicated in pathogenesis of both CAD and AF. The testimony of the same lies in the fact that many antiinflammatory drugs have shown incremental benefit in reducing the incidence and burden of either of the two diseases. While evidence is more robust for its positive impact in CAD, data are emerging on its role in AF patients[62,63]. Two large randomized studies have already shown the positive impact of colchicine and canakinumab in reducing MACCE events in CAD patients attributable to decreased inflammation[64,65]. On the other hand emerging evidence shows that therapies targeting inflammation indeed prevent the occurrence or decrease the recurrences of AF in CAD patient. Recent studies have shown that colchicine or corticosteroids administration after catheter ablation can help reduce recurrence of AF[63].

Effect of diabetes and antidiabetics drugs on AF and CAD

Diabetes remains one of the largest independent risk factors for development of atherosclerosis. Approximately one-third of all patients suffering from diabetes have concomitant CAD, which remains the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the diabetic population[66]. Recent evidence points to the excess prevalence of AF in diabetic population, independent of other cardiovascular risk factors[67, 68]. Furthermore, patients with concomitant AF and diabetes have worse clinical outcomes including excess stroke, dementia, and heart failure compared to AF in the absence of diabetes[67,69]. Diabetes confers enhanced systemic vascular atherogenicity and thrombogenicity, which in part is driven by endothelial dysfunction and inflammation, a pathogenic process very similar to both AF and CAD. The major contributors to this pathogenesis include the direct glucose and free fatty acid toxicity at the cellular levels, which results in excess of reactive oxygen species, advanced glycation end-products, upregulation of the polyol, hexosamine, and protein kinase C pathways. This results in dysregulated cellular metabolism and mitochondrial function, which are essential for normal endothelial function and its antiinflammatory and antithrombotic properties[67,68]. As such, this relationship is very relevant while managing patients with AF and/or CAD. Naturally, there is a desire to use antidiabetic drugs, which help improve the burden of these diseases. Table 2 illustrates the prominent effects of various classes of antidiabetic drugs on AF and CAD. Expectedly, the antidiabetic drugs, which improve the clinical endpoints of either CAD or AF, are expected to confer a beneficial effect on the other disease as well. Overall, antidiabetic drugs that have consistently shown incremental benefit in reducing burden of either AF and CAD include sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors, and metformin. Accordingly, we believe that these agents should preferentially be used during institution of antidiabetic therapy in these patients ahead of agents, which have neutral or harmful effects on either of the two diseases (sulfonylureas, thiazolidinediones)[68,70].

CONCLUSION

The relationship between AF and CAD is complex and the two are intricately related at the pathophysiological level. The two diseases share common risk factors and pathogenesis and often culminate in a vicious cycle. Hence, it is impractical to treat them in isolation. The worsening of one is invariably accompanied by accelerated progression of the other disease as well. Accordingly, we share the implications of this relationship in diagnoses and management of the two diseases. In this review, we discuss the key strategies to break the cycle and highlight the recent, evidence-based therapeutic



options to break the common links between the two and reduce morbidity and mortality.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Batta A and Sharma YP contributed to the conception and design; Batta A, Hatwal J, and Sharma YP contributed to the analysis and interpretation; Batta A, Batta Ak, and Verma S contributed to the data collection; Batta A and Hatwal J contributed to writing the article; Batta A and Sharma YP contributed to critical revision of the article; Batta A and Sharma YP contributed to final approval of the article; Batta Ak contributed to the statistical analyses; Batta A and Sharma YP will serve as guarantors for the overall accuracy of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Akash Batta 0000-0002-7606-5826; Juniali Hatwal 0000-0001-5433-0433; Akshey Batta 0000-0001-6281-8041; Samman Verma 0000-0003-1536-2429; Yash Paul Sharma 0000-0002-1938-3377.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American College of Cardiology, 3445007; European society of Cardiology, 1036629.

S-Editor: Li L L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, Barengo NC, Beaton AZ, Benjamin EJ, Benziger CP, Bonny A, Brauer M, Brodmann M, Cahill TJ, Carapetis J, Catapano AL, Chugh SS, Cooper LT, Coresh J, Criqui M, DeCleene N, Eagle KA, Emmons-Bell S, Feigin VL, Fernández-Solà J, Fowkes G, Gakidou E, Grundy SM, He FJ, Howard G, Hu F, Inker L, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Koroshetz W, Lavie C, Lloyd-Jones D, Lu HS, Mirijello A, Temesgen AM, Mokdad A, Moran AE, Muntner P, Narula J, Neal B, Ntsekhe M, Moraes de Oliveira G, Otto C, Owolabi M, Pratt M, Rajagopalan S, Reitsma M, Ribeiro ALP, Rigotti N, Rodgers A, Sable C, Shakil S, Sliwa-Hahnle K, Stark B, Sundström J, Timpel P, Tleyjeh IM, Valgimigli M, Vos T, Whelton PK, Yacoub M, Zuhlke L, Murray C, Fuster V; GBD-NHLBI-JACC Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Writing Group. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 76: 2982-3021 [PMID: 33309175 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010]
- 2 Weng LC, Preis SR, Hulme OL, Larson MG, Choi SH, Wang B, Trinquart L, McManus DD, Staerk L, Lin H, Lunetta KL, Ellinor PT, Benjamin EJ, Lubitz SA. Genetic Predisposition, Clinical Risk Factor Burden, and Lifetime Risk of Atrial Fibrillation. Circulation 2018; 137: 1027-1038 [PMID: 29129827 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.031431]
- 3 Kornej J, Henger S, Seewöster T, Teren A, Burkhardt R, Thiele H, Thiery J, Scholz M. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation dependent on coronary artery status: Insights from the LIFE-Heart Study. Clin Cardiol 2020; 43: 1616-1623 [PMID: 33107623 DOI: 10.1002/clc.23490]
- Yan T, Zhu S, Xie C, Zhu M, Weng F, Wang C, Guo C. Coronary Artery Disease and Atrial Fibrillation: A Bidirectional 4 Mendelian Randomization Study. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis 2022; 9 [PMID: 35323617 DOI: 10.3390/jcdd9030069]
- Sharma YP, Batta A, Makkar K, Hatwal J, A Gawalkar A, Kaur N, Malhi TS, Kasinadhuni G, Gupta H, Panda P, Barwad 5 P. Angiographic profile and outcomes in persistent non-valvular atrial fibrillation: A study from tertiary care center in North India. Indian Heart J 2022; 74: 7-12 [PMID: 34958796 DOI: 10.1016/j.ihj.2021.12.010]
- Steensig K, Olesen KKW, Thim T, Nielsen JC, Jensen SE, Jensen LO, Kristensen SD, Bøtker HE, Lip GYH, Maeng M. 6 Should the Presence or Extent of Coronary Artery Disease be Quantified in the CHA2DS2-VASc Score in Atrial Fibrillation? A Report from the Western Denmark Heart Registry. Thromb Haemost 2018; 118: 2162-2170 [PMID: 30419601 DOI: 10.1055/s-0038-1675401]
- Nucifora G, Schuijf JD, Tops LF, van Werkhoven JM, Kajander S, Jukema JW, Schreur JH, Heijenbrok MW, Trines SA, Gaemperli O, Turta O, Kaufmann PA, Knuuti J, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Prevalence of coronary artery disease assessed by multislice computed tomography coronary angiography in patients with paroxysmal or persistent atrial fibrillation. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2009; 2: 100-106 [PMID: 19808575 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.108.795328]
- Michniewicz E, Mlodawska E, Lopatowska P, Tomaszuk-Kazberuk A, Malyszko J. Patients with atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease - Double trouble. Adv Med Sci 2018; 63: 30-35 [PMID: 28818746 DOI: 10.1016/j.advms.2017.06.005
- 9 Liang F, Wang Y. Coronary heart disease and atrial fibrillation: a vicious cycle. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2021;



320: H1-H12 [PMID: 33185113 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00702.2020]

- Motloch LJ, Reda S, Larbig R, Wolff A, Motloch KA, Wernly B, Granitz C, Lichtenauer M, Wolny M, Hoppe UC. 10 Characteristics of coronary artery disease among patients with atrial fibrillation compared to patients with sinus rhythm. Hellenic J Cardiol 2017; 58: 204-212 [PMID: 28300667 DOI: 10.1016/j.hjc.2017.03.001]
- 11 Mekhael M, Marrouche N, Hajjar AHE, Donnellan E. The relationship between atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease: Understanding common denominators. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2022 [PMID: 36182022 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcm.2022.09.006]
- Dixit S. Clarifying the association between atrial fibrillation and coronary artery disease. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2022 12 [PMID: 36403870 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcm.2022.11.002]
- Goudis CA, Korantzopoulos P, Ntalas IV, Kallergis EM, Liu T, Ketikoglou DG. Diabetes mellitus and atrial fibrillation: 13 Pathophysiological mechanisms and potential upstream therapies. Int J Cardiol 2015; 184: 617-622 [PMID: 25770841 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.03.052]
- Wang A, Green JB, Halperin JL, Piccini JP Sr. Atrial Fibrillation and Diabetes Mellitus: JACC Review Topic of the 14 Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019; 74: 1107-1115 [PMID: 31439220 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.07.020]
- Polina I, Jansen HJ, Li T, Moghtadaei M, Bohne LJ, Liu Y, Krishnaswamy P, Egom EE, Belke DD, Rafferty SA, Ezeani 15 M, Gillis AM, Rose RA. Loss of insulin signaling may contribute to atrial fibrillation and atrial electrical remodeling in type 1 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2020; 117: 7990-8000 [PMID: 32198206 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1914853117]
- 16 Verdecchia P, Angeli F, Reboldi G. Hypertension and Atrial Fibrillation: Doubts and Certainties From Basic and Clinical Studies. Circ Res 2018; 122: 352-368 [PMID: 29348255 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311402]
- 17 Hu YF, Chen YJ, Lin YJ, Chen SA. Inflammation and the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation. Nat Rev Cardiol 2015; 12: 230-243 [PMID: 25622848 DOI: 10.1038/nrcardio.2015.2]
- 18 Tanaka Y, Obata K, Ohmori T, Ishiwata K, Abe M, Hamaguchi S, Namekata I, Tanaka H. Angiotensin II Induces Automatic Activity of the Isolated Guinea Pig Pulmonary Vein Myocardium through Activation of the IP₃ Receptor and the Na+-Ca(2+) Exchanger. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 30974804 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20071768]
- Jansen HJ, Mackasey M, Moghtadaei M, Belke DD, Egom EE, Tuomi JM, Rafferty SA, Kirkby AW, Rose RA. Distinct 19 patterns of atrial electrical and structural remodeling in angiotensin II mediated atrial fibrillation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2018; 124: 12-25 [PMID: 30273558 DOI: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2018.09.011]
- Zimmerman MC, Lazartigues E, Sharma RV, Davisson RL. Hypertension caused by angiotensin II infusion involves 20 increased superoxide production in the central nervous system. Circ Res 2004; 95: 210-216 [PMID: 15192025 DOI: 10.1161/01.RES.0000135483.12297.e4]
- Bookani KR, Ostovaneh MR, Venkatesh BA, Sharma S, Allison M, Greenland P, Heckbert S, Wu CO, Bluemke DA, 21 Lima J. Adiponectin, left atrial remodeling, and atrial fibrillation: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019; 73: 499-499 [DOI: 10.1016/S0735-1097(19)31107-6]
- Alexander B, MacHaalany J, Lam B, van Rooy H, Haseeb S, Kuchtaruk A, Glover B, Bayés de Luna A, Baranchuk A. 22 Comparison of the Extent of Coronary Artery Disease in Patients With Versus Without Interatrial Block and Implications for New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2017; 119: 1162-1165 [PMID: 28214506 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.12.032
- Marcus GM, Whooley MA, Glidden DV, Pawlikowska L, Zaroff JG, Olgin JE. Interleukin-6 and atrial fibrillation in 23 patients with coronary artery disease: data from the Heart and Soul Study. Am Heart J 2008; 155: 303-309 [PMID: 18215601 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2007.09.006]
- Raphael CE, Heit JA, Reeder GS, Bois MC, Maleszewski JJ, Tilbury RT, Holmes DR Jr. Coronary Embolus: An 24 Underappreciated Cause of Acute Coronary Syndromes. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 11: 172-180 [PMID: 29348012 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.08.057]
- O'Neal WT, Soliman EZ, Howard G, Howard VJ, Safford MM, Cushman M, Zakai NA. Inflammation and hemostasis in 25 atrial fibrillation and coronary heart disease: The REasons for Geographic And Racial Differences in Stroke study. Atherosclerosis 2015; 243: 192-197 [PMID: 26398291 DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.09.009]
- Garg PK, O'Neal WT, Chen LY, Loehr LR, Sotoodehnia N, Soliman EZ, Alonso A. American Heart Association's Life 26 Simple 7 and Risk of Atrial Fibrillation in a Population Without Known Cardiovascular Disease: The ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities) Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2018; 7 [PMID: 29650711 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.117.008424
- 27 Fanaroff AC, Li S, Marquis-Gravel G, Giri J, Lopes RD, Piccini JP, Wang TY. Atrial Fibrillation and Coronary Artery Disease: A Long-Term Perspective on the Need for Combined Antithrombotic Therapy. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2021; 14: e011232 [PMID: 34932388 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.121.011232]
- Staerk L, Sherer JA, Ko D, Benjamin EJ, Helm RH. Atrial Fibrillation: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical 28 Outcomes. Circ Res 2017; 120: 1501-1517 [PMID: 28450367 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309732]
- 29 Markides V, Schilling RJ. Atrial fibrillation: classification, pathophysiology, mechanisms and drug treatment. Heart 2003; 89: 939-943 [PMID: 12860883 DOI: 10.1136/heart.89.8.939]
- Bizhanov KA, Abzaliyev KB, Baimbetov AK, Sarsenbayeva AB, Lyan E. Atrial fibrillation: Epidemiology, 30 pathophysiology, and clinical complications (literature review). J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2023; 34: 153-165 [PMID: 36434795 DOI: 10.1111/jce.15759]
- Guo Y, Wang Y, Li X, Shan Z, Shi X, Xi G, Lip GYH; ChiOTEAF Registry Investigators. Optimal Thromboprophylaxis 31 in Elderly Chinese Patients with Atrial Fibrillation (ChiOTEAF) registry: protocol for a prospective, observational nationwide cohort study. BMJ Open 2018; 8: e020191 [PMID: 29730624 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020191]
- 32 January CT, Wann LS, Calkins H, Chen LY, Cigarroa JE, Cleveland JC Jr, Ellinor PT, Ezekowitz MD, Field ME, Furie KL, Heidenreich PA, Murray KT, Shea JB, Tracy CM, Yancy CW. 2019 AHA/ACC/HRS Focused Update of the 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for the Management of Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society in Collaboration With the Society of Thoracic Surgeons. Circulation 2019; 140: e125-e151 [PMID: 30686041 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000665



- Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, Castella M, Diener HC, Heidbuchel H, Hendriks J, 33 Hindricks G, Manolis AS, Oldgren J, Popescu BA, Schotten U, Van Putte B, Vardas P. [2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS]. Kardiol Pol 2016; 74: 1359-1469 [PMID: 28009037 DOI: 10.5603/KP.2016.0172]
- Hindricks G, Potpara T, Dagres N, Arbelo E, Bax JJ, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Boriani G, Castella M, Dan GA, Dilaveris 34 PE, Fauchier L, Filippatos G, Kalman JM, La Meir M, Lane DA, Lebeau JP, Lettino M, Lip GYH, Pinto FJ, Thomas GN, Valgimigli M, Van Gelder IC, Van Putte BP, Watkins CL. Corrigendum to: 2020 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS): The Task Force for the diagnosis and management of atrial fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 4194 [PMID: 34520521 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab648]
- 35 Zhang J, Lenarczyk R, Marin F, Malaczynska-Rajpold K, Kosiuk J, Doehner W, Van Gelder IC, Lee G, Hendriks JM, Lip GYH, Potpara TS. The interpretation of CHA2DS2-VASc score components in clinical practice: a joint survey by the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) Scientific Initiatives Committee, the EHRA Young Electrophysiologists, the Association of Cardiovascular Nursing and Allied Professionals, and the European Society of Cardiology Council on Stroke. Europace 2021; 23: 314-322 [PMID: 33554259 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euaa358]
- Shi B, Liu D, Wang Q, Geng X, Hou Q, Gu G, Xie R, Cui W. Relationship among atrial fibrillation, the CHA(2)DS(2)-36 VASc score and ischaemic stroke in patients with coronary artery disease: a propensity score matching study in Hebei, China. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2021; 21: 474 [PMID: 34600490 DOI: 10.1186/s12872-021-02276-z]
- Petersen P, Kastrup J, Helweg-Larsen S, Boysen G, Godtfredsen J. Risk factors for thromboembolic complications in 37 chronic atrial fibrillation. The Copenhagen AFASAK study. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150: 819-821 [PMID: 2183733 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.1990.00390160077016]
- Ezekowitz MD, James KE, Nazarian SM, Davenport J, Broderick JP, Gupta SR, Thadani V, Meyer ML, Bridgers SL. 38 Silent cerebral infarction in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. The Veterans Affairs Stroke Prevention in Nonrheumatic Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. Circulation 1995; 92: 2178-2182 [PMID: 7554199 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.92.8.2178]
- van Walraven C, Hart RG, Wells GA, Petersen P, Koudstaal PJ, Gullov AL, Hellemons BS, Koefed BG, Laupacis A. A 39 clinical prediction rule to identify patients with atrial fibrillation and a low risk for stroke while taking aspirin. Arch Intern Med 2003; 163: 936-943 [PMID: 12719203 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.163.8.936]
- Goto S, Bhatt DL, Röther J, Alberts M, Hill MD, Ikeda Y, Uchiyama S, D'Agostino R, Ohman EM, Liau CS, Hirsch AT, 40 Mas JL, Wilson PW, Corbalán R, Aichner F, Steg PG; REACH Registry Investigators. Prevalence, clinical profile, and cardiovascular outcomes of atrial fibrillation patients with atherothrombosis. Am Heart J 2008; 156: 855-863, 863.e2 [PMID: 19061698 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2008.06.029]
- Olesen JB, Lip GY, Lane DA, Køber L, Hansen ML, Karasoy D, Hansen CM, Gislason GH, Torp-Pedersen C. Vascular 41 disease and stroke risk in atrial fibrillation: a nationwide cohort study. Am J Med 2012; 125: 826.e13-826.e23 [PMID: 22579139 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.11.024]
- Rasmussen LH, Larsen TB, Due KM, Tjønneland A, Overvad K, Lip GY. Impact of vascular disease in predicting stroke 42 and death in patients with atrial fibrillation: the Danish Diet, Cancer and Health cohort study. J Thromb Haemost 2011; 9: 1301-1307 [PMID: 21535388 DOI: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04308.x]
- Anandasundaram B, Lane DA, Apostolakis S, Lip GY. The impact of atherosclerotic vascular disease in predicting a 43 stroke, thromboembolism and mortality in atrial fibrillation patients: a systematic review. J Thromb Haemost 2013; 11: 975-987 [PMID: 23441593 DOI: 10.1111/jth.12177]
- Steensig K, Olesen KKW, Thim T, Nielsen JC, Jensen SE, Jensen LO, Kristensen SD, Bøtker HE, Lip GYH, Maeng M. 44 CAD Is an Independent Risk Factor for Stroke Among Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 72: 2540-2542 [PMID: 30157457 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.08.1046]
- Brener SJ. What Happened to the Cycle of Knowledge? Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2021; 14: e011549 [PMID: 34932390 45 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.121.011549]
- Kotalczyk A, Guo Y, Fawzy AM, Wang Y, Lip GYH. Outcomes in elderly Chinese patients with atrial fibrillation and 46 coronary artery disease. A report from the Optimal Thromboprophylaxis in Elderly Chinese Patients with Atrial Fibrillation (ChiOTEAF) registry. J Arrhythm 2022; 38: 580-588 [PMID: 35936042 DOI: 10.1002/joa3.12744]
- 47 Wibawa K, Dewangga R, Nastiti KS, Syah PA, Suhendiwijaya S, Ariffudin Y. Prior statin use and the incidence of inhospital arrhythmia in acute coronary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Indian Heart J 2023; 75: 9-16 [PMID: 36642406 DOI: 10.1016/j.ihj.2023.01.004]
- Manolis AJ, Poulimenos LE, Ambrosio G, Kallistratos MS, Lopez-Sendon J, Dechend R, Mancia G, Camm AJ. Medical 48 treatment of stable angina: A tailored therapeutic approach. Int J Cardiol 2016; 220: 445-453 [PMID: 27390968 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.06.150]
- Matsuzawa Y, Kimura K, Yasuda S, Kaikita K, Akao M, Ako J, Matoba T, Nakamura M, Miyauchi K, Hagiwara N, 49 Hirayama A, Matsui K, Ogawa H; AFIRE Investigators. Antithrombotic Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation and Coronary Artery Disease in Patients With Prior Atherothrombotic Disease: A Post Hoc Analysis of the AFIRE Trial. J Am Heart Assoc 2021; 10: e020907 [PMID: 34658247 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.121.020907]
- 50 Angiolillo DJ, Bhatt DL, Cannon CP, Eikelboom JW, Gibson CM, Goodman SG, Granger CB, Holmes DR, Lopes RD, Mehran R, Moliterno DJ, Price MJ, Saw J, Tanguay JF, Faxon DP. Antithrombotic Therapy in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation Treated With Oral Anticoagulation Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: A North American Perspective: 2021 Update. Circulation 2021; 143: 583-596 [PMID: 33555916 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.050438]
- Zagidullin NS, Michels G, Zagidullin SZ. Statins and their antiarrhythmic activity. Cardiovasc Ther Prev 2023; 6: 116-51 121 [DOI: 10.18565/cardio.2016.8.5-8]
- Fox K, Ford I, Steg PG, Tardif JC, Tendera M, Ferrari R; SIGNIFY Investigators. Ivabradine in stable coronary artery 52 disease without clinical heart failure. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 1091-1099 [PMID: 25176136 DOI:



10.1056/NEJMoa1406430]

- 53 Martin RI, Pogoryelova O, Koref MS, Bourke JP, Teare MD, Keavney BD. Atrial fibrillation associated with ivabradine treatment: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Heart 2014; 100: 1506-1510 [PMID: 24951486 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305482]
- 54 Miles RH, Passman R, Murdock DK. Comparison of effectiveness and safety of ranolazine versus amiodarone for preventing atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass grafting. Am J Cardiol 2011; 108: 673-676 [PMID: 21726841 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.04.017]
- Guerra F, Romandini A, Barbarossa A, Belardinelli L, Capucci A. Ranolazine for rhythm control in atrial fibrillation: A 55 systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 2017; 227: 284-291 [PMID: 27839812 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcard.2016.11.103
- Gunes Y, Tuncer M, Guntekin U, Akdag S, Gumrukcuoglu HA. The effects of trimetazidine on p-wave duration and 56 dispersion in heart failure patients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2009; 32: 239-244 [PMID: 19170914 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8159.2008.02208.x
- Camm AJ, Naccarelli GV, Mittal S, Crijns HJGM, Hohnloser SH, Ma CS, Natale A, Turakhia MP, Kirchhof P. The 57 Increasing Role of Rhythm Control in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022; 79: 1932-1948 [PMID: 35550691 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2022.03.337]
- Rillig A, Borof K, Breithardt G, Camm AJ, Crijns HJGM, Goette A, Kuck KH, Metzner A, Vardas P, Vettorazzi E, Wegscheider K, Zapf A, Kirchhof P. Early Rhythm Control in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation and High Comorbidity Burden. Circulation 2022; 146: 836-847 [PMID: 35968706 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.122.060274]
- Kim D, Yang PS, Joung B. Optimal Rhythm Control Strategy in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation. Korean Circ J 2022; 59 52: 496-512 [PMID: 35790494 DOI: 10.4070/kcj.2022.0078]
- 60 Khan AA, Thomas GN, Lip GYH, Shantsila A. Endothelial function in patients with atrial fibrillation. Ann Med 2020; 52: 1-11 [PMID: 31903788 DOI: 10.1080/07853890.2019.1711158]
- Su JB. Vascular endothelial dysfunction and pharmacological treatment. World J Cardiol 2015; 7: 719-741 [PMID: 61 26635921 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v7.i11.719]
- Varghese B, Feldman DI, Chew C, Valilis E, Blumenthal RS, Sharma G, Calkins H. Inflammation, atrial fibrillation, and 62 the potential role for colchicine therapy. Heart Rhythm O2 2021; 2: 298-303 [PMID: 34337581 DOI: 10.1016/j.hroo.2021.03.011]
- 63 Zhou X, Dudley SC Jr. Evidence for Inflammation as a Driver of Atrial Fibrillation. Front Cardiovasc Med 2020; 7: 62 [PMID: 32411723 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2020.00062]
- Tardif JC, Kouz S, Waters DD, Bertrand OF, Diaz R, Maggioni AP, Pinto FJ, Ibrahim R, Gamra H, Kiwan GS, Berry C, 64 López-Sendón J, Ostadal P, Koenig W, Angoulvant D, Grégoire JC, Lavoie MA, Dubé MP, Rhainds D, Provencher M, Blondeau L, Orfanos A, L'Allier PL, Guertin MC, Roubille F. Efficacy and Safety of Low-Dose Colchicine after Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 2497-2505 [PMID: 31733140 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1912388]
- Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, MacFadyen JG, Chang WH, Ballantyne C, Fonseca F, Nicolau J, Koenig W, Anker SD, Kastelein JJP, Cornel JH, Pais P, Pella D, Genest J, Cifkova R, Lorenzatti A, Forster T, Kobalava Z, Vida-Simiti L, Flather M, Shimokawa H, Ogawa H, Dellborg M, Rossi PRF, Troquay RPT, Libby P, Glynn RJ; CANTOS Trial Group. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 1119-1131 [PMID: 28845751 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1707914]
- Einarson TR, Acs A, Ludwig C, Panton UH. Prevalence of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review of scientific evidence from across the world in 2007-2017. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2018; 17: 83 [PMID: 29884191 DOI: 10.1186/s12933-018-0728-6]
- Bano A, Rodondi N, Beer JH, Moschovitis G, Kobza R, Aeschbacher S, Baretella O, Muka T, Stettler C, Franco OH, 67 Conte G, Sticherling C, Zuern CS, Conen D, Kühne M, Osswald S, Roten L, Reichlin T; of the Swiss-Investigators. Association of Diabetes With Atrial Fibrillation Phenotype and Cardiac and Neurological Comorbidities: Insights From the Swiss-AF Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2021; 10: e021800 [PMID: 34753292 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.121.021800]
- Lee TW, Lee TI, Lin YK, Chen YC, Kao YH, Chen YJ. Effect of antidiabetic drugs on the risk of atrial fibrillation: 68 mechanistic insights from clinical evidence and translational studies. Cell Mol Life Sci 2021; 78: 923-934 [PMID: 32965513 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-020-03648-y]
- Batta A, Sharma YP, Hatwal J, Panda P, Kumar BGV, Bhogal S. Predictors of dementia amongst newly diagnosed non-69 valvular atrial fibrillation patients. Indian Heart J 2022; 74: 505-509 [PMID: 36462552 DOI: 10.1016/j.ihj.2022.11.009]
- 70 Lăcătuşu CM, Grigorescu ED, Stătescu C, Sascău RA, Onofriescu A, Mihai BM. Association of Antihyperglycemic Therapy with Risk of Atrial Fibrillation and Stroke in Diabetic Patients. Medicina (Kaunas) 2019; 55 [PMID: 31540142 DOI: 10.3390/medicina55090592]
- Liou YS, Yang FY, Chen HY, Jong GP. Antihyperglycemic drugs use and new-onset atrial fibrillation: A population-71 based nested case control study. *PLoS One* 2018; **13**: e0197245 [PMID: 30161122 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197245]
- Chang SH, Wu LS, Chiou MJ, Liu JR, Yu KH, Kuo CF, Wen MS, Chen WJ, Yeh YH, See LC. Association of metformin 72 with lower atrial fibrillation risk among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a population-based dynamic cohort and in vitro studies. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2014; 13: 123 [PMID: 25106079 DOI: 10.1186/s12933-014-0123-x]
- Pallisgaard JL, Lindhardt TB, Staerk L, Olesen JB, Torp-Pedersen C, Hansen ML, Gislason GH. Thiazolidinediones are 73 associated with a decreased risk of atrial fibrillation compared with other antidiabetic treatment: a nationwide cohort study. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother 2017; 3: 140-146 [PMID: 28028073 DOI: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvw036]
- Chang CY, Yeh YH, Chan YH, Liu JR, Chang SH, Lee HF, Wu LS, Yen KC, Kuo CT, See LC. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 74 inhibitor decreases the risk of atrial fibrillation in patients with type 2 diabetes: a nationwide cohort study in Taiwan. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2017; 16: 159 [PMID: 29258504 DOI: 10.1186/s12933-017-0640-5]
- 75 Monami M, Nreu B, Scatena A, Giannini S, Andreozzi F, Sesti G, Mannucci E. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. J Endocrinol Invest 2017; 40: 1251-1258 [PMID: 28569363 DOI: 10.1007/s40618-017-0698-7]
- Zelniker TA, Bonaca MP, Furtado RHM, Mosenzon O, Kuder JF, Murphy SA, Bhatt DL, Leiter LA, McGuire DK, 76



Wilding JPH, Budaj A, Kiss RG, Padilla F, Gause-Nilsson I, Langkilde AM, Raz I, Sabatine MS, Wiviott SD. Effect of Dapagliflozin on Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: Insights From the DECLARE-TIMI 58 Trial. Circulation 2020; 141: 1227-1234 [PMID: 31983236 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.044183]



WJC World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 244-252

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.244

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Current knowledge and contemporary management of non-A non-B aortic dissections

Konstantinos C Christodoulou, Dimos Karangelis, Gioultzan Memet Efenti, Panagiotis Sdrevanos, Jennifer R Browning, Fotis Konstantinou, Efstratios Georgakarakos, Fotios A Mitropoulos, Dimitrios Mikroulis

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Sef D, United Kingdom; Ueda H, Japan

Received: February 11, 2023 Peer-review started: February 11, 2023 First decision: March 28, 2023 Revised: April 10, 2023 Accepted: April 25, 2023 Article in press: April 25, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Konstantinos C Christodoulou, Dimos Karangelis, Jennifer R Browning, Fotis Konstantinou, Dimitrios Mikroulis, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Democritus University of Thrace, University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, Alexandroupolis 68100, Greece

Gioultzan Memet Efenti, Department of Surgery, Didimotichon General Hospital, Didimotichon 68300, Greece

Panagiotis Sdrevanos, Cardioiasis Cardiology Clinic, Xanthi 67100, Greece

Efstratios Georgakarakos, Department of Vascular Surgery, University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, Democritus University of Thrace, Alexandroupolis 68100, Greece

Fotios A Mitropoulos, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Mitera Hospital, Athens 15123, Greece

Corresponding author: Dimos Karangelis, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Democritus University of Thrace, University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, 6th km. Alexandroupolis-Makris, Dragana, Alexandroupolis 68100, Greece. dimoskaragel@yahoo.gr

Abstract

Non-A non-B aortic dissection (AAD) is an infrequently documented condition, comprising of only a small proportion of all AADs. The unique anatomy of the aortic arch and the failure of the existing classifications to adequately define individuals with non-A non-B AAD, have led to an ongoing controversy around the topic. It seems that the clinical progression of acute non-A non-B AAD diverges from the typical type A and B dissections, frequently leading to serious complications and thus mandating early intervention. Currently, the available treatment methods in the surgical armamentarium are conventional open, endovascular techniques and combined hybrid methods. The optimum approach is tailored in every individual case and may be determined by the dissection's location, extent, the aortic diameter, the associated complications and the patient's status. The management of non-A non-B dissections still remains challenging and a unanimous consensus defining the gold standard treatment has yet to be reached. In an attempt to provide further insight into this perplexing entity, we performed a minireview of the literature, aiming to elucidate the epidemiology, clinical course and the optimal treatment modality.



Key Words: Aortic dissection; Aortic disease; Aortic surgery; Thoracic aorta disease; Aortic arch dissection

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The available treatment options in the surgical armamentarium are conventional open surgery with standard aortic arch replacement or frozen elephant trunk (FET), interventional therapies such as the thoracic endovascular aortic repair (TEVAR) and hybrid techniques combining TEVAR with debranching of the supra-aortic vessels. In the case of a favorable arch anatomy, TEVAR is the preferable treatment option. Alternatively, when the entry tear is located in the proximal segment of the aortic arch, a hybrid arch repair, aortic arch replacement or even FET should be given thorough consideration.

Citation: Christodoulou KC, Karangelis D, Efenti GM, Sdrevanos P, Browning JR, Konstantinou F, Georgakarakos E, Mitropoulos FA, Mikroulis D. Current knowledge and contemporary management of non-A non-B aortic dissections. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 244-252 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/244.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.244

INTRODUCTION

As part of the cluster of the clinical entities related to acute aortic syndromes[1], acute aortic dissection (AAD) is a challenging and life-threatening cardiovascular emergency[2], with approximately 6 new cases per 100000 population per annum[3]. In an AAD, an intimal tear compromises the medial layer's structural integrity, separating the aortic wall layers. Subsequently, a "new" false lumen is formed, allowing blood to enter the tunica media[3]. If not addressed, it has a significant propensity for developing into a fatal disorder due to rupture, myocardial infarction, cardiac tamponade, aortic valve insufficiency[4], or even end-organ malperfusion[5]. Since the second half of the previous century, the Stanford and DeBakey classifications are the primary systems, which have consistently determined the patients' management. However, by default, they both fail to distinguish and address dissections confined or involving the aortic arch[5]. von Segesser et al[6] were the first to introduce the term "non-A non-B" when referring to intima tears sparing the ascending aorta.

Non-A non-B AAD can be defined as an entry intimal tear, located beyond the left subclavian artery (LSA), with the dissection extending retrogradely into the aortic arch (descending entry type), or as an entry tear located between the innominate and the LSA (arch entry type), with or without distal extension of the dissection^[7]. It seems that there is scarcity of data regarding their natural history, clinical course and management[8]. Accordingly, we performed a minireview of the literature, to unveil the details of the topic with regards to epidemiology, contemporary classification systems as well as the available surgical armamentarium and possible treatment options.

EPIDEMIOLOGY, RISKS AND PREDISPOSING FACTORS

Non-A non-B AAD is an infrequently documented condition, comprising only a small proportion of all AADs. Its comparatively elevated mortality, hinders the ascertainment of its true incidence, since a considerable number of patients die prior to the diagnosis[2]. Regardless of the divergent results across different studies, a recent review exhibited that the incidence of non-A non-B AAD lies between the respective of type A and type B, varying from 2.8% to 16.5% [5]. The affected individuals tend to be 5 to 10 years younger in comparison to patients with other AADs[9], while some disagreement exists as to whether or not there is a prevailing type of location for the entry tear (arch or descending)[10,11].

There are several risk factors associated with non-A non-B AADs, with chronic and mainly poorly controlled hypertension being the most frequently reported. In the majority of the published cases, roughly 80% of the patients have a medical history of hypertension [5,8,10,12,13]. Tobacco addiction, hypercholesterolemia and diabetes mellitus were also found to pose a great risk for AAD. In addition, connective tissue disorders like Ehlers-Danlos and Marfan Syndromes, inflammatory vasculitis, pregnancy, trauma, previous heart surgery, the presence of bicuspid aortic valve, stimulant usage, infections and some very rare genetic disorders are among the predisposing medical conditions linked to AAD[2]. Additionally, a non-A non-B dissection can be attributed to an intramural hematoma and penetration aortic ulceration[1].

Furthermore, the role of other factors has also been investigated. Recent papers have exhibited a correlation between this specific type of AAD and anatomic characteristics of the aortic arch. Rylski et al



[12] demonstrated that arch types are distributed variably among different dissections. Type I in which the vertical distance between innominate artery and the top of the aortic arch is less than the diameter of the left common carotid artery (LCCA), was usually seen in type A AADs, while in non-A non-B AADs arch type II (vertical distance between innominate artery and aortic arch is equal or twice the diameter of the LCCA) prevailed (49%). In approximately 1/3 of the non-A non-B patients (28%), two instead of the three branches arise from the arch, since the innominate and the LCCA were found to share a common trunk and in 16% of the cases the left vertebral artery arose directly from the arch[10]. Irrespective of these variations, the aortic arch's curved shape and its branches, form two natural barriers, which can prevent a dissection from spreading further. The origin of the innominate artery serves as the proximal barrier, while the distal barrier is considered to be the LSA. As a result, these margins may be incriminated as the two very distinctive arch and descending entry dissection types[11].

CLINICAL PRESENTATION

In most cases of AAD, the most common symptom is sudden, acute chest pain and/or back discomfort [3]. Nevertheless, in rare cases a subtle or discrete type of AAD[3] has been reported, which is typically detected intraoperatively, despite being misdiagnosed during the patient's initial assessment[14]. Wang *et al*[15] in their retrospective study, stated that all non-A non-B patients reported an abrupt onset of severe chest pain for at least a six-hour duration. Notably, a recent meta-analysis showed that nearly 50% of the patients were admitted with or developed over time, signs of at least one organ malperfusion and that 6% were at risk of an impending rupture[8]. In the same paper, the authors highlighted the surprisingly large proportion of patients (88%), who had a complicated clinical course, as distinct from type B dissections. Hence, cardiogenic shock, cardiac arrest, cardiac tamponade, periaortic hematoma, acute renal failure, stroke/neurologic deficits or even aortic rupture are some of the baseline character-istics of non-A non-B dissection patients[13].

CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM

Over the years and with the exploitation of the emerging imaging modalities, several classification systems have been proposed and deployed to facilitate the triage and enhance the post-treatment clinical outcomes. The two traditional and widely known DeBakey and Stanford classifications were introduced in the 1950s and 1960s, respectively, and are based on the intimal tear's location and extension[16,17]. It is evident, that since the aforementioned systems focus primarily on the ascending and descending part of the aorta, they lack clarity regarding aortic arch involvement[4].

The European Society of Cardiology guidelines about aortic diseases fail to include the arch dissection as a distinct entity. The American Heart Association guidelines propose the term "proximal type B aortic dissection" for patients with entry tears in the arch, expanding antegradely to the descending aorta[18,19]. The 2019 consensus of the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery and the European Society for Vascular Surgery, referred to non-A non-B AAD, as an arch involvement either by the most proximal tear or by retrograde extension, but sparing the ascending aorta[20].

Since the introduction of the term non-A non-B AAD back in 1994[6], several studies have proposed the modification of the already existing classifications, by adding this type of dissection. Based on the entry tear's location, in 2017, non-A non-B AADs were divided into two distinct groups; arch and descending entry tear[10]. Recently, Qanadli *et al*[4] driven by the Stanford classification, proposed the incorporation of "type C" AAD, referring to the corresponding non-A non-B dissection suggested earlier by Rylski *et al*[10]. For the first time, they also mention, grades of malperfusion syndrome (MPS grade 0-3). More specifically, the absence of malperfusion is classified as grade 0, compression of the true lumen as grade 1, while the extension of the dissection to renal artery is categorized as grade 2. According to the authors grade 3 incorporates both the absence of malperfusion and the extension of the dissection to the renal artery. Therefore, the MPS grade dictates the need for additional therapy to maintain perfusion of vital organs.

Sievers *et al*[9] extended the Stanford classification by including all types of AAD, the location of primary aortic entry tear and the malperfusion status (TEM). According to their proposal, T refers to type A, type B or non-A non-B dissections, E includes E0: No visible entry site, E1: Entry tear in ascending aorta, E2: Tear in arch, E3: Tear in descending aorta and M includes M0, M1, M2, M3 when no malperfusion, coronary artery, subra-aortic arteries, renal/visceral ± lower extremity arteries were involved, respectively. They also mention the presence (+) and absence (-) of clinical symptoms of organ malperfusion offering a more complete picture of AADs in an attempt to achieve optimal therapeutic planning and outcome[9].

Raisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

TREATMENT MODALITIES

Decision on optimal medical treatment of AADs is determined based on the dissection's location, extent, the aortic diameter, the accompanying complications, the adjacent anatomy, the patient's status and comorbodities[21]. Stanford type A/DeBakey type I or II dissections, when left untreated, typically have a mortality rate exceeding 50% the first 48 h, so open surgery on emergency basis with replacement of the ascending aorta is highly recommended [3,19]. On the other hand, when the dissection involves solely the descending thoracic aorta (DTA) (Stanford type B/DeBakey type III dissections), the clinical course is usually uncomplicated. When that is the case, the 30-d mortality rate is approximately 10%, thus, conservative medical therapy or interventional, endovascular treatment (for complicated type B dissections) are the most common, yet not exclusive, treatment options[3,19]. However, aortic arch dissections have not been accurately classified, which leads to uncertainty and disagreement on treatment planning[4]. In addition, the contribution of the imaging modalities, towards an accurate diagnosis should not be omitted. The transthoracic echocardiography, although mostly employed in nonemergency cases, could potentially provide useful details regarding the proximal DTA, the aortic arch branches and detect some of the dissection's complications[19]. Yet, the valuable role of the preoperative computed tomography is constantly increasing, as it can sometimes detect the dissection and its extent, delineate the anatomy of the area, and even depict clinically significant incidental findings^[22], enhancing the diagnostic accuracy and tailoring the treatment plan^[19].

Aiming for the closure of the proximal entry tear, a great number of research papers have suggested the implementation of surgical treatment for non-A non-B AADs, explicitly exhibiting that conservative treatment is inferior to any type of intervention, presenting a 30-d mortality rate of 14% as compared to 3.6% for surgically or endovascularly treated patients[8]. According to recent data, it seems that the clinical manifestation and progression of acute non-A non-B AAD diverge from the typical type A and B dissections and especially from the acute type B AAD, which is confined to the DTA[23]. Valentine *et al* [24] noted that dissections including the arch had a worse outcome than those affecting only the DTA. Equally important results from an expert consensus state that the arch's involvement in the dissecting process has an immense impact on the patients' outcome, including but not limited to the prolonged hospital stay, the increased probability of cardiac and neurologic complications such as rupture, congestive heart failure, MPS, stroke, spinal cord injury (SCI) and the need for reintervention if not addressed betimes[20,25].

Because non-A non-B AADs are associated with an increased likelihood of a complicated course, the optimal management orders early intervention^[5]. In spite of the fact that, during the past years, many therapeutic plans have been proposed, there remains a dearth of literature regarding pertinent studies comparing different modalities for the treatment of non-A, non-B AAD. Moreover, the existing studies have limited patient samples and lack long-term follow-up[21]. Therefore, a unanimous consensus defining the gold standard treatment has yet to be reached[5]. Currently, the available treatment options in the surgical armamentarium are conventional open surgery with standard aortic arch replacement or frozen elephant trunk (FET), interventional therapies such as the thoracic endovascular aortic repair (TEVAR) with extra-thoracic surgical transposition or chimney stent graft and hybrid techniques combining TEVAR with debranching of the supra-aortic vessels[8]. Lately, a new hybrid technique was launched by Wang et al[15] with satisfactory short-term outcomes, called the "inclusion aortic arch technique", as an alternative to the traditional hybrid surgery, so to avoid endoleaks and retrograde type A dissection, which may complicate the procedure.

According to the International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection study findings, arch entry and DTA entry type dissections differ from one another in terms of their course. More specifically, a DTA dissection, expanding retrogradely to the arch, has no impact on either early or late mortality or the management plan, with its clinical course resembling that of type B AAD. Whereas complicated arch entry dissections with antegrade expansion to the DTA, were found to have an elevated in-hospital mortality, requiring an even more urgent intervention [13,25]. Trimarchi et al [13] also presented data which argue that non-A non-B AAD should perhaps warrant a more aggressive approach. In their analysis, 14% of patients with an "uncomplicated" arch tear had progression of the dissection, which likely contributed to a 30% incidence of lethal stroke. In the same frame, Kosiorowska *et al*[7] stressed/ pointed out the contemporary tendency towards an earlier intervention on the altar of a favorable aortic remodeling. In arch entry type patients, open aortic arch repair is preferable compared to endovascular techniques in term of survival and post-operative complications rate 7. In these cases, there are several arch replacement grafts commercially available (Figures 1 and 2).

The arch entry dissections, can be managed with standard aortic arch replacement combined with FET, as the procedure is associated with low peri and post-operative mortality and complication rates [7]. Hybrid methods have been proposed as an effective alternative, which can prevent the need for cardiopulmonary bypass, hypothermic cardiac arrest and any related problems, but their efficacy has not yet been proven in the long run[26]. However, the study conducted by Tian et al[27], employing different hybrid methods (type I-III) to treat 46 patients, has demonstrated promising outcomes with respect to overall mortality and complication rates, in comparison to surgical or endovascular repair. Taking into account the lack of guidelines regarding postoperative thromboprophylaxis, caution must be exerted to avoid the graft's occlusion [28]. Irrespective of the entry type, evidence shows that TEVAR



Christodoulou KC et al. Non-A non-B dissections



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.244 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Pre-operative computed tomography images of a non-A non-B aortic dissection case contained in the aortic arch, which was surgically managed in our department. A: Axial view, blue arrow shows the true lumen; B: Sagittal view.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.244 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 The aortic arch was replaced with a graft (prefabricated aortic branched graft), which contained three pre-attached branches for all three great vessels. A: Axial view, red arrow demarcates distal anastomotic suture line; B: Sagittal view; red arrow the proximal suture line with the ascending aorta.

is a valid treatment option provided that the aortic arch has favorable anatomy[8]. Alternatively, when the entry tear is located in zone 1, a hybrid arch repair, aortic arch replacement or even FET should be given thorough consideration[8]. This minireview focuses primarily on the FET and TEVAR techniques.

ET AND FET

Treatment of non-A non-B AAD can be performed with a two-stage surgical technique called "ET"[29]. The first stage of ET includes a sternotomy and a reconstruction of the ascending aorta and the aortic arch with a graft while in the second stage, the floating extension of the graft (ET) in the descending aorta is utilized in order to extend the repair of the DTA. The second stage *per se* includes a lateral thoracotomy to approach the descending aorta. The evolution of surgical and endovascular techniques has resulted in the development of a composite prosthesis, known as the "Frozen ET"[20]. The use of FET instead of the conventional ET has been increasing over the last years[20].

Combining the benefits of both open and interventional repair, FET is a viable solution in cases of a proximal entry tear as well as for patients with non-A non-B AAD or complicated chronic type B, who are not suitable for TEVAR[30,31]. This one-stage procedure allows a total aortic arch replacement with antegrade delivery of a descending aortic stent-graft[32]. The stent-graft may serve as a proximal landing zone to facilitate future endovascular intervention in the distal aorta[30]. The FET technique has

Baishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

been extensively applied in cases of acute dissections to restore true lumen patency, seal intimal tears in the descending aorta and promote false lumen thrombosis, as well as repairing chronic degenerative arch aneurysms[19,32]. FET implantation has the potential to prevent secondary thoracic and abdominal aortic replacement by enlarging the true lumen and promoting favorable remodeling of the distal aorta [19,33,34]. Yet, if replacement of the thoracic and abdominal aorta is required, its additional suture margins at each side, facilitate anastomosis[5,30]. The two most common commercially available hybrid FET prostheses namely the Thoraflex hybrid and E-vita open are associated with comparable outcomes [20].

Carino *et al*[8] mention that 7% of the non-A non-B patients underwent the FET procedure, pointing out that it should be considered in complicated cases, since it alleviates the compressed true lumen and covers any newly formed entry tears in the proximal DTA, applying pressure to the false lumen. Zhao *et al*[35] reported the in-hospital mortality rate of their 24 non-A non-B AAD patients treated with FET, to be 4.1%, while the 5-year survival rate was approximately 92%. The authors concluded that, this surgical technique represents a feasible option with acceptable short and long-term outcomes. Another study cohort, whilst exhibiting similar early results, stresses the importance of the continuous monitoring and follow-up, due to the potential need for aortic reintervention[31]; results in accordance with Tian *et al* [27] paper.

Although the technique is more invasive than TEVAR, it minimizes the risk of type Ia endoleaks and retrograde type A dissection[30]. On the other hand, FET's primary disadvantage is the increased risk of surgical trauma brought on by the necessity for extended periods of extracorporeal circulation, circulatory arrest, myocardial ischemia, stroke and SCI, due to the extensive coverage of the descending aorta with the occlusion of intercostal arteries[8]. Additionally, aortic valve insufficiency, bovine aortic arch, the dissection of the LCCA and preoperative cardiopulmonary resuscitation have all been linked to an increased risk for postoperative stroke[36,37]. Notably, in many studies, including a meta-analysis with 3000 "aortic surgical" patients, SCI was documented in 4% of the cases. By diminishing the circulatory arrest time and FET maneuvers above the 8th thoracic vertebra, SCIs could be substantially reduced[38]. Cerebrospinal fluid drainage and neuromonitoring should also be carried out for high-risk patients[39].

TEVAR

TEVAR, given its minimal invasive character, has recently been shown to be the most widely used technique to treat non-A non-B dissections, comprising 55% of the treatment[8]. The aim of the stent-graft's deployment in the thoracic aorta is the successful closure of the primary entry tear. As a result, the false lumen is excluded from the systemic circulation, thrombosed and shrank, thus it no more compresses the true lumen and organ perfusion is maintained. According to the location of the primary entry tear, different TEVAR sealing zones exist (zone 0, 1, 2, 3). Zone 3 TEVAR refers to entry tears located in the DTA with retrograde extension, with the stent-graft deployed distal to the LSA. For more proximal entry tears, zone 2 TEVAR is employed, which includes a sealing zone between the origin of the LCCA and the LSA. TEVAR zone 1 refers to graft apposition between the innominate artery and LCCA, while TEVAR zone 0 includes a sealing zone proximal to the innominate artery[3,5,10,20].

In order to establish a disease-free sealing zone, the sacrifice of important aortic arch branches can be, in some cases, unavoidable. Nonetheless, there are several techniques to maintain perfusion; supraaortic branch bypass (hybrid technique), apposition of extra stent-grafts (chimney technique) or both [40]. TEVAR zone 2 can be accompanied with carotid-subclavian (CS) bypass/transposition or with chimney graft to the LSA. Similarly, TEVAR zone 1 can be followed by two chimney grafts to the LCCA and LSA, but more frequently, a single chimney graft to the LCCA and a CS bypass/transposition are used. Finally, TEVAR zone 0 can entail two chimney grafts to the innominate artery and LCCA followed by a left CS bypass, or alternatively a chimney graft to the innominate artery, right to left carotid bypass and CS bypass[20]. Compared to more distal landing zones, zone 0 is more likely to be associated with retrograde type A dissection, especially when accompanied by excessive oversizing of the stent-graft [41]. Yet, it has also been demonstrated that the use of chimney grafts in the aortic arch, increases the risk of post-operative complications[40].

Liu *et al*[21] studied 215 patients with a non-A non-B AAD, treated with TEVAR, open surgical techniques or conservatively. TEVAR was used in 127 patients (59.1%) with a success rate of 85.9%. The 30-d mortality rate was 1.6%, compared to 7.1% in patients treated with open techniques. However, during the follow up, 9 deaths occurred in the endovascular group, 5 of which were related to the dissection, while no deaths occurred in the surgical group. Supplementary, following TEVAR, patients had a worse clinical outcome in terms of aortic rupture, retrograde type A dissection, distal stent graft induced new entry, major stroke and the need for reintervention. Likewise, a study published in 2022, observed that 67% of the initial TEVAR cases (10/15), demanded reintervention, with eventually 4 patients deceasing during the first 30 d[7].

Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

Management of non-A non-B dissections remains challenging. The paucity of relevant studies reflects the fact that non-A non-B AADs account for a relatively modest percentage of all AADs. Although little is known about their natural history and course of treatment, it has been explicitly shown that surgical intervention surpasses medical treatment in the case of a non-A non-B dissection [5,8,42]. Current data advocate that this clinical entity does not behave like an uncomplicated type B AAD, and perhaps a more aggressive approach is warranted. Open repair is mostly employed in arch entry, while TEVAR with hybrid procedures in descending entry dissections both of which are thought to be preferable as opposed to conservative treatment. Secondary analysis with long-term follow up of the existing studies as well as large prospective clinical trials will enlighten the field around non-A non-B AAD which still remains an obscure and perplexing variation of acute AAD. Future research is anticipated to determine the most optimal surgical method as well as the time to intervene, ultimately helping surgeons to navigate through these uncharted waters.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Christodoulou KC wrote the manuscript; Karangelis D contributed to manuscript review and supervised the entire project; Efenti GM, Sdrevanos P, and Georgakarakos E contributed with bibliographic research and proofread the manuscript; Browning JR was responsible for the English language editing of the manuscript; Konstantinou F provided the accompanying figures; Mitropoulos FA and Mikroulis D designed the outline and coordinated the writing of the paper; and all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Konstantinos C Christodoulou 0000-0002-5807-9212; Dimos Karangelis 0000-0001-7633-9949; Gioultzan Memet Efenti 0000-0002-0030-0500; Jennifer R Browning 0000-0001-6942-9292; Efstratios Georgakarakos 0000-0003-3789-1110.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Vilacosta I, San Román JA, di Bartolomeo R, Eagle K, Estrera AL, Ferrera C, Kaji S, Nienaber CA, Riambau V, Schäfers HJ, Serrano FJ, Song JK, Maroto L. Acute Aortic Syndrome Revisited: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 78: 2106-2125 [PMID: 34794692 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.09.022]
- Sayed A, Munir M, Bahbah EI. Aortic Dissection: A Review of the Pathophysiology, Management and Prospective Advances. Curr Cardiol Rev 2021; 17: e230421186875 [PMID: 33059568 DOI: 10.2174/1573403X16666201014142930]
- 3 Erbel R, Aboyans V, Boileau C, Bossone E, Bartolomeo RD, Eggebrecht H, Evangelista A, Falk V, Frank H, Gaemperli O. Grabenwöger M. Haverich A. Jung B. Manolis AJ, Meijboom F. Nienaber CA, Roffi M. Rousseau H. Sechtem U. Sirnes PA, Allmen RS, Vrints CJ; ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines. 2014 ESC Guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of aortic diseases: Document covering acute and chronic aortic diseases of the thoracic and abdominal aorta of the adult. The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Aortic Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2014; 35: 2873-2926 [PMID: 25173340 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu281]
- Qanadli SD, Malekzadeh S, Villard N, Jouannic AM, Bodenmann D, Tozzi P, Rotzinger DC. A New Clinically Driven 4 Classification for Acute Aortic Dissection. Front Surg 2020; 7: 37 [PMID: 32656225 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2020.00037]
- Howard C, Ponnapalli A, Shaikh S, Idhrees M, Bashir M. Non-A non-B aortic dissection: A literature review. J Card 5 Surg 2021; 36: 1806-1813 [PMID: 33547714 DOI: 10.1111/jocs.15349]
- von Segesser LK, Killer I, Ziswiler M, Linka A, Ritter M, Jenni R, Baumann PC, Turina MI. Dissection of the descending 6 thoracic aorta extending into the ascending aorta. A therapeutic challenge. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1994; 108: 755-761 [PMID: 7934113]
- Kosiorowska M, Berezowski M, Widenka K, Kreibich M, Beyersdorf F, Czerny M, Rylski B. Non-A non-B acute aortic 7 dissection with entry tear in the aortic arch. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2022; 34: 878-884 [PMID: 35137081 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivab375]



- Carino D, Singh M, Molardi A, Agostinelli A, Goldoni M, Pacini D, Nicolini F. Non-A non-B aortic dissection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2019; 55: 653-659 [PMID: 30325419 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy337]
- Sievers HH, Rylski B, Czerny M, Baier ALM, Kreibich M, Siepe M, Beyersdorf F. Aortic dissection reconsidered: type, 0 entry site, malperfusion classification adding clarity and enabling outcome prediction. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2020; **30**: 451-457 [PMID: 31755925 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivz281]
- Rylski B, Pérez M, Beyersdorf F, Reser D, Kari FA, Siepe M, Czerny M. Acute non-A non-B aortic dissection: incidence, 10 treatment and outcome. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2017; 52: 1111-1117 [PMID: 28582524 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx142]
- Urbanski PP, Wagner M. Acute non-A-non-B aortic dissection: surgical or conservative approach? Eur J Cardiothorac 11 Surg 2016; 49: 1249-1254 [PMID: 26324681 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezv301]
- 12 Rylski B, Schofer F, Beyersdorf F, Kondov S, Kreibich M, Schlett CL, Czerny M. Aortic Arch Anatomy in Candidates for Aortic Arch Repair. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2022; 34: 19-26 [PMID: 33713827 DOI: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2021.03.001]
- Trimarchi S, de Beaufort HWL, Tolenaar JL, Bavaria JE, Desai ND, Di Eusanio M, Di Bartolomeo R, Peterson MD, 13 Ehrlich M, Evangelista A, Montgomery DG, Myrmel T, Hughes GC, Appoo JJ, De Vincentiis C, Yan TD, Nienaber CA, Isselbacher EM, Deeb GM, Gleason TG, Patel HJ, Sundt TM, Eagle KA. Acute aortic dissections with entry tear in the arch: A report from the International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2019; 157: 66-73 [PMID: 30396735 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2018.07.101]
- Sef D, Brown S, Jarral OA, Hussain A, Haslam E, Rajakaruna C, McAloon CJ. Subtle aortic dissection in a patient with 14 severe aortic regurgitation and undiagnosed bicuspid aortic valve: A case report with a literature review. J Card Surg 2021; 36: 3417-3420 [PMID: 34075627 DOI: 10.1111/jocs.15714]
- Wang W, Piao H, Wang Y, Li B, Zhu Z, Wang T, Liu K. Early outcomes with a hybrid technique for repair of a non-A 15 non-B aortic dissection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2022; 163: 1766-1774 [PMID: 32739160 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2020.05.100
- DEBAKEY ME, HENLY WS, COOLEY DA, MORRIS GC Jr, CRAWFORD ES, BEALL AC Jr. SURGICAL 16 MANAGEMENT OF DISSECTING ANEURYSMS OF THE AORTA. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1965; 49: 130-149 [PMID: 14261867]
- Daily PO, Trueblood HW, Stinson EB, Wuerflein RD, Shumway NE. Management of acute aortic dissections. Ann Thorac 17 Surg 1970; 10: 237-247 [PMID: 5458238 DOI: 10.1016/s0003-4975(10)65594-4]
- Spanos K, Nana P, von Kodolitsch Y, Behrendt CA, Kouvelos G, Panuccio G, Athanasiou T, Matsagkas M, Giannoukas 18 A, Detter C, Kölbel T. Management of Ascending Aorta and Aortic Arch: Similarities and Differences Among Cardiovascular Guidelines. J Endovasc Ther 2022; 29: 667-677 [PMID: 34873944 DOI: 10.1177/15266028211061271]
- 19 Isselbacher EM, Preventza O, Hamilton Black J 3rd, Augoustides JG, Beck AW, Bolen MA, Braverman AC, Bray BE, Brown-Zimmerman MM, Chen EP, Collins TJ, DeAnda A Jr, Fanola CL, Girardi LN, Hicks CW, Hui DS, Schuvler Jones W, Kalahasti V, Kim KM, Milewicz DM, Oderich GS, Ogbechie L, Promes SB, Gyang Ross E, Schermerhorn ML, Singleton Times S, Tseng EE, Wang GJ, Woo YJ. 2022 ACC/AHA Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of Aortic Disease: A Report of the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2022; 146: e334-e482 [PMID: 36322642 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000001106]
- 20 Czerny M, Schmidli J, Adler S, van den Berg JC, Bertoglio L, Carrel T, Chiesa R, Clough RE, Eberle B, Etz C, Grabenwöger M, Haulon S, Jakob H, Kari FA, Mestres CA, Pacini D, Resch T, Rylski B, Schoenhoff F, Shrestha M, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Tsagakis K, Wyss TR; EACTS/ESVS scientific document group. Current options and recommendations for the treatment of thoracic aortic pathologies involving the aortic arch: an expert consensus document of the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic surgery (EACTS) and the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2019; 55: 133-162 [PMID: 30312382 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy313]
- Liu J, Yang F, Chen L, Xie E, Su S, Liu Y, Geng Q, Fan R, Li J, Luo J. Management and Outcomes of Non-A Non-B 21 Aortie Dissection. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2022; 64: 497-506 [PMID: 35667594 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2022.05.037]
- Sef D, Birdi I. Clinically significant incidental findings during preoperative computed tomography of patients undergoing 22 cardiac surgery. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2020; 31: 629-631 [PMID: 32865197 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivaa160]
- 23 Kimura N, Nakamura M, Takagi R, Mieno MN, Yamaguchi A, Czerny M, Beyersdorf F, Kari FA, Rylski B. False lumen/ true lumen wall pressure ratio is increased in acute non-A non-B aortic dissection. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2022; 35 [PMID: 35552699 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivac138]
- Valentine RJ, Boll JM, Hocking KM, Curci JA, Garrard CL, Brophy CM, Naslund TC. Aortic arch involvement worsens 24 the prognosis of type B aortic dissections. J Vasc Surg 2016; 64: 1212-1218 [PMID: 27397897 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvs.2016.04.054]
- Tsai TT, Isselbacher EM, Trimarchi S, Bossone E, Pape L, Januzzi JL, Evangelista A, Oh JK, Llovet A, Beckman J, 25 Cooper JV, Smith DE, Froehlich JB, Fattori R, Eagle KA, Nienaber CA; International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection. Acute type B aortic dissection: does aortic arch involvement affect management and outcomes? Insights from the International Registry of Acute Aortic Dissection (IRAD). Circulation 2007; 116: 1150-1156 [PMID: 17846296 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.681510]
- Xiong Z, Yang P, Li D, Qiu Y, Zheng T, Hu J. A computational fluid dynamics analysis of a patient with acute non-A-26 non-B aortic dissection after type I hybrid arch repair. Med Eng Phys 2020; 77: 43-52 [PMID: 31948772 DOI: 10.1016/j.medengphy.2019.10.019]
- Tian C, Chen D, Zhao J, Zhang Y, Luo M, Fang K, Tian C, Sun X, Guo H, Qian X, Shu C. Surgical treatment patterns and 27 clinical outcomes of type B aortic dissection involving the aortic arch. J Vasc Surg 2023; 77: 1016-1027.e9 [PMID: 36410607 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvs.2022.11.048]
- Saltarocchi S, De Orchi P, Saade W, D'Abramo M, Chourda E, Romiti S, Vinciguerra M, Greco E, Miraldi F, Mazzesi G. 28 Acute thrombotic occlusion of a brachiocephalic branch graft and pseudoaneurysm formation after debranching surgery for a "non-A non-B" aortic dissection. J Card Surg 2022; 37: 2879-2883 [PMID: 35665963 DOI: 10.1111/jocs.16649]
- 29 Borst HG, Walterbusch G, Schaps D. Extensive aortic replacement using "elephant trunk" prosthesis. Thorac Cardiovasc



Surg 1983; 31: 37-40 [PMID: 6189250 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1020290]

- Luo C, Qi R, Zhong Y, Chen S, Liu H, Guo R, Ge Y, Sun L, Zhu J. Early and Long-Term Follow-Up for Chronic Type B 30 and Type Non-A Non-B Aortic Dissection Using the Frozen Elephant Trunk Technique. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 714638 [PMID: 34595221 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.714638]
- 31 Kreibich M, Siepe M, Berger T, Kondov S, Morlock J, Pingpoh C, Beyersdorf F, Rylski B, Czerny M. The Frozen Elephant Trunk Technique for the Treatment of Type B and Type Non-A Non-B Aortic Dissection. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2021; 61: 107-113 [PMID: 33004282 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2020.08.040]
- 32 Shrestha M, Bachet J, Bavaria J, Carrel TP, De Paulis R, Di Bartolomeo R, Etz CD, Grabenwöger M, Grimm M, Haverich A, Jakob H, Martens A, Mestres CA, Pacini D, Resch T, Schepens M, Urbanski PP, Czerny M. Current status and recommendations for use of the frozen elephant trunk technique: a position paper by the Vascular Domain of EACTS. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2015; 47: 759-769 [PMID: 25769463 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezv085]
- 33 Iafrancesco M, Goebel N, Mascaro J, Franke UFW, Pacini D, Di Bartolomeo R, Weiss G, Grabenwöger M, Leontyev SA, Mohr FW, Sioris T, Jakob H, Tsagakis K; International E-vita Open Registry Group. Aortic diameter remodelling after the frozen elephant trunk technique in aortic dissection: results from an international multicentre registry. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2017; 52: 310-318 [PMID: 28575324 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx131]
- Dohle DS, Tsagakis K, Janosi RA, Benedik J, Kühl H, Penkova L, Stebner F, Wendt D, Jakob H. Aortic remodelling in 34 aortic dissection after frozen elephant trunk†. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016; 49: 111-117 [PMID: 25715431 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezv045]
- Zhao HP, Zhu JM, Ma WG, Zheng J, Liu YM, Sun LZ. Total arch replacement with stented elephant trunk technique for 35 acute type B aortic dissection involving the aortic arch. Ann Thorac Surg 2012; 93: 1517-1522 [PMID: 22443864 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.01.013]
- Dumfarth J, Kofler M, Stastny L, Plaikner M, Krapf C, Semsroth S, Grimm M. Stroke after emergent surgery for acute 36 type A aortic dissection: predictors, outcome and neurological recovery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2018; 53: 1013-1020 [PMID: 29360972 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx465]
- 37 Zhao H, Ma W, Wen D, Duan W, Zheng M. Computed tomography angiography findings predict the risk factors for preoperative acute ischaemic stroke in patients with acute type A aortic dissection. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2020; 57: 912-919 [PMID: 31898735 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezz351]
- Preventza O, Liao JL, Olive JK, Simpson K, Critsinelis AC, Price MD, Galati M, Cornwell LD, Orozco-Sevilla V, Omer 38 S, Jimenez E, LeMaire SA, Coselli JS. Neurologic complications after the frozen elephant trunk procedure: A metaanalysis of more than 3000 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2020; 160: 20-33.e4 [PMID: 31757456 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.10.031]
- Ma WG, Zhang W, Wang LF, Zheng J, Ziganshin BA, Charilaou P, Pan XD, Liu YM, Zhu JM, Chang Q, Rizzo JA, 39 Elefteriades JA, Sun LZ. Type A aortic dissection with arch entry tear: Surgical experience in 104 patients over a 12-year period. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016; 151: 1581-1592 [PMID: 26856470 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.11.056]
- Ahmad W, Mylonas S, Majd P, Brunkwall JS. A current systematic evaluation and meta-analysis of chimney graft 40 technology in aortic arch diseases. J Vasc Surg 2017; 66: 1602-1610.e2 [PMID: 28847663 DOI: 10.1016/j.jvs.2017.06.100]
- Chen Y, Zhang S, Liu L, Lu Q, Zhang T, Jing Z. Retrograde Type A Aortic Dissection After Thoracic Endovascular 41 Aortic Repair: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2017; 6 [PMID: 28939705 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004649]
- Karangelis D, Tagarakis G. Non-A non-B aortic dissections: are we still in uncharted waters? Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 42 2019; 56: 423 [PMID: 30561599 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy429]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 253-261

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.253

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Cohort Study

Importance of concomitant functional mitral regurgitation on survival in severe aortic stenosis patients undergoing aortic valve replacement

Ramdas G Pai, Padmini Varadarajan

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ong H, Malaysia; Yang L, United States

Received: December 20, 2022 Peer-review started: December 20, 2022 First decision: February 20, 2023 Revised: March 20, 2023 Accepted: April 25, 2023 Article in press: April 25, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Ramdas G Pai, Department of Cardiology, University of California Riverside School of Medicine, Riverside/St. Bernardine Medical Center, San Bernardino, Riverside, CA 92521, United States

Padmini Varadarajan, Department of Cardiology, University of California Riverside School of Medicine, Riverside, CA 92521, United States

Corresponding author: Ramdas G Pai, FACC, FRCP (Hon), MD, Doctor, Professor, Department of Cardiology, University of California Riverside School of Medicine, Riverside/St. Bernardine Medical Center, San Bernardino, Riverside, CA 92507, United States. ramdaspai@yahoo.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Mitral regurgitation (MR) is commonly seen in patients with severe aortic stenosis (AS) undergoing aortic valve replacement (AVR). But the long-term implications of MR in AS are unknown.

AIM

To investigate MR's impact on survival of patients undergoing surgical AVR for severe AS.

METHODS

Of the 740 consecutive patients with severe AS evaluated between 1993 and 2003, 287 underwent AVR forming the study cohort. They were followed up to death or till the end of 2019. Chart reviews were performed for clinical, echocardiographic, and therapeutic data. MR was graded on a 1-4 scale. Mortality data was obtained from chart review and the Social Security Death Index. Survival was analyzed as a function of degree of MR.

RESULTS

The mean age of the severe AS patients who had AVR (n = 287) was 72 ± 13 years, 46% women. Over up to 26 years of follow up, there were 201 (70%) deaths, giving deep insights into the determinants of survival of severe AS who had AVR. The 5, 10 and 20 years survival rates were 75%, 45% and 25% respectively. Presence of MR was associated with higher mortality in a graded fashion (P = 0.0003). MR was significantly associated with lower left ventricular (LV) ejection



fraction and larger LV size. Impact of MR on mortality was partially mediated through lower LV ejection fraction and larger LV size. By Cox regression, MR, lower ejection fraction (EF) and larger LV end-systolic dimension were independent predictors of higher mortality (χ^2 = 33.2).

CONCLUSION

Presence of greater than 2+ MR in patients with severe AS is independently associated with reduced survival in surgically managed patients, an effect incremental to reduced EF and larger LV size. We suggest that aortic valve intervention should be considered in severe AS patients when > 2+ MR occurs irrespective of EF or symptoms.

Key Words: Aortic stenosis; Mitral regurgitation; Aortic valve replacement; Long term survival

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This study is unique in several aspects: (1) Shows that mitral regurgitation negatively impacts survival in an independent fashion, an effect incremental to left ventricular size and ejection fraction; (2) Perhaps the longest follow up of severe aortic stenosis (AS) patients undergoing aortic valve replacement (AVR) (till death or 16-26 year follow up in survivors); (3) Gives insights into potential mitral regurgitation (MR) mechanisms; and (4) Validates echocardiographic MR severity against survival in patients with severe AS undergoing AVR.

Citation: Pai RG, Varadarajan P. Importance of concomitant functional mitral regurgitation on survival in severe aortic stenosis patients undergoing aortic valve replacement. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 253-261 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/253.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.253

INTRODUCTION

Significant mitral regurgitation (MR) is seen in about 20% of patients with severe aortic stenosis (AS) undergoing aortic valve replacement (AVR) or transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR)[1-3]. Presence of MR is associated with worse symptoms, higher pulmonary artery pressures and higher short-term mortality in TAVR patients[1-5]. However, its impact on long term survival after AVR is not well characterized, especially in those with moderate or severe MR. The recent American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) valve guidelines do not include presence of MR as an indication for AVR or TAVR[6]. We investigated the impact of different grades of MR on long term survival (to death or up to 26 years) in a cohort of patients undergoing surgical AVR for severe AS in period 1993-2003.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The research project was approved by the institutional review board of Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, California. A need for an informed consent was waived because of its retrospective, observational study design without any intervention.

The data underlying this article will be shared on reasonable request to the corresponding author. This was a retrospective observational study conducted in a large university medical center. The study was approved by the institutional review board, which waived the need for patient consent. Some of the other results of this observational study have been published previously [7,8]. This report includes 15 additional years of follow up. The echocardiographic database was searched for patients with severe AS during the period from 1993 to 2003. Severe AS was diagnosed based on the generally accepted criteria prevalent at that time[9]. The criteria used included aortic valve area ≤ 0.8 cm² or a mean transvalvular gradient of \geq 40 mmHg or peak gradient of \geq 64 mmHg. This yielded a total of 740 patients. Complete clinical, echocardiographic, and pharmacological data were compiled on these patients from comprehensive chart review. Of these 287 underwent AVR and formed the study cohort.

Clinical variables

Various clinical comorbidities were defined as follows: Hypertension was defined as a blood pressure > 130/90 mmHg, being on any antihypertensive medication, or a documented history of hypertension. Diabetes mellitus (DM) was defined as a fasting blood sugar of > 126 mg/dL or being on treatment for



diabetes. Renal insufficiency was defined as a creatinine value of $\geq 2 \text{ mg/dL}$. Coronary artery disease (CAD) was defined as angiographic evidence of CAD with lesions > 50% as all had coronary angiograms before AVR.

All patients had standard 2-dimensional echocardiographic examinations. The left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction (EF) was assessed visually by a Level 3-trained echocardiographer and entered into a database at the time of the examination. This has been proven to be reliable and has been validated against contrast and radionuclide LV angiography[10,11]. Anatomic and Doppler examinations and measurements were performed according to the recommendations of the American Society of Echocardiography prevalent at that time and MR was graded 0-4[12,13].

Pharmacotherapy around the time of initial echo was recorded and placed into broad categories of beta blockers, calcium-channel blockers, digoxin and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) or angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI). Most of the patients continued on the medications for the length of the recorded clinical observation. Patients were on beta blockers, ACEI/ARB only if they had a concomitant indication for their use like hypertension or CAD. Beta blockers and ACEI/ARB are not recommended as primary treatment for severe AS. Hence the low treatment rate with beta blockers and ACEI/ARB.

The end point of the study was all-cause mortality. Mortality data were obtained from clinical records or the Social Security Death Index till the end of 2019.

Statistics analysis

Stat View version 5.01 (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina) program was used for statistical analysis. Kaplan-Meier survival curves were computed for patients with severe AS with and without MR and were compared using the log-rank statistic. Characteristics of patients with and without MR were compared using the Student *t* test for continuous variables and the χ^2 test for categorical variables, the largest P value for differences between the groups was taken. Cox proportional hazards models was employed to adjust for clinical comorbidities and covariate imbalances. Baron and Kenny method was employed for mediation analysis[14]. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Patient characteristics

The baseline characteristics of the severe AS patients who had AVR were: mean age 72 ± 13 years, 46%women, mean LVEF 57 ± 19%, and DM in 22%, hypertension in 55%, and CAD in 55%. The mean aortic valve area was 0.70 ± 0.17 cm², transvalvular mean systolic gradient 44 ± 16 mmHg and peak gradient 72 ± 24 mmHg. Of the 287 patients, 42% had concomitant coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) with AVR; 169 (59%) had no or mild (0 or1+) MR, 63 (22%) had moderate (2+) MR and 55 (19%) had moderate to severe or severe (3 or 4+) MR. Of the 55 patients with 3 or 4+ MR, 18 had mitral valve repair (n = 11) or replacement (n = 7).

Survival as function of degree of MR

As the survival curves were similar for MR grades 0 and 1+ and very close to 2+ MR, hence these groups were combined. As shown in (Figure 1), there was a graded decrease in survival with increase in MR (P = 0.003). The 5, 10 and 20 year survivals for those with 0/1+ MR were 78%, 50% and 33% respectively compared to 78%, 43% and 14% for 2+ MR and 64%, 30% and 15% for 3 or 4+ MR respectively. Comparison between grade 0-1 and 3-4+ MR showed significant difference with P < 0.0001. Similarly, comparison between grade 2 and 3-4 +MR showed difference with P < 0.0001. Comparison between grades 0-1 and grade 2 showed slight difference with P = 0.03.

Correlates of MR

Table 1 shows the comparison of patients with different degrees of MR. As it can be seen from the table, higher degrees of MR correlated strongly with larger LV end-diastolic and end-systolic dimensions (P <0.0001), lower LVEF (P < 0.0001) and lower LV relative wall thickness (P = 0.0002). There was no relationship with age, gender, hypertension, diabetes, CAD, renal failure or severity of AS. As expected, those with MR had higher mitral E/A velocity ratio (P < 0.0001) and shorter E wave deceleration time (P< 0.0001) indicating higher left atrial pressure, higher pulmonary artery pressure (P < 0.0001) and higher prevalence of heart failure (P = 0.0015). It is notable that 38% of patients with 3 or 4+ MR had no dyspnea or heart failure.

Though MR was strongly related to lower EF, 47% of patients with 3 or 4+ MR had an LVEF $\ge 50\%$ (ACC/AHA guidelines use an EF threshold of < 50% as a class I indication for AVR or TAVR in patients with severe AS).

Mediation analysis and Cox regression analysis

In view of strong correlations between MR grade, EF and LV size and as all these were predictive of



Table 1 Characteristics of aortic stenosis patients with different grades of mitral regurgitation 0 or 1+ MR 2+ MR 3 or 4+ MR Age (yr) 70 ± 12 74 ± 9 72 ± 13

Age (yr)	70 ± 12	74 ± 9	72 ± 13	< 0.05
Women (%)	44	48	51	0.4
Syncope (%)	3	4	4	0.85
Angina (%)	38	49	47	0.12
Dyspnea (%)	39	38	62	0.002
Atrial fibrillation (%)	24	32	33	0.18
Hypertension (%)	58	57	44	0.06
Diabetes mellitus (%)	24	22	18	0.4
Coronary artery disease (%)	53	60	58	0.3
Renal insufficiency (%)	10	8	13	0.39
LV end-diastolic diameter (mm)	48 ± 7	48 ± 4	56 +10	< 0.0001
LV end-diastolic dimeter index (mm/m ²)	26 ± 4	27 ± 4	23 + 6	< 0.0001
Left ventricular end-systolic diameter (mm)	31 ± 9	33 ± 9	41 + 13	< 0.0001
LV end-systolic dimeter index (mm/m ²)	16 ± 4	18 ± 4	41 + 13	< 0.0001
Ventricular septum (mm)	14 ± 2	14 ± 3	14 + 3	0.2
Posterior wall (mm)	13 ± 2	13 ± 2	12 ± 2	0.13
Relative wall thickness	0.57 + 0.15	0.57 + 0.13	0.48 + 0.13	0.0006
LV ejection fraction (%)	62 ± 16	54 ± 17	45 ± 21	< 0.0001
Left atrial dimension (mm)	41 ± 9	43 ± 8	48 ± 6	< 0.0001
Aortic valve area (cm ²)	0.72 + 0.16	0.68 + 0.16	0.70 + 0.20	0.18
Aortic valve peak gradient (mmHg)	73 ± 23	71 ± 26	67 +22	0.09
Aortic valve mean gradient (mmHg)	45 ± 15	43 ± 17	41 +15	0.08
Aortic regurgitation grade	0.65+0.83	1.16+0.91	1.00+1.00	< 0.0001
Mitral E/A velocity ratio	1.00 + 0.53	1.09 + 0.64	1.60 + 0.67	< 0.0001
Mitral E wave deceleration time (ms)	270 ± 105	278 ± 112	194 +89	0.0001
Pulmonary artery systolic pressure (mmHg)	40 ± 13	45 ± 20	53 +14	< 0.0001
Beta-blocker use (%)	46	46	27	0.02
ACEI or ARB use (%)	25	33	36	0.12
Digoxin use (%)	35	32	38	0.47
Statin use (%)	31	21	35	0.09
Coronary artery bypass grafting (%)	38	49	47	0.12
Mitral valve repair (%)	3	2	20	< 0.0001
Mitral valve replacement (%)	2	10	13	0.06

AS: Aortic stenosis; MR: Mitral regurgitation; LV: Left ventricular; ACEI: Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB: Angiotensin receptor blocker.

survival, we performed mediation analysis described by Baron and Kenny by sequentially adding EF and LV end-systolic dimension to the Cox regression model that included MR severity[14]. Adding EF and LV end diastolic dimension, significantly reduced the χ^2 associated with MR, but MR still remained significant (*P* values for MR, EF and LV end –diastolic dimension: 0.0049, < 0.0001 and 0.0013 respectively and global χ^2 = 34.3). Addition of pulmonary artery pressure to the model did not improve its predictive value. This indicates that not all negative effects of MR were through increase in LV size and reduction in EF, but MR independently was related to survival as well. The results of Cox regression analysis are shown on Table 2.

P value

Table 2 Results of Cox regression analysis on the effect of mitral regurgitation on survival					
Variable χ^2 valueP value					
LV end-diastolic dimension	10.4	< 0.01			
LV ejection fraction	23.3	< 0.0001			
Mitral regurgitation	7.9	< 0.01			

Global χ^2 = 34.3; LV: Left ventricular.



Figure 1 Survival in severe aortic stenosis patients undergoing aortic valve replacement as a function of preoperative severity of mitral regurgitation. A: MR severity split into 3 groups; B: MR severity split into 2 groups. MR: Mitral regurgitation.

Effect of MR on survival stratified by CABG status

Of the 287 patients with severe AS undergoing AVR, 121 had CABG and 166 did not have CABG. As shown in Figure 2, the deleterious effect of MR was seen in both groups of these patients (P = 0.007 and P = 0.05, respectively).

Mitral valve surgery in 3 or 4+ MR

Mitral valve surgery was performed in 18 of the 55 patients with 3 or 4+ MR at the time of AVR. Of these 12 patients also underwent CABG at the time of mitral valve surgery. was a trend towards better survival with mitral valve surgery with 10- and 20-year survivals being 45% and 37% respectively in those with mitral valve surgery compared to 22% and 8% respectively for those without (P = 0.08, Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

Our observational study with very long-term data suggests harm produced by MR in patients with severe AS undergoing AVR. According to ACC/AHA guidelines, MR is not considered an indication for AVR in severe AS patients in the absence of symptoms or EF < 50% or a need for concomitant cardiac surgery. About 1/3 of our patients even with 3 or 4+ MR had no symptoms and one half of them had an EF \ge 50% without a traditional indication for AVR. These findings are novel and have major clinical implications in the management of these patients. The other strength of our study is length of follow up - to death or 16-26 years in the long-term survivors.

Presence of MR was also associated with higher left atrial and pulmonary artery pressures and some degree of LV enlargement indicative of adverse LV remodeling and functional impairment. Data from patients undergoing TAVR or AVR for severe AS indicates that MR may regress by one grade in about half the patients, but not full regression in all the patients leaving the patients with significant MR which may have negative impacts in terms of symptoms, heart failure and reduced survival or a need for another procedure to eliminate MR[4,15].

The mechanism of MR seems to be mostly functional because of an increase in LV size leading to mitral leaflet tethering in contemporary series with calcific AS, though older series included rheumatic





Figure 2 Effect of preoperative mitral regurgitation severity on survival in aortic valve replacement patients stratified by concomitant coronary artery bypass grafting status. A: Patients who had AVR and CABG; B: Patients who had AVR only and no CABG. MR: Mitral regurgitation; AVR: Aortic valve replacement; CABG: Concomitant coronary artery bypass grafting.



Figure 3 Survival in patients with pre-aortic valve replacement 3 or 4+ mitral regurgitation as a function of mitral valve repair or replacement during aortic valve replacement surgery. MVR: Mitral valve repair or replacement.

valve disease as well[16]. There could also be an atrial mechanism due to atrial enlargement due to LV diastolic dysfunction or atrial fibrillation leading to secondary mitral annular dilatation[17]. Hence, monitoring asymptomatic severe AS patients for increases in LV or left atrial size or onset of atrial fibrillation may be important, besides evaluating for presence, degree and mechanism of MR. Performance of AVR or TAVR will reduce LV systolic pressure that drives MR. In addition, reverse remodeling of the LV and left atrium may occur as well and this will help in MR regression. One should also consider restoration of sinus rhythm to reduce the risk of genesis or progression of MR as atrial fibrillation may produce MR and even tricuspid regurgitation through atrial and annular dilation. Patients undergoing TAVR may introduce another issue of production of left bundle branch block or complete heart block needing a pacemaker. Both of these electrical disturbances may impair LV function and produce or worsen MR. These mechanistic factors should be kept in mind in patients with severe AS.

There are some limitations to this retrospective observational study. We do not have follow up echocardiographic data as the images are generally archived only for 7 years and many patients had these studies outside our healthcare system. Also, surgery for MR was at the discretion of the operating

CONCLUSION

In summary, 3 or 4+ MR is present in about 20% of patients undergoing AVR for severe AS and negatively impacts hemodynamics, symptoms and survival. We suggest that one should be vigilant for any MR in patients with severe AS and also the potential mechanisms that may lead to MR such as progressive LV or left atrial dilation or onset of atrial fibrillation. We also suggest that presence of $\geq 3+$ MR in patients severe AS should be considered as a potential indication for AVR or TAVR as appropriate.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Severe aortic stenosis (AR) and concomitant mitral regurgitation (MR) are common. But the impact of MR in those with severe AS on outcomes and management are unknown.

Research motivation

To study the impact of concomitant MR on outcomes in severe AS.

Research objectives

Does MR affect prognosis and decision making in severe AS patients.

Research methods

Of the 740 consecutive patients with severe AS evaluated between 1993 and 2003, 287 underwent AVR forming the study cohort. They were followed up to death or till the end of 2019. Chart reviews were performed for clinical, echocardiographic, and therapeutic data. MR was graded on a 1-4 scale. Mortality data was obtained from chart review and the Social Security Death Index. Survival was analyzed as a function of degree of MR.

Research results

Presence of MR was associated with higher mortality in a graded fashion. MR was significantly associated with lower left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction and larger LV size. Impact of MR on mortality was partially mediated through lower LV ejection fraction and larger LV size. By Cox regression, MR, lower ejection fraction (EF) and larger LV end-systolic dimension were independent predictors of higher mortality.

Research conclusions

Presence of greater than 2+ MR in patients with severe AS is independently associated with reduced survival in surgically managed patients, an effect incremental to reduced EF and larger LV size. We suggest that aortic valve intervention should be considered in severe AS patients when > 2+ MR occurs irrespective of EF or symptoms.

Research perspectives

More studies are needed to study the mechanisms of MR and its prevention in severe AS patients.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Pai RG and Varadarajan P designed the study, analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript and revised the final form.

Institutional review board statement: The research project was approved by the institutional review board of Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, California.

Informed consent statement: A need for an informed consent was waived because of its retrospective, observational study design without any intervention.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Ramdas G Pai 0000-0002-4155-4566.

S-Editor: Liu XF L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Sethi A, Kodumuri V, Prasad V, Chaudhary A, Coromilas J, Kassotis J. Does the Presence of Significant Mitral Regurgitation prior to Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation for Aortic Stenosis Impact Mortality? - Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Cardiology 2020; 145: 428-438 [PMID: 32460301 DOI: 10.1159/000506624]
- 2 Khawaja MZ, Williams R, Hung J, Arri S, Asrress KN, Bolter K, Wilson K, Young CP, Bapat V, Hancock J, Thomas M, Redwood S. Impact of preprocedural mitral regurgitation upon mortality after transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) for severe aortic stenosis. Heart 2014; 100: 1799-1803 [PMID: 25155800 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305775]
- 3 Sannino A, Losi MA, Schiattarella GG, Gargiulo G, Perrino C, Stabile E, Toscano E, Giugliano G, Brevetti L, Franzone A, Cirillo P, Imbriaco M, Trimarco B, Esposito G. Meta-analysis of mortality outcomes and mitral regurgitation evolution in 4,839 patients having transcatheter aortic valve implantation for severe aortic stenosis. Am J Cardiol 2014; 114: 875-882 [PMID: 25092192 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.06.022]
- Perl L, Vaturi M, Assali A, Sagie A, Weissler-Snir A, Codner P, Orvin K, Vaknin-Assa H, Shapira Y, Kornowski R. The Impact of Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation on Mitral Regurgitation Regression in High-Risk Patients with Aortic Stenosis. J Heart Valve Dis 2015; 24: 439-444 [PMID: 26897813]
- Boerlage-van Dijk K, Wiegerinck EM, Takama T, Koch KT, Vis MM, de Mol BA, Piek JJ, Bouma BJ, Baan J Jr. Mitral 5 regurgitation prior to transcatheter aortic valve implantation influences survival but not symptoms. Int J Cardiol 2016; 204: 95-100 [PMID: 26655549 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.11.129]
- Otto CM, Nishimura RA, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP 3rd, Gentile F, Jneid H, Krieger EV, Mack M, McLeod C, 6 O'Gara PT, Rigolin VH, Sundt TM 3rd, Thompson A, Toly C. 2020 ACC/AHA Guideline for the Management of Patients With Valvular Heart Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2021; 143: e72-e227 [PMID: 33332150 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000000923
- Varadarajan P, Kapoor N, Bansal RC, Pai RG. Clinical profile and natural history of 453 nonsurgically managed patients with severe aortic stenosis. Ann Thorac Surg 2006; 82: 2111-2115 [PMID: 17126120 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.07.048]
- Pai RG, Kapoor N, Bansal RC, Varadarajan P. Malignant natural history of asymptomatic severe aortic stenosis: benefit of aortic valve replacement. Ann Thorac Surg 2006; 82: 2116-2122 [PMID: 17126122 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.07.043]
- ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease. A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association. Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on Management of Patients with Valvular Heart Disease). J Am Coll Cardiol 1998; 32: 1486-1588 [PMID: 9809971 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(98)00454-9]
- van Royen N, Jaffe CC, Krumholz HM, Johnson KM, Lynch PJ, Natale D, Atkinson P, Deman P, Wackers FJ. 10 Comparison and reproducibility of visual echocardiographic and quantitative radionuclide left ventricular ejection fractions. Am J Cardiol 1996; 77: 843-850 [PMID: 8623737 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9149(97)89179-5]
- Amico AF, Lichtenberg GS, Reisner SA, Stone CK, Schwartz RG, Meltzer RS. Superiority of visual vs computerized 11 echocardiographic estimation of radionuclide left ventricular ejection fraction. Am Heart J 1989; 118: 1259-1265 [PMID: 2686380 DOI: 10.1016/0002-8703(89)90018-5]
- 12 Schiller NB, Shah PM, Crawford M, DeMaria A, Devereux R, Feigenbaum H, Gutgesell H, Reichek N, Sahn D, Schnittger I. Recommendations for quantitation of the left ventricle by two-dimensional echocardiography. American Society of Echocardiography Committee on Standards, Subcommittee on Quantitation of Two-Dimensional Echocardiograms. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 1989; 2: 358-367 [PMID: 2698218 DOI: 10.1016/S0894-7317(89)80014-8]
- Zoghbi WA, Enriquez-Sarano M, Foster E, Grayburn PA, Kraft CD, Levine RA, Nihoyannopoulos P, Otto CM, Quinones 13 MA, Rakowski H, Stewart WJ, Waggoner A, Weissman NJ; American Society of Echocardiography. Recommendations for evaluation of the severity of native valvular regurgitation with two-dimensional and Doppler echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2003; 16: 777-802 [PMID: 12835667 DOI: 10.1016/S0894-7317(03)00335-3]
- 14 Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J Pers Soc Psychol 1986; 51: 1173-1182 [PMID: 3806354 DOI: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173]
- Schubert SA, Yarboro LT, Madala S, Ayunipudi K, Kron IL, Kern JA, Ailawadi G, Stukenborg GJ, Ghanta RK. Natural 15 history of coexistent mitral regurgitation after aortic valve replacement. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016; 151: 1032-1039,



1042.e1 [PMID: 26876419 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.12.006]

- 16 Palta S, Gill KS, Pai RG. Role of inadequate adaptive left ventricular hypertrophy in the genesis of mitral regurgitation in patients with severe aortic stenosis: implications for its prevention. J Heart Valve Dis 2003; 12: 601-604 [PMID: 14565713
- Tanimoto M, Pai RG. Effect of isolated left atrial enlargement on mitral annular size and valve competence. Am J Cardiol 17 1996; **77**: 769-774 [PMID: 8651134 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9149(97)89217-X]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.262

Observational Study

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 262-272

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Pharmacoepidemiologic study of association between apparent treatment resistant hypertension, cardiovascular disease and interaction effect by sex and age

Julianne Theresa Nelson, Longjian Liu

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Awad AK, Egypt; Jain S, India

Received: December 18, 2022 Peer-review started: December 18, 2022 First decision: March 1, 2023 Revised: March 31, 2023 Accepted: April 18, 2023 Article in press: April 18, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Julianne Theresa Nelson, Longjian Liu, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Dornsife School of Public Health, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA 19104, United States

Corresponding author: Longjian Liu, MD, MSc, PhD, Doctor, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Dornsife School of Public Health, Drexel University, 3215 Market ST, Philadelphia, PA 19104, United States. 1185@drexel.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

A limited number of studies have been conducted to test the magnitudes of the association between apparent treatment resistant hypertension (aTRH) and risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD).

AIM

To investigate the association between aTRH and risk of CVD and examine whether sex and age modify this association.

METHODS

We applied an observational analysis study design using data from the United States Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). ALLHAT recruited participants (n = 25516) from 625 primary care settings throughout the United States, Canada, Puerto Rico, and United States Virgin Islands, aged 55 and older with hypertension and at least one additional risk factor for heart disease. aTRH was assessed from the year 2 visit. CVD event was defined as one of the following from the year 2 follow-up visit: Fatal or non-fatal myocardial infarction, coronary revascularization, angina, stroke, heart failure, or peripheral artery disease. Cox proportional hazards regression was used to examine the effect of aTRH on CVD risk. Potential modifications of sex and age on this association were examined on the multiplicative scale by interaction term and additive scale by joint effects and relative excess risk for interaction.

RESULTS

Of the total study participants (n = 25516), 5030 experienced a CVD event during a mean of 4.7 years follow-up. aTRH was associated with a 30% increase in risk of CVD compared to non-aTRH [hazards ratio (HR) = 1.3, 95%CI: 1.19-1.42]. Sex and



age modified this relationship on both multiplicative and additive scales independently. Stratified by sex, aTRH was associated with a 64% increase in risk of CVD (HR = 1.64, 95% CI: 1.43-1.88) in women, and a 13% increase in risk of CVD (HR = 1.13, 95%CI: 1.01-1.27) in men. Stratified by age, aTRH had a stronger impact on the risk of CVD in participants aged < 65 (HR = 1.53, 95%CI: 1.32-1.77) than it did in those aged ≥ 65 (HR = 1.18, 95%CI: 1.05-1.32). Significant two-way interactions of sex and aTRH, and age and aTRH on risk of CVD were observed (P < 0.05). The observed joint effect of aTRH and ages ≥ 65 years (HR = 1.85, 95%CI: 1.22–2.48) in males was less than what was expected for both additive and multiplicative models (HR = 4.10, 95% CI: 3.63-4.57 and 4.88, 95% CI: 3.66–6.31), although three-way interaction of sex, age, and aTRH on the risk of CVD and coronary heart disease did not reach a statistical significance (P > 0.05).

CONCLUSION

aTRH was significantly associated with an increased risk of CVD and this association was modified by both sex and age. Further studies are warranted to test these mechanisms.

Key Words: Apparent treatment resistant hypertension; Cardiovascular disease outcomes; Chronic kidney disease; Sex; Age

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Apparent treatment resistant hypertension (aTRH) increased the risk of a cardiovascular event by 30%. This association varied by sex and age, with a stronger impact in women and in younger adults. These findings highlight the importance of controlling aTRH among those with excess risk of cardiovascular disease.

Citation: Nelson JT, Liu L. Pharmacoepidemiologic study of association between apparent treatment resistant hypertension, cardiovascular disease and interaction effect by sex and age. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 262-272 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/262.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.262

INTRODUCTION

Hypertension has long been a serious public health concern. Its impact on cardiovascular health and long-term outcomes has been well studied[1]. In the United States approximately 121.5 million (47.3%) adults suffer from hypertension leading to an added economic burden costing up to \$51.1 billion per year[2]. One of the significant challenges in control of hypertension is the appearance of treatment resistant hypertension.

Treatment resistant hypertension is defined as having blood pressure (BP) that remains uncontrolled [systolic BP (SBP) \geq 140 mmHg or diastolic BP (DBP) \geq 90 mmHg] while a patient is on \geq 3 different antihypertensive medications. Additionally, those who are on 4 or more different classes of antihypertensive medications, regardless of BP are also classified as treatment resistant hypertension. Individuals with diabetes or chronic kidney disease (CKD) have an altered definition, these patients with SBP/DBP \geq 130/80 mmHg are classified as treatment resistant hypertension[3-5]. In addition to the number of antihypertensive medications and BP readings, ideally at least one of the medications should be a diuretic[6]. Apparent treatment resistant hypertension (aTRH) is used to define observed treatment resistant hypertension when factors relating to pseudoresistance (adherence to regimen, sufficient dose for therapy, *etc.*) are unknown[7].

It is estimated that 19.7% of patients on antihypertensive medication have aTRH, a 2% increase within the recent decade[3-5]. While it is known that treatment of hypertension can reduce the risk of cardiovascular events and mortality, little research has been done on outcomes of those with resistant hypertension[3,8]. Several cross-sectional studies have found relationships between aTRH and cardiovascular disease (CVD), however, longitudinal studies remain sparse[3,9]. What has been observed is that aTRH is associated with higher rates of cardiovascular and renal diseases, including: Coronary heart disease (CHD), peripheral artery disease (PAD), stroke, heart failure (HF), end-stage renal disease, and all-cause mortality. Of particular note is that aTRH increased the risk of CHD by 44% and the risk of death by 30% compared to non-aTRH[9,10].

Men and women experience differing rates of hypertension and CVD[11,12]. However, findings of sex-specific aTRH studies remain inconsistent[3,5,13-15]. Women experience an increase in risk of hypertension post-menopause indicating a possible impact of sex and age on the risk of aTRH and CVD



outcomes[12].

Of the many risk factors for CVD, age is one of the most important factors as age is an independent risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis[5,11,16,17]. However, the degree of this effect does not impact men and women in the same way neither in the risk of incident hypertension nor in the progress of hypertension in clinical treatment[11,18]. Several studies have observed that age is significantly and independently associated with risk of aTRH[3-5,14]. However, studies of the potential modification effects of sex and age on the association between aTRH and risk of CVD are limited. In this study, we hypothesized that sex and age play an important role both independently and together in the risk of aTRH for CVD outcomes. To test this hypothesis, we examined the independent and additive effects of sex and age on aTRH and risk of CVD, and whether sex and age modify the association between aTRH and CVD risk.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study sample

We analyzed data from the Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). In ALLHAT, a total of 42418 participants aged 55 and older were recruited from 625 primary care settings throughout the United States, Canada, Puerto Rico, and United States Virgin Islands. Participants were randomly assigned into four groups and then received one of four antihypertensive treatment arms: Chlorthalidone, amlodipine, lisinopril, and doxazosin. Participants who received doxazosin are excluded in the analysis because this group was discontinued early. All participants had hypertension and at least one additional risk factor for CHD. Participants were followed for an average of 6 years [19-21]. The study design and process of ALLHAT have been published in detail elsewhere^[21].

This study, using de-identified data from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, has been approved by Drexel University Institutional Review Board (# 1608004781).

Measures

Exposure (aTRH): In ALLHAT the recruited participants were initially randomized to one of 4 first-line antihypertensive drugs. Additional anti-hypertensive medications were added on to therapy over the course of follow-up visits, thus, aTRH was determined at the year 2 visit to allow time for additional medications to be added, consistent with follow-up studies [10,21]. aTRH was defined as BP \ge 140/90 while on 3 antihypertensive medications, or being on 4 antihypertensive medications regardless of BP at the year 2 visit. For subjects with either type II diabetes or CKD (assessed by glomerular filtration rate, epidermal growth factor receptor (eGFR) < 60 mL/min), the cut-offs of SBP/DBP were set at \geq 130/80 mmHg. Due to subjects being randomized to first-line anti-hypersensitive treatment, the condition that one medication be a diuretic for aTRH classification could not be applicable in the study.

Outcome (CVD): Subjects were classified as having had a CVD event if they experienced one of the following after the year 2 follow-up visit: Fatal or non-fatal myocardial infarction (MI), coronary revascularization, angina, stroke, HF, or PAD. These events were ascertained from follow-up visits and medical recording during the course of the trial^[10].

Covariates: Covariates were selected based on their independent associations with both the exposure (aTRH) and outcome (CVD), existing literature, and use of a directed acyclic graph[10]. All covariates were measured at baseline of ALLHAT. They included: Race (white, African American, American Indian/Alaskan Native, Asian/Pacific Islander, other), ethnicity (Hispanic), geographic region (East, Midwest, South, West, Canada, Puerto Rico/Virgin Islands), measures of GFR, SBP and DBP at baseline, and history of CHD, history of MI or stroke, history of coronary revascularization, previous use of BP medication, smoking status (current, former, never), history of left ventricular hypertrophy, estrogen use (in women subgroup analysis only), aspirin use, and enrollment in concurrent lipid lowering trial.

Statistics

Univariate analysis was conducted to describe the baseline characteristics of participants by aTRH status. Student's t test was used to examine mean difference in continuous variables, and Chi-square tests to examine rate and proportion differences in categorical variables. We used Cox Proportional Hazards regression models to examine the association between aTRH and CVD risk with adjusting covariates. Assumptions of the proportional hazards in Cox model were tested graphically by log-log survival curves. To test potential modification effects of sex (men vs women) and age (< 65 vs \geq 65) on the association between aTRH and CVD risk, we assessed potential multiplicative interaction (e.g., aTRH*modifier) on CVD risk. We also assessed potential additive interaction effects on CVD risk by estimating the joint effects and calculating the relative excess risk for interaction (RERI)[22]. If the RERI \neq 0 then there is evidence that the observed additive risk of our exposures is different (more or less depending on the direction of the RERI) than what was expected. The methods of the calculations and hypothesis tests for the RERI have been discussed and published in detail elsewhere^[23]. To test the overall interaction effect of sex and age and aTRH on CVD risk, we tested three-way interaction through



a product interaction term (e.g., aTRH*sex*age) in Cox models. Observed joint effects were compared to expected for both additive and multiplicative models to determine presence of effect modification and subgroup analyses were performed.

Sensitivity analyses: To avoid overfitting attributable to multiple control covariates, we applied a propensity score analysis technique[24]. A propensity score for the probability of aTRH was estimated utilizing all confounders and created using the boosted CART method in the "twang" package in R software [25-27]. Extreme weights were trimmed and inverse probability weighting was used to weight observations by the propensity score [24,28]. Second, in the ALLHAT study, missing data in BP measures occurred at year 2 visit. We conducted a sensitivity analysis using Markov Chain Monte Carlo method for multiple imputation based on the randomness of the missing values [29]. Third, because of the pathophysiologic differences between hemorrhagic and ischemic stroke, we conducted a subgroup of CVD analysis by strokes and CHD (fatal CHD or nonfatal MI, coronary revascularization, or hospitalized angina). Fourth, to control the effects attributable to the conclusion of patients who had uncontrolled hypertension (BP \ge 140/90) but with < 3 medications (n = 11223), on the estimate of hazards ratio (HR) for CVD risk, we excluded this group of patients in the final sensitivity analysis.

Data analyses were conducted using SAS software (Version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, United States). Statistical significance as set up at a two-sided P < 0.05.

RESULTS

From the original sample of 42418 subjects in ALLHAT, those on the doxazosin treatment arm (9061) were removed early for safety reasons. After excluding subjects with CVD events or death prior to year 2, and those missing year 2 visit information we had an analytic study sample of 25516. During the follow-up (average 4.7 years), 5030 (19.7%) participants had a CVD event. Table 1 shows baseline characteristics of the participants.

Overall subjects were more likely male (53.3%), from the South (41.6%), white (60.3%), and previously treated for hypertension (90.3%). Over a third (35.2%) had type 2 diabetes (T2DM), and 40.7% were former smokers. While over 40% of subjects were obese, the average body mass index (BMI) was 29.7 (SD 5.92). The average age was 66 years, and average GFR 78 mL/min. The rate of aTRH was 9.1% (n =2329) in the total sample, 9.8% in men, 8.4%% in women, and 9.1% in those aged 65 and older. Subjects with aTRH were predominantly more likely to be African American, male, $BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$, and T2DM than their corresponding counterparts.

Table 2 shows that after adjustment for covariates, aTRH remained significantly associated with risk of CVD (HR = 1.30, 95%CI: 1.19–1.42, P < 0.0001).

Sensitivity analyses of propensity score for adjusting multi-covariates and multiple imputation for estimates of missing values produced similar results as did the analysis involving exclusion of participants with uncontrolled BP on < 3 medications. When CHD was examined as the endpoint instead of CVD, the overall risk associated with aTRH was stronger (HR = 1.56, 95% CI: 1.29–1.89).

Table 3 shows individual and joint effects. Among women, aTRH was associated with a 64% increase in risk of CVD event (95%CI: 1.43–1.88), and a 13% increase in risk of CVD (95%CI: 1.01–1.27) among men. aTRH had a stronger impact on risk of CVD among younger subjects than it did among older (HR = 1.53, 95%CI: 1.32–1.77 In those aged < 65, and HR = 1.18, 95%CI: 1.05–1.32 in those aged 65 and older). All HRs were statistically significant and the two-way multiplicative interaction terms of sex*aTRH, and age*aTRH and RERIs on risk of CVD were statistically significant (P < 0.05).

Results stratified by aTRH, age, and sex can be found in Table 4 and Figure 1. Females aged 65 and older with aTRH had the highest risk of CVD (HR = 2.61, 95% CI 2.20-3.01), followed by men < 65 years with aTRH (HR = 2.17, 95% CI: 1.76–2.58). The observed joint effect (HR = 1.85, 95% CI: 1.22–2.48) was less than expected for both additive and multiplicative models (HR = 4.10, 95% CI: 3.63-4.57 and HR = 4.88, 95% CI: 3.66–6.31 respectively). However, the three-way interaction term for sex, age and aTRH was not significant for CVD (P = 0.28), and CHD (P = 0.42).

DISCUSSION

The overall findings of the present study indicate that there is a positive association between aTRH and risk of CVD. Based on statistically significant two-way interactions of sex with aTRH, and age with aTRH, heterogeneous strata results, statistically significant RERIs, and differing observed and expected joint effects, this study highlights that the association between aTRH and risk of CVD is modified independently by sex and age on both the additive and multiplicative scales.

Although it appeared there was a potential three-way interaction such that sex may modify the interaction of age and aTRH, and vice versa that age may modify the interaction of sex and aTRH on CVD risk, testing for these three-way interactions were not statistically significant. The results suggest that the interaction of sex and aTRH, or of age and aTRH did not depend on the third factor. This finding adds new insights into the body of the literature, that sex and age independently modify the



Table 1 Baseline characteristics overall and by apparent treatment resistant hypertension status, n (%)

	Querell	Resistant hypertension			
	Overall	Yes	No	P value	
Total	25516	2329 (9.1)	23187 (90.9)		
Treatment group				< 0.001	
Chlorthalidone	11808 (46.3)	853 (36.6)	10955 (47.3)		
Amlodipine	6955 (27.3)	554 (23.8)	6401 (27.6)		
Lisinopril	6753 (26.5)	922 (39.6)	5831 (25.2)		
Race				< 0.001	
White	15397 (60.3)	1272 (54.6)	14125 (60.9)		
African American	8808 (34.5)	953 (40.9)	7855 (33.9)		
Am. Indian/Alaskan Native	58 (0.2)	3 (0.1)	55 (0.2)		
Asian/Pacific Islander	312 (1.2)	26 (1.1)	286 (1.2)		
Other	941 (3.7)	75 (3.2)	866 (3.7)		
Hispanic	4485 (17.6)	204 (8.8)	4281 (18.5)	< 0.001	
Sex				< 0.001	
Male	13597 (53.3)	1333 (57.2)	12264 (52.9)		
Female	11919 (46.7)	996 (42.8)	10923 (47.1)		
Geographic region				< 0.001	
East	3917 (15.4)	337 (14.5)	3580 (15.4)		
Midwest	4736 (18.6)	449 (19.3)	4287 (18.5)		
South	10603 (41.6)	1165 (50.0)	9438 (40.7)		
West	2635 (10.3)	254 (10.9)	2381 (10.3)		
Canada	461 (1.8)	33 (1.4)	428 (1.9)		
PR/VI	3164 (12.4)	91 (3.9)	3073 (13.3)		
Preventive HTN treat	23033 (90.3)	2242 (96.3)	20791 (89.7)	< 0.001	
Obese	10604 (41.6)	1085 (46.6)	9519 (41.1)	< 0.001	
History of MI or stroke	5499 (21.6)	498 (21.4)	5001 (21.6)	0.84	
History of coronary revascularization	3016 (11.8)	327 (14.0)	2689 (11.6)	< 0.001	
Type 2 diabetes	8975 (35.2)	1061 (45.6)	7914 (34.1)	< 0.001	
left ventricular hypertrophy	5110 (20.0)	551 (23.7)	4559 (19.7)	< 0.001	
History of CHD	5981 (23.6)	534 (23.2)	5447 (23.7)	0.61	
Smoking status				< 0.001	
Current	5491 (21.5)	423 (18.2)	5068 (21.9)		
Past	10394 (40.7)	992 (42.6)	9402 (40.6)		
Never	9631 (37.7)	914 (39.2)	8717 (37.6)		
Aspirin use	9084 (35.6)	922 (39.6)	8162 (35.2)	< 0.001	
Estrogen use (in women)	2230 (18.7)	182 (18.3)	2048 (18.8)	0.84	
Age (years) (mean ± SD)	66.6 ± 7.5	67 ± 7.5	67 ± 7.5	0.78	
BMI (kg/m²) (mean ± SD)	29.7 ± 5.9	30 ± 5.9	30 ± 5.9	< 0.001	
SBP (mm Hg) (mean ± SD)	146.0 ± 15.6	152 ± 15.1	145 ± 15.5	< 0.001	
DBP (mm Hg) (mean ± SD)	84.0 ± 10.0	85 ± 10.6	84 ± 9.9	0.001	
Cholesterol (mean ± SD)	215.7 ± 42.5	216 ± 44.8	216 ± 42.2	0.79	



GFR	78.0 ± 19.3	75 ± 20.6	78 ± 19.2	< 0.001

HTN: Hypertension; MI: Myocardial infarction; CHD: Coronary heart disease; BMI: Body mass index; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: Diastolic blood pressure; GFR: Growth factor receptor; PR: Puerto Rico; VI: United States Virgin Islands.

Table 2 Hazard ratios of apparent treatment resistant hypertension for cardiovascular disease risk and sensitivity analyses Model 1 Model 2 Model 3 HR 95%CI HR 95%CI HR 95%CI aTRH 1.51 1.39 1.64 1.49 1.37 1.62 1.3 1.19 1.42 Sensitivity analyses Propensity score 1.33 1.20 1.48 Multiple imputation sensitivity analysis 1.24 1.16 1.33 CHD 1.56 1.29 1.89 Without uncontrolled on < 3 drugs 1.3 1.18 1.44

aTRH: Apparent treatment resistant hypertension; HR: Hazards ratio; Model 1: Crude; Model 2: Adjusted for age and sex; Model 3: Adjusted for age, sex, region, race, body mass index, diabetes; GFR: Growth factor receptor, history of CHD, history of myocardial infarction (MI)/Stroke, history of coronary revascularization, baseline systolic blood pressure (BP), baseline diastolic BP, left ventricular hypertrophy, smoking status, baseline BP medication use, aspirin, lipid lowering trial. Propensity score weighting sensitivity analysis (model 3). Multiple imputation sensitivity analysis (model 3); CHD: Coronary heart disease-outcome CHD (fatal CHD or nonfatal MI, coronary revascularization, or hospitalized angina) (model 3).

Table 3 Joint effects for interaction of sex and apparent treatment resistant hypertension, and age and apparent treatment resistant hypertension on cardiovascular disease risk

		aTRH (No)		aTRH (Yes)		
		HR	(95%CI)	HR	(95%CI)	HR (95%CI) by sex
Sex	Female	Reference		1.67	(1.45, 1.91)	1.64 (1.43, 1.88)
	Male	1.25	(1.16, 1.34)	1.39	(1.12, 1.56)	1.13 (1.01, 1.27)
HR (95%CI) (M	vs F)	1.25	(1.16, 1.35)	0.80	(0.66, 0.97)	
RERI (95%CI)		-0.52	(-0.75, 0.25)			
Interaction of se	ex and aTRH on CVD: F	<i>v</i> < 0.0001				
						HR (95%CI) by age
Age	< 65	Reference		1.56	(1.42, 1.71)	1.53 (1.32, 1.77)
	≥ 65	1.38	(1.31, 1.45)	1.61	(1.48, 1.73)	1.18 (1.05, 1.32)
	$\geq 65 vs < 65$	1.37	(1.28, 1.47)	1.05	(0.87, 1.27)	
RERI (95%CI)		-0.339	(-0.61, 0.06)			
Interaction of age and aTRH on CVD: $P = 0.0326$						

CVD: Cardiovascular disease; HR: Hazards ratio; aTRH: Apparent treatment resistant hypertension; F: Female; M: Male; RERI: Relative excess risk for interaction

association between aTRH and CVD.

Treating BP becomes more difficult as a patient ages and is complicated by differing BP goals by age and a possible U-shaped relationship between BP and mortality among the elderly. Among this population also exists the risk of over-correcting and lowering BP too much which can cause other health concerns including dizziness and falls[2,30,31]. However, 2017 ACC/AHA changes to the guidelines no longer specify a different target BP for those ≥ 60 and the SPRINT study of older Americans indicated better health outcomes among those with more aggressive BP lowering targets (SBP 120 vs 140 mmHg)[32,33]. This area remains a topic of debate with more research needed on this



Table 4 Joint impact of age, sex, and apparent treatment resistant hypertension on cardiovascular disease and coronary heart disease risk					
	Sex	Age	HR	(95%CI)	
Risk for CVD					
aTRH					
No	Female	< 65	Reference		
No	Male	< 65	1.55	(1.43-1.67)	
No	Female	65+	1.68	(1.56-1.79)	
No	Male	65+	1.95	1.70-2.20)	
Yes	Male	65+	1.85	(1.22-2.48)	
Yes	Female	< 65	1.88	(1.64-2.11)	
Yes	Male	< 65	2.17	(1.76-2.58)	
Yes	Female	65+	2.61	(2.20-3.01)	
Three-way interaction of sex	, age, and aTRH on CVD, $P = 0$.2841			
Risk for CHD					
aTRH					
No	Female	< 65	Reference		
No	Male	< 65	1.72	(1.57-1.86)	
No	Female	65+	1.59	(1.44-1.74)	
No	Male	65+	2.1	(1.77-2.42)	
Yes	Male	65+	2.12	(1.28-2.97)	
Yes	Female	< 65	1.79	(1.47-2.11)	
Yes	Male	< 65	2.37	(1.82-2.92)	
Yes	Female	65+	2.53	(1.98-3.08)	
Three-way interaction of sex, age, and aTRH on CHD, $P = 0.4246$					

CVD: Cardiovascular disease; HR: Hazards ratio; aTRH: Apparent treatment resistant hypertension; CHD: Coronary heart disease.





Figure 1 Joint effects of sex and age on the risk of cardiovascular disease and coronary heart disease by apparent treatment resistant hypertension status. CVD: Cardiovascular disease; CHD: Coronary heart disease; aTRH: Apparent treatment resistant hypertension; F: Fernale; M: Male.

unique population.

Research has shown that older women are more likely to adhere to medications and more likely to have their BP taken regularly, yet they appear to experience higher rates of uncontrolled hypertension [15]. Multiple mechanisms are believed to contribute to this increase in hypertension and uncontrolled hypertension in aging women including: Activation of the renin angiotensin system, obesity, activation

Baishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

of sympathetic nervous system, and decline in estrogen levels[15,17,34]. Stress on the body due to hypertension is believed to be more severe in women than in men[35]. Coupled with gender biases in treatment and management of CVD symptoms and events, we can envision how uncontrolled hypertension and aTRH would lead to more adverse health outcomes in women than men, especially in an aging population[36,37]. The pathophysiology of aTRH is believed to be linked to blood volume and salt, and salt-sensitive hypertension increases in women post-menopause thus we would expect aTRH to be more prevalent among post-menopausal women[18,38,39].

Very few studies have examined potential effect modifiers on the relationship between aTRH and CVD. Our findings are consistent with existing research in that aTRH is positively associated with CVD and both sex and age independently can modify the association between aTRH and CVD[3-5,9,10]. However, these studies only examined relative measures of association. Our study both confirmed presence of two-way interaction on the multiplicative scale and also identified that this modification is present on the additive scale. Epidemiologists have noted that additive interaction is most important for public health as it indicates an absolute number of cases which would be prevented if the modifier were removed[22,40].

No study to date has examined potential three-way interaction with aTRH. With health effects of sex and age linked it is important to examine how these gender disparities in cardiovascular outcomes of patients with aTRH differ between subgroups of age[11,12]. Public health programs aimed at improving awareness of aTRH should make specific effort to target women and informing them of the dangerous health consequences associated. This study suggests that physicians should take special note in their treatment considerations when female patients are experiencing uncontrolled hypertension and understand the serious cardiovascular risks associated with developing aTRH. For example, because the interaction of age and aTRH on CVD did not change by sex, we would still endorse applying these recommendations to vigorously control aTRH in women of all ages instead of focusing on the older group only.

This study has several strengths. ALLHAT provides us with one of the largest datasets to test the impact of aTRH on CVD risk. Sample size is particularly important when analyzing effect modification as it utilizes subgroup analyses. We also deployed two methods (propensity score weighting and multiple imputation) to conserve power in our analyses. Similar findings from our original analysis and both sensitivity analyses indicate our study is adequately powered. Another strength provided by use of ALLHAT is in our classification of aTRH. BP was taken twice from a seated position and averaged for each study visit, medication adherence was maintained through pill counts at each study visit, and doses of antihypertensive medications were appropriately titrated up to the maximum tolerated dose prior to adding on an additional medication. All of these factors allow for accurate ascertainment of aTRH status and reduce the likelihood of false positives due to pseudoresistance[2-5].

While a strong study, there are also several limitations. As this study is limited to its analysis of variables collected in ALLHAT only, additional data could be included in the analysis. For example, dietary salt intake was not measured in ALLHAT, thus we could not adjust for this in multivariate models as it is suggested that aTRH is influenced by blood volume and salt intake[38,39]. However, because ALLHAT is a randomized clinical trial, potential unmeasured factors are balanced among the participants. The clinical trial nature of our data source, while a strength for validity of aTRH classification, is also a limitation as subjects were selected based on pre-determined criteria best fit for the goals of ALLHAT and thus further studies are needed to confirm the results among different study populations. The study participants consisted of older adults (\geq 55) and thus findings of the study in women should also be evaluated in women aged 55 and older, instead of interpretating the results to those aged < 55. Additionally, the impact of pseudoresistance can never be completely removed and "white coat" effect is always a possibility when examining BP readings.

aTRH increases the risk of CVD in patients with hypertension and this relationship is modified by age and sex independently on both the relative (multiplicative) and absolute (additive) scales. More research is needed to shed further light on these gender differences, especially with regard to women both pre and post menopause. Future research should focus on these sex and age differences and how it might impact treatment and control of aTRH as there is still much unknown about this specific relationship. Management of aTRH should take a patient's age and sex into consideration and more preventive interventions should be aimed at aging women as they represent the subgroup of aTRH patients with the highest combined risk of CVD.

CONCLUSION

aTRH was significantly associated with an increased risk of CVD and this association was modified by both sex and age. Further studies are warranted to test these mechanisms.

Baishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

A Limited number of studies have been conducted to test the magnitudes of the association between apparent treatment resistant hypertension (aTRH) and risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD).

Research motivation

aTRH is significantly associated with the risk of CVD. It is important to understand whether age and sex significantly modify this association. Findings of the study could add new evidence to the body of literature, and provide new insights into further mechanism studies.

Research objectives

To investigate the association between aTRH and risk of CVD and examine whether sex and age modify this association.

Research methods

We applied an observational analysis study design using data from the United States Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). ALLHAT recruited participants (n = 25516) from 625 primary care settings throughout the United States, Canada, Puerto Rico, and United States Virgin Islands, aged 55 and older with hypertension and at least one additional risk factor for heart disease. aTRH was assessed from the year 2 visit. CVD event was defined as one of the following from the year 2 follow-up visit: Fatal or non-fatal myocardial infarction, coronary revascularization, angina, stroke, heart failure, or peripheral artery disease. Cox proportional hazards regression was used to examine the effect of aTRH on CVD risk. Potential modifications of sex and age on this association were examined on the multiplicative scale by interaction term and additive scale by joint effects and relative excess risk for interaction.

Research results

Of the total study participants, 5030 experienced a CVD event during a mean of 4.7 years follow-up. aTRH was associated with a 30% increase in risk of CVD compared to non-aTRH [hazards ratio (HR) = 1.3]. Sex and age modified this relationship on both multiplicative and additive scales independently. Stratified by sex, aTRH was associated with a 64% increase in risk of CVD in women, and a 13% increase in risk of CVD in men. Stratified by age, aTRH had a stronger impact on the risk of CVD in participants aged < 65 than it did in those aged \geq 65. Significant two-way interactions of sex and aTRH, and age and aTRH on risk of CVD were observed (P < 0.05). The observed joint effect of aTRH and ages ≥ 65 years in males was less than what was expected for both additive and multiplicative models, although three-way interaction of sex, age, and aTRH on the risk of CVD and CHD did not reach a statistical significance (P > 0.05).

Research conclusions

aTRH was significantly associated with an increased risk of CVD and this association was modified by both sex and age.

Research perspectives

Further studies are warranted to test these mechanisms.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Nelson JT and Liu L contributed to the design and analysis of the study; Nelson JT prepared the written manuscript; Liu L critically reviewed and edited the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This study, using de-identified data from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, has been approved by Drexel University Institutional Review Board, No. 1608004781 (Principal Investigator: Longjian Liu).

Informed consent statement: This ALLHAT data is de-identified and publicly available for investigators to obtain through an IRB application process. Signed Informed Consent Forms are unavailable for the investigators conducting a secondary data analysis project.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: The manuscript was prepared using ALLHAT Research Materials obtained from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI). We are not allowed to share this dataset. For those who are



interested in using this dataset, they need to apply for it from the NHLBI directly.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Julianne Theresa Nelson 0000-0003-0817-5545; Longjian Liu 0000-0001-7956-7111.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Franklin SS. Wong ND. Hypertension and cardiovascular disease: contributions of the framingham heart study. Glob 1 Heart 2013; 8: 49-57 [PMID: 25690263 DOI: 10.1016/j.gheart.2012.12.004]
- Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, Alonso A, Beaton AZ, Bittencourt MS, Boehme AK, Buxton AE, Carson AP, Commodore-Mensah Y, Elkind MSV, Evenson KR, Eze-Nliam C, Ferguson JF, Generoso G, Ho JE, Kalani R, Khan SS, Kissela BM, Knutson KL, Levine DA, Lewis TT, Liu J, Loop MS, Ma J, Mussolino ME, Navaneethan SD, Perak AM, Poudel R, Rezk-Hanna M, Roth GA, Schroeder EB, Shah SH, Thacker EL, VanWagner LB, Virani SS, Voecks JH, Wang NY, Yaffe K, Martin SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2022 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2022; 145: e153-e639 [PMID: 35078371 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000001052]
- Carey RM, Calhoun DA, Bakris GL, Brook RD, Daugherty SL, Dennison-Himmelfarb CR, Egan BM, Flack JM, Gidding 3 SS, Judd E, Lackland DT, Laffer CL, Newton-Cheh C, Smith SM, Taler SJ, Textor SC, Turan TN, White WB; American Heart Association Professional/Public Education and Publications Committee of the Council on Hypertension; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Genomic and Precision Medicine; Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease; Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research; and Stroke Council. Resistant Hypertension: Detection, Evaluation, and Management: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Hypertension 2018; 72: e53-e90 [PMID: 30354828 DOI: 10.1161/HYP.00000000000084]
- Carey RM, Sakhuja S, Calhoun DA, Whelton PK, Muntner P. Prevalence of Apparent Treatment-Resistant Hypertension 4 in the United States. Hypertension 2019; 73: 424-431 [PMID: 30580690 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.12191]
- Calhoun DA, Jones D, Textor S, Goff DC, Murphy TP, Toto RD, White A, Cushman WC, White W, Sica D, Ferdinand 5 K, Giles TD, Falkner B, Carey RM; American Heart Association Professional Education Committee. Resistant hypertension: diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Professional Education Committee of the Council for High Blood Pressure Research. Circulation 2008; 117: e510-e526 [PMID: 18574054 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.189141]
- Persell SD. Prevalence of resistant hypertension in the United States, 2003-2008. Hypertension 2011; 57: 1076-1080 6 [PMID: 21502568 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.170308]
- Egan BM. Treatment Resistant Hypertension. Ethn Dis 2015; 25: 495-498 [PMID: 26674466 DOI: 10.18865/ed.25.4.495]
- Veterans Administration. Veterans Administration Cooperative Study Group on Antihypertensive Agents. Effect of treatment on morbidity in hypertension: results in patients with diastolic blood pressure averaging 115-119 mmHg. JAMA 1967: 202: 1038-1134
- Cai A, Calhoun DA. Resistant Hypertension: An Update of Experimental and Clinical Findings. Hypertension 2017; 70: 5-9 [PMID: 28507173 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.08929]
- Muntner P, Davis BR, Cushman WC, Bangalore S, Calhoun DA, Pressel SL, Black HR, Kostis JB, Probstfield JL, 10 Whelton PK, Rahman M; ALLHAT Collaborative Research Group. Treatment-resistant hypertension and the incidence of cardiovascular disease and end-stage renal disease: results from the Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). Hypertension 2014; 64: 1012-1021 [PMID: 25259745 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03850
- Hart EC, Joyner MJ, Wallin BG, Charkoudian N. Sex, ageing and resting blood pressure: gaining insights from the 11 integrated balance of neural and haemodynamic factors. J Physiol 2012; 590: 2069-2079 [PMID: 22351633 DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.224642]
- Jane F. Reckelhoff Biography. Physiologist 2016; 59: 71-72 [PMID: 27120862] 12
- Daugherty SL, Masoudi FA, Ellis JL, Ho PM, Schmittdiel JA, Tavel HM, Selby JV, O'Connor PJ, Margolis KL, Magid 13 DJ. Age-dependent gender differences in hypertension management. J Hypertens 2011; 29: 1005-1011 [PMID: 21330934 DOI: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3283449512]
- 14 Egan BM, Zhao Y, Axon RN, Brzezinski WA, Ferdinand KC. Uncontrolled and apparent treatment resistant hypertension



in the United States, 1988 to 2008. Circulation 2011; 124: 1046-1058 [PMID: 21824920 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.030189]

- 15 Lima R, Wofford M, Reckelhoff JF. Hypertension in postmenopausal women. Curr Hypertens Rep 2012; 14: 254-260 [PMID: 22427070 DOI: 10.1007/s11906-012-0260-0]
- Sarafidis PA. Epidemiology of resistant hypertension. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2011; 13: 523-528 [PMID: 16 21762366 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7176.2011.00445.x]
- Pinto E. Blood pressure and ageing. Postgrad Med J 2007; 83: 109-114 [PMID: 17308214 DOI: 17 10.1136/pgmj.2006.048371]
- 18 Doumas M, Papademetriou V, Faselis C, Kokkinos P. Gender differences in hypertension: myths and reality. Curr Hypertens Rep 2013; 15: 321-330 [PMID: 23749317 DOI: 10.1007/s11906-013-0359-y]
- 19 Cushman WC, Ford CE, Cutler JA, Margolis KL, Davis BR, Grimm RH, Black HR, Hamilton BP, Holland J, Nwachuku C, Papademetriou V, Probstfield J, Wright JT Jr, Alderman MH, Weiss RJ, Piller L, Bettencourt J, Walsh SM; ALLHAT Collaborative Research Group. Success and predictors of blood pressure control in diverse North American settings: the antihypertensive and lipid-lowering treatment to prevent heart attack trial (ALLHAT). J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2002; 4: 393-404 [PMID: 12461301 DOI: 10.1111/j.1524-6175.2002.02045.x]
- Cushman WC, Ford CE, Einhorn PT, Wright JT Jr, Preston RA, Davis BR, Basile JN, Whelton PK, Weiss RJ, Bastien A, 20 Courtney DL, Hamilton BP, Kirchner K, Louis GT, Retta TM, Vidt DG; ALLHAT Collaborative Research Group. Blood pressure control by drug group in the Antihypertensive and Lipid-Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2008; 10: 751-760 [PMID: 19090876 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7176.2008.00015.x]
- Davis BR, Cutler JA, Gordon DJ, Furberg CD, Wright JT Jr, Cushman WC, Grimm RH, LaRosa J, Whelton PK, Perry 21 HM, Alderman MH, Ford CE, Oparil S, Francis C, Proschan M, Pressel S, Black HR, Hawkins CM. Rationale and design for the Antihypertensive and Lipid Lowering Treatment to Prevent Heart Attack Trial (ALLHAT). ALLHAT Research Group. Am J Hypertens 1996; 9: 342-360 [PMID: 8722437 DOI: 10.1016/0895-7061(96)00037-4]
- Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. Modern epidemiology. 3rd ed. Boston: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008 22
- 23 Li R, Chambless L. Test for additive interaction in proportional hazards models. Ann Epidemiol 2007; 17: 227-236 [PMID: 17320789 DOI: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2006.10.009]
- Austin PC. An Introduction to Propensity Score Methods for Reducing the Effects of Confounding in Observational 24 Studies. Multivariate Behav Res 2011; 46: 399-424 [PMID: 21818162 DOI: 10.1080/00273171.2011.568786]
- 25 Lee BK, Lessler J, Stuart EA. Improving propensity score weighting using machine learning. Stat Med 2010; 29: 337-346 [PMID: 19960510 DOI: 10.1002/sim.3782]
- EREC. Economy Meets Environment: An Integrated Life Cycle Approach. Available from: https://eres.architexturez.net/ 26 doc/oai-eres-id-eres2013-258
- A Tutorial for the R TWANG Package. Toolkit for Weighting and Analysis of Nonequivalent Groups. R package 27 version 1.5. Available from: https://www.rand.org/pubs/tools/TL136z1.html
- 28 Austin PC. Variance estimation when using inverse probability of treatment weighting (IPTW) with survival analysis. Stat Med 2016; 35: 5642-5655 [PMID: 27549016 DOI: 10.1002/sim.7084]
- Alison Evans SW. Advanced Epidemiology Missing Data Lecture 2. 2012. https://journals.lww.com/epidem/Citation/ 29 2012/09001/S_154__Geocoding_Imprecision_and_Missing_Data_.408.aspx
- Delgado J, Masoli JAH, Bowman K, Strain WD, Kuchel GA, Walters K, Lafortune L, Brayne C, Melzer D, Ble A; As part 30 of the Ageing Well Programme of the NIHR School for Public Health Research, England. Outcomes of Treated Hypertension at Age 80 and Older: Cohort Analysis of 79,376 Individuals. J Am Geriatr Soc 2017; 65: 995-1003 [PMID: 28039870 DOI: 10.1111/jgs.14712]
- Hyman DJ, Taffet GE. Blood pressure control in the elderly: can you have too much of a good thing? Curr Hypertens Rep 31 2009; 11: 337-342 [PMID: 19737450 DOI: 10.1007/s11906-009-0057-y]
- Muntner P, Carey RM, Gidding S, Jones DW, Taler SJ, Wright JT Jr, Whelton PK. Potential US Population Impact of the 32 2017 ACC/AHA High Blood Pressure Guideline. Circulation 2018; 137: 109-118 [PMID: 29133599 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.032582]
- Williamson JD, Supiano MA, Applegate WB, Berlowitz DR, Campbell RC, Chertow GM, Fine LJ, Haley WE, Hawfield 33 AT, Ix JH, Kitzman DW, Kostis JB, Krousel-Wood MA, Launer LJ, Oparil S, Rodriguez CJ, Roumie CL, Shorr RI, Sink KM, Wadley VG, Whelton PK, Whittle J, Woolard NF, Wright JT Jr, Pajewski NM; SPRINT Research Group. Intensive vs Standard Blood Pressure Control and Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes in Adults Aged ≥75 Years: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2016; 315: 2673-2682 [PMID: 27195814 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2016.7050]
- Barton M, Meyer MR. Postmenopausal hypertension: mechanisms and therapy. Hypertension 2009; 54: 11-18 [PMID: 34 19470884 DOI: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.120022]
- Vaccarino V, Parsons L, Every NR, Barron HV, Krumholz HM. Sex-based differences in early mortality after myocardial 35 infarction. National Registry of Myocardial Infarction 2 Participants. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 217-225 [PMID: 10413733 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199907223410401]
- 36 Möller-Leimkühler AM. Gender differences in cardiovascular disease and comorbid depression. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2007; 9: 71-83 [PMID: 17506227 DOI: 10.31887/DCNS.2007.9.1/ammoeller]
- Shaw LJ, Miller DD, Romeis JC, Kargl D, Younis LT, Chaitman BR. Gender differences in the noninvasive evaluation 37 and management of patients with suspected coronary artery disease. Ann Intern Med 1994; 120: 559-566 [PMID: 8116993] DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-120-7-199404010-000051
- Taler SJ, Textor SC, Augustine JE. Resistant hypertension: comparing hemodynamic management to specialist care. 38 Hypertension 2002; 39: 982-988 [PMID: 12019280 DOI: 10.1161/01.hyp.0000016176.16042.2f]
- 39 Graves JW, Bloomfield RL, Buckalew VM Jr. Plasma volume in resistant hypertension: guide to pathophysiology and therapy. Am J Med Sci 1989; 298: 361-365 [PMID: 2596494 DOI: 10.1097/00000441-198912000-00001]
- 40 Moyses Szklo FJN. Epidemiology: beyond the basics. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning, 2014



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 May 26; 15(5): 273-283

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.273

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Impact of erythropoietin therapy on cardiorenal syndrome: A systematic review with meta-analysis

Rubal Bhangal, Ivan Cancarevic, Mahmoud Nassar, Zaryab Umar

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Wu YJ, China; Zhao XC, China

Received: December 19, 2022 Peer-review started: December 19, 2022 First decision: February 8, 2023 Revised: March 24, 2023 Accepted: April 4, 2023 Article in press: April 4, 2023 Published online: May 26, 2023



Rubal Bhangal, Ivan Cancarevic, Zaryab Umar, Department of Internal Medicine, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai/NYC Health+Hospitals Queens, New York, NY 11432, United States

Mahmoud Nassar, Department of Internal Medicine, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY 10029, United States

Mahmoud Nassar, Department of Internal Medicine, NYC Health+Hospital Queens, New York, NY 11432, United States

Corresponding author: Mahmoud Nassar, MD, MSc, PhD, Doctor, Department of Internal Medicine, NYC Health+Hospital Queens, New York, NY 11432, United States. dr.nassar@aucegypt.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Heart and kidney dysfunction frequently coexist in patients with acute heart failure due to the overlap between these two organ systems. Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) results from pathology occurring in the heart and kidneys along with the consequences of dysfunction in one organ contributing to dysfunction in the other and vice versa.

AIM

To evaluate the use of erythropoietin (EPO) in patients with CRS and its effects on hemoglobin (Hb), major cardiovascular (CV) events, and hospitalization rates.

METHODS

On February 24, 2022, searches were conducted using PubMed, MEDLINE, and EMBASE, and 148 articles were identified. A total of nine studies were considered in this systematic review. We assessed the included articles based on the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute quality assessment tools for controlled intervention and observational cohort or cross-sectional studies. An assessment of bias risk was conducted on the chosen studies, and data relevant to our review was extracted.

RESULTS

The systematic review of these studies concluded that most existing literature indicates that EPO improves baseline Hb levels and decreases myocardial remodeling and left ventricular dysfunction without reducing CV mortality. In addition, the effect of EPO on the hospitalization rate of patients with CRS needs


to be further studied since this relationship is unknown. Future studies, such as randomized controlled clinical trials and prospective cohort studies, should be conducted to enhance the literature on the potential of EPO therapy in patients with CRS.

CONCLUSION

Our systematic review suggests that EPO therapy may have a significant role in managing CRS. The review highlights the potential benefits of EPO in improving baseline Hb levels, reducing the risk of major CV events, improving cardiac remodeling, myocardial function, New York Heart Association class, and B-type natriuretic peptide levels. However, the effect of EPO treatment on hospitalization remains unclear and needs further exploration.

Key Words: Cardiorenal syndrome; Anemia; Cardiovascular disease; End-stage renal disease; Erythropoietin; Congestive heart failure

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Erythropoietin improves baseline hemoglobin levels and decreases the risk of major cardiovascular.

Citation: Bhangal R, Cancarevic I, Nassar M, Umar Z. Impact of erythropoietin therapy on cardiorenal syndrome: A systematic review with meta-analysis. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(5): 273-283 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i5/273.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.273

INTRODUCTION

Many patients with heart failure also experience kidney dysfunction and vice versa, as these two organs are closely related in their functions. Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) describes a pathophysiological disorder of the heart and kidneys, whereby dysfunction of one system may contribute to dysfunction of another[1]. An estimated 50% of patients with congestive heart failure (CHF), who have both reduced and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction, have an estimated glomerular filtrate rate (eGFR) of less than 60 mL/min/1.73 m²[2]. Even moderate renal insufficiency, defined as an eGFR less than 60 mL/ min/1.73 m², is associated with an increased risk of cardiac failure, hospitalization, and all-cause mortality[2]. CRS was previously considered to indicate acute kidney injury resulting from acute cardiac disease; however, more recent research suggests that the relationship between these two organs is bidirectional, meaning either organ could be the primary culprit[1,3]. CRS is categorized into five categories: acute and chronic cardiorenal, acute and chronic nephrocardiac, and secondary cardiorenal syndrome[1,3]. Essentially, each sub-category of CRS describes the acuity and pathophysiology of cardiac and kidney dysfunction, how the two overlap, and the presence of other systemic disorders[3]. The most common subtype of CRS is type one (acute cardiorenal), with approximately 50% of patients diagnosed with this condition[4]. The risk factors associated with worsening renal function in CRS include existing chronic kidney disease, hypertension, history of heart failure, diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease, ischemic cardiomyopathy, and history of acute kidney injury[4].

In addition, many studies have shown that kidney dysfunction in CHF is caused by poor renal plasma flow, which leads the kidneys to retain water and sodium, which in turn, allows for improved perfusion of all essential organs^[1]. The presence of anemia can result in tissue hypoxia and peripheral vasodilation, resulting in lower blood pressure and renal blood flow, increased heart rate, stroke volume, renal vasoconstriction, and sodium and water reabsorption^[5]. Poor renal blood flow causes increased release of renin, angiotensin, aldosterone, and antidiuretic hormone (ADH), further increasing renal vasoconstriction and sodium and water reabsorption[5]. Renin, angiotensin, aldosterone, and ADH are toxic to cardiac, renal, and endothelial cells, which results in dysfunction in these tissues[5].

Nevertheless, recent studies have revealed that kidney hemodynamic changes can occur independently of the heart's hemodynamic changes^[1]. An initial response of the kidneys to CHF is to reduce renal plasma flow and eGFR, which results in a higher filtration fraction[1]. To maintain eGFR, both efferent arteriolar resistance and glomerular capillary hydrostatic pressure must be increased, severely impairing overall cardiac function[1]. Additionally, there is evidence of increased sodium reabsorption, specifically in the Loop of Henle, as well as activation of the sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) all play a role in the development of CRS[1,3]. Overactivation of the RAAS increases both preload and afterload, leading in the long-term to cardiac dysfunction.



The presence of anemia with kidney dysfunction has also been shown to exacerbate CHF's progression and increase the risk of morbidity and mortality[6]. Besides contributing to tissue dysfunction by potentiating hypoxia, anemia can also increase oxidative stress, which contributes to increased hyperdynamic blood circulation and heart failure development[6]. Hemoglobin (Hb) levels are less than or equal to 12 g/dL in approximately 40% of patients with CHF[5]. Moreover, anemia is more common in the elderly, diabetics, and patients with poor baseline cardiac and/or renal function [5]. Increasing Hb levels can limit the detrimental effects of oxidative stress on the kidney and cardiac function. In a study by Pagourelias et al[6], for every 1 g/dL increase in Hb, there was a 15.8% reduction in mortality and a 14.2% reduction in mortality plus hospitalization in patients with CHF[6]. Erythropoietin (EPO) is a hematopoietic growth factor, the major function of which is to stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of erythropoiesis. EPO treatment is an efficient approach to increase Hb levels in patients with CHF whose anemia is caused by reduced EPO production. EPO can also influence other cellular processes, such as cell integrity and angiogenesis^[7]. EPO has been demonstrated to improve both renal and cardiac function. EPO can decrease marrow inflammation, which can reverse the myelosuppressive effects of cardiac dysfunction and coexisting uremia[6]. Furthermore, EPO may prevent myocardial ischemic injury in CHF patients by inhibiting the apoptosis of cardiac myocytes[6]. Iron therapy is unable to provide such effects on hematopoiesis due to the lack of hematological and immunological regulatory ability and its limited bioavailability[6].

It is of great significance to investigate the role of EPO in treating patients with CRS. Recombinant human EPO (rhEPO) is a drug routinely prescribed to treat anemia in patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD), and rhEPO treatment has been demonstrated to be beneficial for improving patients' life quality and survival. It is reasonable to assume that rhEPO treatment is beneficial for patients with CRS. Given the high prevalence of CRS, searching for a treatment modality that can improve therapeutic responses is of high significance in clinical practice and will significantly decrease the mortality and hospitalization of CRS patients. Fewer hospitalizations would likely result in lower healthcare costs as well. Several studies are ongoing to examine the benefits of rhEPO treatment in patients with CRS. A two-part clinical trial conducted by the University of Alberta is currently examining whether treatment with EPO will increase cardiac performance and decrease renal disease progression in patients with CRS[8]. The failure to further investigate EPO for use in the treatment of CRS will result in the deprivation of a promising treatment option for many patients.

Through this systematic review, we aim to deepen our understanding of the role of EPO in managing CRS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Our article was written according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines^[9]. It was not registered as a systematic review and no separate protocol was written. On February 24, 2022, a literature search was conducted on PubMed, MEDLINE, and EMBASE databases. The literature search was conducted using the following search strategy consisting of medical subject headings (MeSH) terms and regular keywords: ("Cardio-Renal Syndrome" [Mesh] OR cardio-renal syndrome" OR "cardiorenal" OR "cardiorenal syndrome" OR "CRS" OR "reno-cardiac" syndrome" OR "renocardiac syndrome") AND ("Erythropoietin"[Mesh] OR "erythropoietin" OR "EPO" OR "epoetin alfa" OR "darbepoetin alfa" OR "colony-stimulating factors").

Subsequently, the search results were imported into the Covidence platform, which automatically removed duplicate articles. Two reviewers independently examined titles and abstracts as part of an initial screening, followed by a second screening of full-length articles. Conflicts in the selected articles were discussed directly between the two reviewers, and a conclusion was drawn after each conflict article's discussion. In the event that a conclusion could not be reached, a third reviewer was consulted to vote on the final decision. We included randomized controlled clinical trials, cross-sectional studies, prospective and retrospective case-control, and cohort studies exploring the use of erythropoietin in CRS management. The articles published up to February 24, 2022, were included. We excluded in vitro studies, animal studies, abstracts, case reports, case series, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses. Furthermore, we excluded articles in languages other than English.

Following this, a quality assessment was performed using the 2013 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) quality assessment tools for controlled intervention studies and observational cohort or cross-sectional studies[10]. We included studies that scored 11 or higher on each quality assessment tool. Each study was then analyzed for obvious biases and confounding variables. Extrapolation of data was performed by one reviewer and displayed in a table (shown below). A qualitative analysis of the data was conducted following data extraction for the systematic review.

We performed a meta-analysis since there were a number of eligible studies. For studies included in the meta-analysis, an odds ratio (OR) was calculated. Due to the substantial heterogeneity in the concluded study, a random effects model was used for the meta-analysis. Meta-analysis was conducted using Review Manager 5.4.1 software. Meta-analysis studies with forest plots were included for the outcomes.



RESULTS

We selected 148 relevant articles from PubMed, MEDLINE, and EMBASE using an advanced search strategy combining MeSH terms and common keywords. We removed 11 duplicate articles. We screened 137 titles and abstracts before selecting 43 articles for full-text review. Of the 43 articles assessed for eligibility, 34 articles were excluded (7 were incorrect study designs, 3 were not retrievable, and 1 was an abstract). A total of nine studies were evaluated using the NHLBI quality assessment tools for controlled intervention studies and observational cohort studies or cross-sectional studies. Of the nine studies, six were randomized controlled trials, two were retrospective cohort studies, and one was a prospective cohort study. Articles that scored 11 or higher out of 14 on the assessment scale were considered high-quality articles, and therefore were included in the systematic review. Eight studies scored 11 points out of 14, whereas one study scored 12 points out of 14. A PRISMA flowchart of the reviewed literature and search strategies can be found in Figure 1. Table 1 summarizes the included studies and their statistical significance[11-19]. In addition, Table 1 illustrates how each study was scored according to the NHLBI quality assessment tools.

There were two studies included in the meta-analysis[11,12]. Study results showed a nonsignificant decrease in all causes of hospitalization (OR = 0.93 [95% confidence interval (CI), 0.23, 3.72]; P = 0.92). There was a high level of heterogeneity among the included studies ($l^2 = 76\%$) (Figure 2). The asymmetry in the funnel plot indicates the existence of publication or selective reporting bias (Figure 3).

Elevated serum neutrophil-gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) is inversely correlated with baseline EPO levels, independent of renal function. Low-dose EPO treatment caused a moderate decrease in serum NGAL levels, therefore reflecting potential improvement in renal tubular damage.

DISCUSSION

Effects of EPO on Hb levels and predictors of EPO use

As expected, the majority of studies concluded that EPO therapy increased Hb levels in patients with CRS. Furthermore, it would be expected that lower Hb levels would be associated with a higher rate of EPO prescription. This was confirmed in a study by Jackevicius *et al*[12] that found EPO therapy to be inversely related to Hb levels, such that patients with lower Hb levels are more likely to be prescribed EPO. On average, Hb levels are found to increase approximately 6 wk after EPO treatment, at which point most patients experience symptomatic improvement^[20]. The need for prolonged treatment was confirmed by Jie et al[16], who found that short-term EPO use (3 wk) did not result in any change in Hb levels in patients with CRS, whereas long-term EPO therapy (52 wk) resulted in a significant increase in both Hb and reticulocyte count. Further, the strongest predictors of EPO use include iron supplementation, markers of declining renal function, and patients taking hydralazine, nitrates, angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), and/or aspirin concurrently[12]. Hydralazine and nitrates are typically prescribed to patients with heart failure once patients' renal function no longer permits RAAS inhibitor usage, at which point they are also far more likely to be prescribed EPO for advanced chronic kidney disease[12]. The temporal relationship is also important because hydralazine is a drug used to treat hypertension, and hypertension is a known side effect of EPO. No clear conclusions regarding aspirin or ARBs were drawn.

Likewise, in another study by Jie et al[18], EPO not only provided a significant rise in Hb levels compared to the non-EPO therapy but more interestingly, altered the monocyte transcriptomes that played a role in inflammation and oxidative stress. The increase in oxidative stress, in turn, increased the risk of cardiovascular (CV) events [18]. In this study, EPO's role in oxidative stress was found to be associated with improving Hb level and alterations in gene expression directly involved in the inflammatory response. The effects were, however, very variable and inconsistent between individuals. The authors were unable to demonstrate a beneficial non-hematopoietic effect of EPO, although no harmful effects were found[18].

Several studies have shown that Hb levels improve after sufficient treatment with EPO. Exogenous EPO stimulates erythropoiesis, which increases red blood cell production and Hb levels. By reducing the degree of anemia among patients with CRS, oxidative stress and inflammatory response can be reduced. As a result, anemia symptoms such as fatigue, malaise, weakness, and dizziness are also improved, thus enhancing patients' overall quality of life. Similarly, since the data presented clearly points towards increasing Hb levels, it is reasonable to expect that those suffering from symptomatic anemia would experience clinical improvement, likely prompting them to be compliant with EPO therapy. In our review, the degree of Hb improvement varied significantly between the studies that were analyzed, and it was highly dependent on the dose of EPO given and the frequency of EPO administration. There is still insufficient data to predict an individual's response to therapy.

EPO's effect on significant CV risk and mortality

The effect of EPO on CV mortality is at this time difficult to establish, considering the differences in outcomes reported by currently available studies [11,13-15]. The results of a randomized study by



Table 1 Summary of included studies										
	Study design	No. of Patients	EPO dosage and treatment duration	Average Hb level (g/dL)			EPO's effect on			
Ref.				Before EPO therapy	After EPO therapy	Without EPO treatment	Hb level	Major CV event	Hospitalization rate	Other findings
Jackevicius <i>et al</i> [12], 2015	Retrospective cohort	2058	N/A	N/A	10.5	11.1	Inverse relationship between EPO therapy and Hb levels	N/A	N/A	The strongest predictors of EPO use include iron supplementation, markers of declining renal function, and patients concurrently taking hydralazine, nitrates, ARBs, and/or aspirin
Eisenga <i>et al</i> [<mark>13]</mark> , 2019	Open-label, prospective, randomized trial	56	N/A	11.7	13.2	11.8	Increased Hb levels	Increased cFGFR23 and iFGFR23, increased risk of CV events and mortality	N/A	N/A
McMurray et al[14], 2011	Randomized trial	3847	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Patients with CKD and anemia have an 11.2% higher risk for a major CV event. History of CHF was the highest-ranked predictor of future CV events, followed by age (hazard increase by 74% and 27%, respectively)	N/A	N/A
Fazlibegović et al[15], 2006	Prospective cohort	90	2000 to 6000 interna- tional units (I.U.) for 1-3 times per week, depending on the Hb level	8.7	10.1	N/A	Increased Hb levels	Improved functional ability of the myocardium, LV function, and quality of life	N/A	The average NYHA class before treatment with EPO was class II, with a range of I-IV; after treatment, the average class was I, with a range of I-II
Palazzuoli <i>et al</i> [11], 2007	A randomized, double-blind controlled study	51	6000 I.U. twice weekly	10.4	11.2	10.6	Increased Hb levels	Improved LV systolic function, LV remodeling, NYHA class, BNP levels, and quality of life compared to control group	N/A	N/A
Jie <i>et al</i> [<mark>16</mark>], 2011	Open-label randomized trial	65	N/A	7.5	8.4	6.9	Increased Hb levels with long term use	N/A	N/A	Reduced CD34+ KRD-EPC levels, which was associated with decreased vascular regenerative potential
Jackevicius <i>et al</i> [17], 2014	Retrospective cohort study	2058		10.5:		11.1	Increased Hb levels	Increased risk of major CV and acute coronary syndrome events	Increased risk of an all-cause hospital- ization rate	EPO use increases the risk of mortality
Jie et al[<mark>18</mark>], 2012	Randomized trial	30	50 I.U./kg once weekly	11.8	12.3	N/A	Increased Hb levels	Modest alteration in monocyte transcriptomes, indicating imprints of inflammation and oxidative stress. The increase in oxidative stress, in turn, increased the risk of CV events	N/A	Variable response in gene expression. Unable to conclude whether EPO improved hematopoietic effects in CRS patients with such gene mutations
Emans <i>et al</i> [19], 2013	Open-label prospective	62	50 I.U./kg once weekly		13.7	11.8	Increased Hb levels	N/A	N/A	Elevated serum NGAL is inversely correlated with baseline EPO levels,

Bhangal R et al. Cardiorenal syndrome and erythropoietin

randomized trial

independent of renal function. Low-dose EPO treatment caused a moderate decrease in serum NGAL levels, therefore reflecting potential improvement in renal tubular damage

ARB: Angiotensin II receptor blocker; BNP: B-type natriuretic peptide; cFGF: C-terminal fibroblast growth factor; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; CHF: Congestive heart failure; CRS: Cardiorenal syndrome; CV: Cardiovascular; EPO: Erythropoietin; EPC: Endothelial progenitor cell: Hb: Hemoglobin; iFGFR: Intracellular fibroblast growth factor receptor; LV: Left ventricular; N/A: Not applicable; NGAL: Neutrophil-gelatinase-associated lipocalin; NYHA: New York Heart Association.

McMurray *et al*[14] revealed that patients with both chronic kidney disease and anemia are at an increased risk of major CV events by 11.2%. In addition, a history of CHF was the strongest predictor of CV events in the future (hazard increased by 74%), followed by age (hazard increased by 27%)[14]. Moreover, a prospective cohort study involving EPO therapy ranging from 2000 to 6000 international units (I.U.) for 1-3 times per week found that EPO treatment concurrently with iron supplementation improved the functional ability of the myocardium, left ventricular (LV) function, and overall quality of life among patients with chronic forms of the cardiorenal syndrome[15]. Palazzuoli *et al*[11] also compared the efficacy of combination therapy with EPO and iron to iron alone in patients with cardiorenal syndrome with anemia. They found that concurrent EPO and iron supplementation improved LV systolic function, LV remodeling, New York Heart Association (NYHA) class, B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) levels, and quality of life compared to a control group that took only oral iron [11]. Eisenga *et al*[13] found that EPO caused a significant increase in C-terminal FGF23 (cFGF23) and a smaller increase in intact FGF23 (iFGF23). A higher level of cFGF23 has been associated with increased risk of CV events and mortality; however, the underlying mechanism remains unknown[13].

As demonstrated in this review, the exact effects of EPO supplementation, with or without iron supplementation, are difficult to determine. Some studies have even suggested worse CV outcomes, whereas others did not show statistically significant differences in CV mortality. The effects on myocardial function and the reported quality of life appear more promising.

EPO's effect on hospitalization rates

Our review included studies on the effects of EPO therapy on hospitalization rates in patients with CRS. For example, a study by Jackevicius *et al*[17] found that EPO use was associated with an increased risk of all-cause hospitalization, major CV events, acute coronary syndrome, and mortality. The risk of hospitalization may be due in part to patients receiving EPO having a poor renal function and/or myocardial dysfunction, which places them at an increased risk of hospitalization even before receiving EPO. However, a study by Emans *et al*[19] showed that baseline EPO levels inversely correlated with serum neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) levels, regardless of renal function, and that low-dose EPO treatment caused a moderate decrease in serum NGAL levels, reflecting a potential improvement in renal tubular damage. NGAL is a protein from the lipocalin family that inhibits bacterial uptake of iron and is a biomarker reflective of tubular damage as it can detect early-stage acute kidney injury[19].



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i5.273 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses flow diagram for new systematic reviews, which included searches of databases and registers only.





The effects of EPO treatment on the hospitalization rates of patients with CRS remain variable and should therefore be further investigated. Interestingly, EPO reduces NGAL levels, thereby minimizing renal tubular destruction and increasing iron availability. Therefore, this is likely to minimize hospitalization rates as well. The effect of EPO on renal tubular function should be further explored, as this is a potentially significant benefit of EPO therapy in patients with CRS and other renal conditions. For the time being, physicians should determine whether the potential benefits of EPO use in patients with CRS outweigh the risks.

In summary, this systematic review studied the overall significance of EPO when managing patients with CRS. The literature demonstrates that not only does EPO increase patients baseline Hb levels but it also lowers the risk of major CV events from occurring in patients with CRS. EPO improves the heart failure aspect of CRS by both improving cardiac remodeling and overall myocardial function, and by doing so, EPO is able to minimize the CV mortality as well. Moreover, the reviewed literature does not demonstrate a clear effect of EPO on hospitalization rates and hence this effect should be further analyzed in future studies. Lowering hospitalization rates would potentially decrease healthcare expenses and, more importantly, improve the quality of life of patients with this condition. In conclusion, the literature included in this review clearly demonstrates how EPO has several significant benefits when used to treat patients with CRS.

Strengths

The strongest aspect of this systematic review is that it primarily focused on randomized controlled clinical trials and cohort studies, which provide a more accurate description of the temporal sequence among exposure, EPO treatment, and CRS effects.

Zaisbidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Funnel plot of all causes of hospitalization of erythropoietin vs non-erythropoietin.

Limitations

This systematic review had some limitations that should be highlighted. A limited amount of total data available regarding this topic increased the risk of publication bias. In addition, some articles discussing this topic had small sample sizes, raising the possibility of cognitive bias. Moreover, the articles were selected from three separate databases with a constriction of only selecting articles written in English.

Future directions

The literature regarding patients with CRS and the use of EPO therapy should be expanded with more randomized controlled clinical trials and prospective cohort studies. Moreover, since the protocols used for EPO administration varied significantly between studies, further research should be conducted regarding EPO's most optimal dosage and treatment duration. The effect on mortality does not appear to reach statistical significance at this time, which may change with a larger sample size. It is also important for further research to be performed examining the effects of EPO treatment on hospitalization rates, as this association remains unknown at this time due to insufficient data.

CONCLUSION

We conducted a systematic review to investigate the role of EPO in CRS management. The benefits of EPO therapy in patients with ESRD and CHF are well-established. Thus, it is highly likely that EPO would also be beneficial for patients with CRS. The literature review indicates that EPO improves baseline Hb levels and decreases the risk of major CV events in patients with CRS. The ability of EPO to improve cardiac remodeling, myocardial function, NYHA class, and BNP levels is significant since this will improve the heart failure aspect of CRS and, more importantly, lower the likelihood of death for patients who have this condition. Additionally, the effect of EPO treatment on hospitalization remains unclear and should be further explored as it would benefit patients and potentially reduce healthcare costs. Our review had a few limitations, including the possibility of publication bias, cognitive bias, and the possibility of missing some studies due to the criteria used for selecting articles. Additionally, future randomized controlled clinical trials would benefit the medical community in assessing the use of EPO in treating patients with CRS and specifically examine different EPO dosages and their effects on CV risk, mortality risk, and hospitalization rates. Since CRS is a prevalent condition, the discovery of an effective adjunctive treatment option will significantly affect the clinical outcome of patients with this condition.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) describes a pathophysiological disorder of the heart and kidneys, whereby dysfunction of one system may contribute to dysfunction of another. Many patients with heart failure also experience kidney dysfunction and vice versa, as these two organs are closely related in their functions. Poor renal plasma flow in congestive heart failure (CHF) causes the kidneys to retain water



and sodium, which allows for improved perfusion of all essential organs, leading to kidney dysfunction.

Research motivation

Anemia exacerbates CHF's progression and increases the risk of morbidity and mortality, and increasing hemoglobin (Hb) levels can limit the detrimental effects of oxidative stress on the kidney and cardiac function. Erythropoietin (EPO) treatment is an efficient approach to increase Hb levels in patients with CHF whose anemia is caused by reduced EPO production. Investigating the role of EPO in treating patients with CRS is of great significance as it could significantly decrease the mortality and hospitalization of CRS patients and lead to lower healthcare costs.

Research objectives

This systematic review evaluated the use of erythropoietin (EPO) in patients with CRS and its effects on Hb, major cardiovascular (CV) events, and hospitalization rates. The study aimed to deepen our understanding of the role of EPO in managing CRS and whether it can be a promising treatment option for many patients. The primary objective was to assess the efficacy of EPO therapy in improving cardiac and renal function in CRS patients.

Research methods

The article was written according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines. The literature search was conducted on PubMed, MEDLINE, and EMBASE databases using a search strategy consisting of medical subject headings terms and regular keywords. Two reviewers independently examined titles and abstracts, followed by a second screening of fulllength articles. Quality assessment was performed using the 2013 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) quality assessment tools for controlled intervention studies and observational cohort or cross-sectional studies. A meta-analysis was performed using Review Manager 5.4.1 software, and meta-analysis studies with forest plots were included for the outcomes. In vitro studies, animal studies, abstracts, case reports, case series, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses were excluded. Furthermore, articles in languages other than English were excluded.

Research results

This study selected 148 relevant articles and narrowed them down to nine studies that were evaluated using the NHLBI quality assessment tools. The majority of the studies concluded that EPO therapy increased Hb levels in patients with CRS and reduced anemia symptoms such as fatigue, malaise, weakness, and dizziness. However, the degree of Hb improvement varied significantly between the studies and was highly dependent on the dose and frequency of EPO administration. The effect of EPO on CV mortality is difficult to establish as different studies have reported varying outcomes. EPO use was associated with an increased risk of hospitalization, major CV events, acute coronary syndrome, and mortality in some studies. However, other studies found potential benefits of EPO on myocardial function and quality of life. The study's strength lies in its focus on randomized controlled clinical trials and cohort studies, while its limitations include publication bias and small sample sizes.

Research conclusions

The literature review provides evidence supporting the use of EPO therapy as a potential treatment option for patients with CRS. The benefits of EPO treatment in improving Hb levels, reducing major CV events, and improving cardiac remodeling, myocardial function, NYHA class, and BNP levels are significant, indicating a positive impact on the heart failure aspect of CRS and lowering the likelihood of death for patients. However, further studies are needed to investigate the effect of EPO treatment on hospitalization rates and potential side effects. Overall, the findings of this review suggest that EPO therapy may be a promising adjunctive treatment option for CRS, and more research is needed to confirm its effectiveness and optimize its use in clinical practice.

Research perspectives

In terms of future research perspectives, it is crucial to investigate the potential long-term effects of EPO therapy in patients with CRS. Since CRS is a chronic condition, examining the long-term effects of EPO treatment will provide valuable insights into its efficacy and safety. Additionally, future studies should explore the potential of combining EPO therapy with other treatments for CRS, such as angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and beta blockers, to determine if combination therapy could improve clinical outcomes. Finally, future research should also aim to identify biomarkers that can predict a patient's response to EPO therapy, which would allow for more personalized treatment approaches.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All author contributed equally; All authors have read and approved the final version.



Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Rubal Bhangal 0000-0002-1232-6206; Ivan Cancarevic 0000-0002-7455-6381; Mahmoud Nassar 0000-0002-5401-9562; Zaryab Umar 0000-0003-4431-635X.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- Ronco C, Bellasi A, Di Lullo L. Cardiorenal Syndrome: An Overview. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2018; 25: 382-390 1 [PMID: 30309455 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2018.08.004]
- Costanzo MR. The Cardiorenal Syndrome in Heart Failure. Heart Fail Clin 2020; 16: 81-97 [PMID: 31735318 DOI: 2 10.1016/j.hfc.2019.08.010]
- Kumar U, Wettersten N, Garimella PS. Cardiorenal Syndrome: Pathophysiology. Cardiol Clin 2019; 37: 251-265 [PMID: 3 31279419 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccl.2019.04.001]
- 4 Uduman J. Epidemiology of Cardiorenal Syndrome. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2018; 25: 391-399 [PMID: 30309456 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2018.08.009]
- Silverberg DS, Wexler D, Iaina A, Steinbruch S, Wollman Y, Schwartz D. Anemia, chronic renal disease and congestive 5 heart failure--the cardio renal anemia syndrome: the need for cooperation between cardiologists and nephrologists. Int Urol Nephrol 2006; 38: 295-310 [PMID: 16868702 DOI: 10.1007/s11255-006-0064-8]
- Pagourelias ED, Koumaras C, Kakafika AI, Tziomalos K, Zorou PG, Athyros VG, Karagiannis A. Cardiorenal anemia 6 syndrome: do erythropoietin and iron therapy have a place in the treatment of heart failure? Angiology 2009; 60: 74-81 [PMID: 18413330 DOI: 10.1177/0003319708316169]
- Nangaku M, Fliser D. Erythropoiesis-stimulating agents: past and future. Kidney Int Suppl 2007; S1-S3 [PMID: 17943137 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002480]
- van der Putten K, Jie KE, Emans ME, Verhaar MC, Joles JA, Cramer MJ, Velthuis BK, Meiss L, Kraaijenhagen RJ, 8 Doevendans PA, Braam B, Gaillard CA. Erythropoietin treatment in patients with combined heart and renal failure: objectives and design of the EPOCARES study. J Nephrol 2010; 23: 363-368 [PMID: 20383871]
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, Shamseer L, Tetzlaff JM, Akl EA, Brennan 9 SE, Chou R, Glanville J, Grimshaw JM, Hróbjartsson A, Lalu MM, Li T, Loder EW, Mayo-Wilson E, McDonald S, McGuinness LA, Stewart LA, Thomas J, Tricco AC, Welch VA, Whiting P, Moher D. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021; 372: n71 [PMID: 33782057 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]
- Study Quality Assessment Tools. (2021). Accessed: March 20, 2022, 2022. Available from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/ 10 health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools
- Palazzuoli A, Silverberg DS, Iovine F, Calabrò A, Campagna MS, Gallotta M, Nuti R. Effects of beta-erythropoietin 11 treatment on left ventricular remodeling, systolic function, and B-type natriuretic peptide levels in patients with the cardiorenal anemia syndrome. Am Heart J 2007; 154: 645.e9-645.15 [PMID: 17892986 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2007.07.022]
- 12 Jackevicius CA, Co MJ, Warner AL. Predictors of erythropoietin use in patients with cardiorenal anaemia syndrome. Int J Pharm Pract 2015; 23: 199-204 [PMID: 24990704 DOI: 10.1111/ijpp.12133]
- Eisenga MF, Emans ME, van der Putten K, Cramer MJ, Diepenbroek A, Velthuis BK, Doevendans PA, Verhaar MC, 13 Joles JA, Bakker SJL, Nolte IM, Braam B, Gaillard CAJM. Epoetin Beta and C-Terminal Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure and Chronic Kidney Disease. J Am Heart Assoc 2019; 8: e011130 [PMID: 31423921 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.118.011130]
- 14 McMurray JJ, Uno H, Jarolim P, Desai AS, de Zeeuw D, Eckardt KU, Ivanovich P, Levey AS, Lewis EF, McGill JB, Parfrey P, Parving HH, Toto RM, Solomon SD, Pfeffer MA. Predictors of fatal and nonfatal cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, and anemia: an analysis of the Trial to Reduce cardiovascular Events with Aranesp (darbepoetin-alfa) Therapy (TREAT). Am Heart J 2011; 162: 748-755.e3 [PMID: 21982669 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.07.016]
- Fazlibegović E, Hadziomerović M, Corić S, Babić E, Fazlibegović F. Erythropoietin in cardiorenal anemia syndrome. 15 Bosn J Basic Med Sci 2006; 6: 36-41 [PMID: 17177647 DOI: 10.17305/bjbms.2006.3117]
- Jie KE, van der Putten K, Bergevoet MW, Doevendans PA, Gaillard CA, Braam B, Verhaar MC. Short- and long-term 16 effects of erythropoietin treatment on endothelial progenitor cell levels in patients with cardiorenal syndrome. Heart 2011;



97: 60-65 [PMID: 21071558 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2010.194654]

- Jackevicius CA, Fan CS, Warner A. Clinical outcomes of erythropoietin use in heart failure patients with anemia of 17 chronic kidney disease. J Card Fail 2014; 20: 327-333 [PMID: 24530942 DOI: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2014.02.001]
- Jie KE, van der Putten K, Wesseling S, Joles JA, Bergevoet MW, Pepers-de Kort F, Doevendans PA, Yasui Y, Liu Q, 18 Verhaar MC, Gaillard CA, Braam B. Short-term erythropoietin treatment does not substantially modulate monocyte transcriptomes of patients with combined heart and renal failure. PLoS One 2012; 7: e41339 [PMID: 22957013 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041339]
- Emans ME, Braam B, Diepenbroek A, van der Putten K, Cramer MJ, Wielders JP, Swinkels DW, Doevendans PA, 19 Gaillard CA. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) in chronic cardiorenal failure is correlated with endogenous erythropoietin levels and decreases in response to low-dose erythropoietin treatment. Kidney Blood Press Res 2012; 36: 344-354 [PMID: 23235391 DOI: 10.1159/000343392]
- 20 Auerbach M, Ballard H, Trout JR, McIlwain M, Ackerman A, Bahrain H, Balan S, Barker L, Rana J. Intravenous iron optimizes the response to recombinant human erythropoietin in cancer patients with chemotherapy-related anemia: a multicenter, open-label, randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22: 1301-1307 [PMID: 15051778 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2004.08.119]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

